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APRESENTAÇÃO DO RELATÓRIO INTEGRADO 2017 

 

 

The management report of the São Paulo Metro in 2017 will be built in accordance with the 

basic principles of an integrated report to present a vision of its business plan, its long-term 

strategies, the values created through the use of resources and the impacts on them regarding 

sustainability. 

The Management and Sustainability Reports, edited by the company until 2017, become a 

single report, an initiative that marks the positioning of one of its strategies for integrated 

communication with its stakeholders and in compliance with the new State Law 13.303/2016. 

The report is based on the parameters set forth in the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 

standards for reporting sustainability management and the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) criteria for accounting reporting, as in previous reports. 

The report is available for download in Portuguese and English versions at 

www.metro.sp.gov.br/metro/institucional/pdf/relatorio-integrado-2017. 

Opinions, information and suggestions on the integrated report may be registered at: 

www.metro.sp.gov.br/fale-conosco/registro-manifestacao.aspx 

SCOPE 

The data and information correspond to the management of the São Paulo Metro in the period 

from January 1 to December 31, 2017. These data refer to the company’s performance in the 

metropolitan transportation sector as responsible for the expansion and operation of the subway 

network. 

The data of third parties and suppliers involved in the company’s activities and in the expansion 

works are not contemplated, as well as the information of Line 4-Yellow, which is operated by a 

concessionaire. 

MATERIALITY 

For the definition of the relevant and strategic themes for the report, the Business Plan and the 

Long-Term Strategy, the context of sustainability and stakeholder manifestations (registered in 

the company’s various communication channels and in the communication and media channels) 

were considered, as well as the Company’s economic and financial results in 2017 and 2016. 

All monetary amounts in this report are presented in thousands of reais (BRL) for better reading 

and analysis, unless otherwise expressly stated. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT 

The year 2017 was special for São Paulo Metro. In the midst of a very challenging national 

scenario, we were able to show growth in the Company’s operating figures, with total net 

operating revenue of BRL 2,634 million, 4.6% higher than in 2016, as well as highlights in 

implemented corporate actions that prepare us consistently for the future. Our accomplishments 

allow us to foresee much of the achievements that, like the significant expansion of the subway 

network, we will conclude in 2018, the year that will mark the 50th anniversary of the São Paulo 

Metro. 

The average volume of users transported in 2017 remained stable when compared to 2016, 

reaching about 878 million passengers in our own subway network, and a total of 1,095 million 

passengers when combined with interline transfers (a drop of only 1% in relation to the previous 

year, mainly due to the greater number of holidays in business days). 

In 2017, the focus was kept on the advance of the expansion plan for the Metro lines. We 

delivered three new stations for the commercial operation in the extension of the Line 5-Lilac: 

Alto da Boa Vista, Borba Gato and Brooklin. Another six stations of the same branch line will be 

completed in 2018, thus completing the line. We continued with works on three other fronts: the 

monorails of lines 15-Silver and 17-Gold and four remaining stations of Line 4-Yellow, one of 

which was Higienópolis-Mackenzie, inaugurated in January 2018. All of this mobilized 

investments of the order of BRL 2,072 million in the year. 

Simultaneously with the expansion of the network, we continued the modernization of the 98 

trains of the original fleets of lines 1-Blue and 3-Red. In 2017 we reached the mark of 92 

retrofitted and reincorporated trains to the operation, with the remaining six to be completed in 

2018. All the compositions, in this complete retrofit process, had their external systems and 

structures updated, new technological and mechanical improvements inserted, and air-

conditioning and interior reconditioned. This seeks greater efficiency and optimization of the 

compositions, but also provides a better experience to our patrons in their passenger tips. 

The year 2017 was, above all, a year of important transformations in the Metro, mainly in the 

corporate scope. These actions begin to gain greater prominence and body in 2018, since they 

will be developed throughout the year and begin to prepare the São Paulo Metro for a much 

stronger positioning, as a Company based on Market bases. 

Continuing the commitment of the Government of the State of São Paulo to increase the pace of 

implementation of new metro lines and increase urban mobility, the São Paulo Metro is the best 

agent and has been structured in such a way as to meet more and more this need for 

expansion. The models of Public-Private Partnerships (PPPs) are increasingly viable. In Line 4-

Yellow the Metro built the branch line and the operation was granted to ViaQuatro. In a more 

recent example, the concession process for the Lines 5-Lilac and 17-Gold, both built by the 

Metro, was completed. 

In 2017, the Company has completed relevant steps in its process of organizational 

transformation and corporate governance, such as the completion and Go Live of its integrated 

management system – SAP, ensuring greater compliance on its transacted information. 

Corporate policies and procedures were implemented in line with the new state law – Law 

13.303/16. The Building Information Model (BIM) methodology was implemented to standardize 

engineering and construction projects. In the scope of development of our employees, plans 



5 

 

 

were developed for leadership development, expansion of the knowledge management base 

and recycling of the patron service training program. 

Equally strategic is the consolidation of Metro as financially sustainable company, carried out 

through a rigorous and continuous process of cost reduction and optimization of resources, 

generating productivity increase and more adequate structural results. In this context of 

transformation and renewal, actions such as the Voluntary Resignation Program (PDV) – 

launched at the end of 2016, reached the end of 2017 with 1,044 registered professionals – 

actions to reduce maintenance costs and to restructure the energy matrix, among others, were 

highlighted. 

At the other end of this challenge, the increase in the generation of ancillary revenues to the 

subway operation, through the exploitation of its assets, also stood out. In 2017 we reached the 

historical record established by the non-fare revenues of the Metro, with a value of BRL248.3 

million (31.7% over 2016), representing 13% in relation to fare revenues. 

Therefore, we arrived at the end of 2017 with the determination and the consolidation of great 

achievements and many seeds planted for what is to be achieved in 2018. 

Paulo Menezes Figueiredo  

Chief Executive Officer of Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo-

Metro 
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ANNUAL LETTER (In accordance with article 8, section I of Law 13.303/16) 

IDENTIFICATION 

In accordance with article 8, items I and VIII, of Law 13.303 of June 30, 2016, the Board of 

Director subscribes to this Annual Letter on Public Policies and Corporate Governance. 

On April 24, 1968, the Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo was incorporated under the 

terms of Municipal Law 6.988 of December 26, 1966, in the form of a Corporation, and has its 

articles of incorporation filed with the Board of Trade of the State of São Paulo 

– JUCESP, No. 378.811. The Company is controlled by the Government of the State of São 

Paulo and other information is described in the item “Overview” of this Report. 

All efforts of the organization are aimed at achieving its area of operation within the best quality 

and existing technology to provide the economic and social return of its purpose. 

Its purpose is to plan, design, build, deploy, operate and maintain public transportation in the 

Metropolitan Region of São Paulo with quality, regularity, safety and operational efficiency within 

recognized parameters of reliability. 

METRO COMPANY MANAGERS 

Executive Board 

The Executive Board is the collegiate deliberation body responsible for the superior direction of 

the Company, composed of a minimum of three and a maximum of twelve members, elected by 

the General Assembly, all with a unified term of office of two years from the date of the election, 

reelection being permitted. 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee is a permanent body that, in addition to the attributions provided for by 

law, must express its opinion on the proposal to select and dismiss the independent auditors, 

prior to submitting them to the Executive Board, and to follow up on the work carried out. The 

Audit Committee is composed of a minimum of three and a maximum of five effective members 

and an equal number of alternates, elected annually by the Annual General Meeting, with 

reelection permitted. 

Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors is comprised of at least three and a maximum of six members and currently 

comprises a Chief Executive Officer, a Finance Director, a Corporate Affairs Officer, a Director of 

Planning and Expansion of Metropolitan Transportation, a Director of Engineering and Construction 

and an Operations Director. 

 
 

PUBLIC POLICIES 

The more than one billion passengers served in 2017 and the customer satisfaction index close 

to 60% reflect the adequacy of the investments made in the modernization of equipment and 

lines, as well as the expansion of the metro network. Increasing the supply and expanding the 

public rail network has been one of the priorities of the State Government to provide rapid and 

safe public transport for the population. 
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The Operation and Maintenance indicators presented below show that investments in the 

modernization of the fleet and systems, in addition to the constant training of the teams, fulfill 

the mission of providing quality of life to the population through a fast and safe transportation 

system. 

Significant investments in the implementation of four lines simultaneously (Lines 4-Yellow, 5-

Lilac, 15-Silver and 17-Gold) and investments in the rail fleet modernization demonstrate the 

interest and concern of the State Government in expanding the urban transport service, to meet 

the demands, where the São Paulo metro applies resources, ensuring the return in the form of 

network expansion and better transport offer. 

As a contribution to the expansion of the system, the State Government granted Line 6-Orange 

to the Move São Paulo Consortium and Line 18-Bronze to the Vem ABC and successfully 

executed the concession of Line 5-Lilac and Line 17-Gold. 

The Fare Policy is the responsibility of the State Government, which, through the Metropolitan 

Transportation Department, establishes the fares practiced, considering operating costs and 

their modality. 

This policy offers rates with reduction of price per passenger trip in various modalities of tickets, 

free integrations with the metropolitan trains and reductions in the fares integrated with other 

modalities like municipal and metropolitan buses, with the aim of providing the population with 

access to a means of rapid, safe and comfortable transportation, with quality and efficiency, in 

line with the concern of the State Government with urban mobility. 

Through its Budget, the Government of the State of São Paulo allocates financial resources to 

the Companhia do Metro, regarding the Reimbursement of Gratuities and Subsidies to Student 

Patrons, in order to compensate for the loss of revenue generated by the transportation of these 

patrons. In addition to the gratuities, the Agreement signed on October 30, 2015, between the 

State and the Metro aims at the transfer of financial resources through the support to PPP of 

Line 4. 

Regarding customer service, the Metro implemented its own sale of the Single Ticket credits for 

automatic equipment. 

Revenue from the use of the subway system reached BRL 1,857 million in 2017, while effective 

revenue totaled approximately BRL1,815 million. This difference arises mainly form the 

difference between the sale of travel rights of the metro-rail system, with the application of the 

current public fare, and the financial contribution received by this Company, in accordance with 

the rules of apportionment of the current Integration Agreement between the Metro, the CPTM 

(Companhia de Trens Metropolitanos), the Concessionaire ViaQuatro and SPTrans (São Paulo 

Transportes S/A). 
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COMMITMENTS TO IMPLEMENT OBJECTIVES OF PUBLIC POLICIES 

In order to achieve the Public Policy objectives, the Long-Term Strategy and Business Plan 

2018, contained in this Integrated Report were prepared, taking into account the Budget for 

2018 and the Pluriannual Plan in effect. 

BUDGETARY PLAN 2018 

According to Law No. 16.646, dated January 11, 2018, which budgets the revenue and fixes the 

State's expenses for the 2018 fiscal year, the amount of funds expected to be allocated to the 

Metro is in the order of BRL 2,283 million, as well as reinforced in its Budget for 2018, 

Remaining amounts payable in the amount of BRL 241,410 thousand, according to the table 

below:  

                                                                                                                                                                (BRL thousand) 

  
 

1. Line Refurbishment and Modernization  
407,601 

Line 1 – Blue 86,722 13.229 79.000  178,951 

Line 2 – Green 6,808 341 -  7,149 

Line 3 – Red 106,620 - -  106,620 

Line 5 - Lilac 5,397 - -  5,397 

Operation of the Metro Lines 109,484 - -  109,484 

2. Metro System Expansion 1,968,334 27.840 121.000   2,117,174  

Line 2 – Green (Vl. Prudente/Dutra) 10,168 503 - 10,671 

Line 4 – Yellow (Phase II Vl. Sônia/Luz) 487,166 - - 487,166 

Line 5 – Lilac (Lg. Treze/Chác. Klabin) 364,287 7.337 71.000 442,624 

Line 15 – Silver (Ipiranga/Tiradentes) 379,000 10.000 - 389,000 

Line 17 – Gold (Congonhas/Morumbi) 717,713 10.000 50.000 777,713 

Elaboration of Expansion Projects 10,000 - - 10,000 

 

Total Investments 2,283,365 41,410 200,000  2,524,775 

¹ Resources of remnants to be paid Source 1 - GESP determined by the Secretariat of Finance and Secretariat of 
Planning and Management (no decree required, information available through the Metropolitan Transportation 
Secretariat-STM). 

² Remnant resources to be paid Source 6 - DREM - Unbundling of State and Municipal Revenues Decree  
No. 21 of December, 2017. 

 

In view of the foregoing, the investment resources for the year 2018 amount to BRL2,524 

million and all mentioned resources of investments come from the State Treasury and from 

financing. 

Law 16.464 also included amounts referring to the reimbursement of gratuities of users 

benefited by exemption of subsidy in the payment of public transport fare and the support to 

PPP – Line 4 – Yellow Operation as shown below: 

 

 

 

 

 
TOTAL 

 
RECURSOS PREVISTOS - 2018 

LOA 
RESTO A 
PAGAR 

RESTO A 
PAGAR 

2018 FONTE 1¹ FONTE 6² 
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Valores em BRL 1.000 

ITEMS 

 

REIMBURSEMENT OF GRATUITIES 717,189 

Reimbursement of gratuities to Metro patrons 390,804 

Reimbursement of subsidies to Metros student patrons 326,385 

Support to PPP operation Line 4-Yellow 177,720 

GRAND TOTAL (GRATUITIES AND SUPPORT TO PPP LINE 4) 894,909 

 
HAZARD PROBABILITY FACTORS 

The investments planned for 2017 were affected by several factors. Among these are: 

• The country’s economic crisis – with negative repercussions on the level of economic activity, 

leading to an increase in unemployment, a reduction in population income and consumption – 

which negatively affected the State’s revenue, generating some difficulties in the execution of 

the works planned for 2017 and that still have restrictions for 2018. The crisis also affected the 

Company’s collection of fares, compromising the financial balance; 

• Increased costs or delays in the implementation of works, due to environmental, health 

and construction legislation; 

• Delays in the release of funds from bank financing, which also affected the implementation 

of works. 

INTERNAL CONTROL STRUCTURES, HAZARD PROBABILITY MANAGEMENT AND 

HAZARD PROBABILITY FACTORS 

The Metro has been continuously implementing internal control and hazard probability 

management structures as described in the Corporate Governance structure presented in the 

item “Governance” below, and is focused on meeting the targets set forth in the annual and 

multiannual programs established within their respective budgets. 

REMUNERATION OF ADMINISTRATORS 

The data on the remuneration of the Metro Administration can be consulted, in accordance with 

current legislation, in all its details, figures and tables, in the Transparency Portal of the 

Government of the State of São Paulo (www.transparencia.sp.gov.br). 

OVERVIEW 

COMPANY PROFILE 

With 50 years of experience in the Metropolitan Region of São Paulo, Metro completes this 

cycle, proving the conclusions of technical studies carried out in the year of its foundation, which 

foresee relevant benefits for society and for the development of the transportation, urban, 

industrial and service sectors. 

Today, these benefits have been amplified by the Company’s performance in monitoring 

significant changes in the physical, demographic, social and environmental urban configuration, 

in the patron profile and its forms of movement, in the population’s travel wishes and in new 

metropolitan connections, in technology and in expanding connectivity, communication and 

engagement with stakeholders. 

The purpose of the company is: 
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I. Planning, design, construction, implementation, operation and maintenance of rail and 

road public transport systems in the Metropolitan Region of São Paulo; 

II. Implementation of works and complementary or relate services, necessary for the 

integration of the passenger transport system to the city’s urban complex; 

III. Construction and operation of passenger terminals; implementation and operation of 

parking lots; 

IV. Construction and commercialization, direct and indirect, allowing the participation of the 

private initiative, of residential and commercial buildings, as well as design, 

implementation, management, direct or indirect, of any other work of public and 

company interest; 

V. Commercialization trademark, patent, name and insignia; commercialization of 

advertising areas and spaces; provision of complementary services to support the 

patron, either by themselves or through permission holders, with or without assignment 

of land use; 

VI. Direct or indirect commercialization of technology, including in society or consortia, as 

well as the provision of consulting services, technical support and service rendering in 

the operation and maintenance of equipment; construction and implementation of 

transport systems and passenger terminals, in Brazil and abroad; 

VII. Edition, except the printing, of newspapers, magazines and other technical and 

commercial publications, advertising permitted. 

RELATIONSHIP WITH THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER 

Companhia do São Paulo Metro is a mixed economy company created by the São Paulo 

Municipal Law 6.988/1966 to implement the metro passenger transportation service and the 

planning and development of the metro network in the State of São Paulo. 

Brazilian law requires our controlling shareholder to hold a majority of the common shares with 

voting rights, having the power to elect a majority of the members of the Executive Board and, 

consequently, though the latter, the officers responsible for the Company’s management, in 

compliance with the prerogatives imposed by Law 13.303/2016. 

SHAREHOLDING POSITION IN 2017 

The paid-up share capital of the Company as of 12/31/2017 is composed of a total of thirty-two 

billion, one hundred and seventy-four million, seven hundred and eleven thousand, nine 

hundred and fourteen (32,174,711,914) nominative, single-class common shares with no par 

value and entitled to one vote each. 
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The composition of the Company’s capital is as follows as of 12/31/2017. 

 

 
Legenda Imagem: 
 
Share Capital – Participation 
Treasury of the State of São Paulo – FESP 
City Hall of the City of São Paulo – PMSP 
BNDES Participacoes S.A. – BNDESPAR 
Companhia Paulista de Obras e Servicos – CPOS 
Empresa Paulista de Planejamento Metropolitano S/A – EMPLASA  
Others (minority shareholders) 
 

The Company operates under the authorized share capital regime, which was set at the Annual 
and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on 04/28/2008, in the amount of thirty-nine billion, 
eight hundred and forty-four, five million, two hundred twenty-six thousand, two hundred and 
thrty-two reais and twenty-eight cents (BRL 39,845,226,232.28), as described in article 3 of the 
Bylaws. 

 
The Executive Board, pursuant to article 14, XIII, of the Company’s Bylaws, deliberates on the 

capital increase within the authorized limit, after hearing the Audit Committee. 

On December 31, 2017, the paid-in capital stock of the Company was thirty-six billion, two 

hundred and seventy-nine million, sixty-six thousand, four hundred and fifty-three reais and 

seventy-five cents (BRL 36,279,066,453.75). 

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 

The company is managed by the Executive Board and the Board of Directors. The Executive 

Board, composed of seven members elected by the General Meeting in 2017, deliberates in a 

collegiate manner and is responsible for the normative management of the company. The term 

of office is unified for two years and re-election is permitted. The CEO of the São Paulo Metro is 

a member of the Board. 

The company’s board of directors is composed of six members: Chief Executive Officer, Chief 

Financial Officer, Corporate Affairs Officer, Director of Planning and Expansion of Metropolitan 

Transportation, Director of Engineering and Construction and Operations Director. In addition to 

the duties defined in Law, it is responsible for executive management, for the preparation and 
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conduction of the Long-Term Strategies and for the Business Plan, as well as to submit the 

results to the Executive Board for approval. 

The Audit Committee, which is in permanent operation, is composed of five effective members 

in 2017 and an equal number of alternates elected by the Annual General Meeting. The re-

election of the members of the Audit Committee is allowed as well as that of the members of the 

Executive Board, 2 times and 3 times, respectively. Among the attributions provided by law, it 

has the responsibility to express its opinion on the proposal for the election and dismissal of the 

Independent Auditors, prior to their submission to the Executive Board. 
 

 

 

 
 
Legenda da Imagem 
 
Executive Board 
Audit Committee 
Chairmanship 
Corporate Affairs Board 
Engineering and Construction Board 
Finance Board 
Operations Board 
Board of Planning and Expansion of Metropolitan Transportation 
 

Board and employee practices are governed by the Code of Conduct and Integrity and 

monitored by the Ethics Committee created to continuously improve governance and ethical 

standards. It is composed of employees of the Company, appointed by an act of the Chief 

Executive Officer, with the mission of supervising, guiding, clarifying, recommending and 

educating about the practices defined in the Metro’s Code of Ethics and Integrity. 

In order to support the committee’s work, two channels of communication were created through 

which employees can submit requests for clarification of doubts and denunciations of irregular 

situations with the guarantee of confidentiality of the information, which are immediately 

forwarded to the Ethics Committee to investigate, evaluate and judge violations of the Code of 

Integrity: 

• Clarification of Doubts: codigodeconduta@metrosp.com.br 

• Denunciation Channel: http://www.metro.sp.gov.br/denuncia/registro.aspx 

 

 

 

http://www.metro.sp.gov.br/denuncia/registro.aspx
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EXECUTIVE BOARD 

Clodoaldo Pelissioni (Chairman of the Executive Board). 

Members: Alberto Goldman, Almino Monteiro Álvares Affonso, Ana Regina Rivas Vega, Marcos 

Antônio de Albuquerque, Paulo Menezes Figueiredo, Ruy Martins Altenfelder Silva. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Effective members: Amauri Gavião Almeida Marques da Silva, Luis Felipe Vidal Arellano, 

Maria Cristina Frei, Roberto Kazushi Tamura, Rubens Peruzin. 

Alternate members: Arlinton Nakazawa, Energita Alves Moreira dos Santos, Keli Regina Della 

Torre Soler, Rafaela Di Fonzo Oliveira. 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Paulo Menezes Figueiredo 

Chief Executive Officer of Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo 

José Carlos Baptista do Nascimento 

Finance Director  

Alfredo Falchi Neto 

Corporate Affairs Director 

Alberto Epifani 

Director of Planning and Expansion of Metropolitan Transportation 

Paulo Sérgio Amalfi Meca 

Engineering and Construction Director 

Milton Gioia Júnior 

Operations Director 
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INTERNAL AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE 

The Metro has in its structure of organizational governance an Internal Audit, linked directly to the 

Presidency. 

Its purpose is to continuously and independently examine the integrity, adequacy and 

effectiveness of internal controls and processes in order to mitigate and detect material risks to 

accounting, financial and operational information, through annual planning approved by the 

Management. 

Its reports are made available to the Court of Auditors of the State of São Paulo and the 

Secretariat of State for Finance and its summary is sent to the General Office of the 

Administration of the State of São Paulo. 

CODE OF CONDUCT AND INTEGRITY 

The Code of Conduct and Integrity of the São Paulo Metro, revised and approved in 2018, 

defines the set of principles of ethics, respect for laws, transparency and public interest that 

guide the conduct of the board of directors, employees and various stakeholders in the 

practices, including responsible action in relation to the principles of sustainability. The Metro is 

committed, among others, to the ethical principles of business: Efficiency and Effectiveness; 

Equity; Integrity; Morality; Respect to Human Rights; Accountability; Transparency and 

Publicity. 

PRICE POLICY 

The fare policy of the metro transport system follows the public policy or fares issued by the 

Government of the State of São Paulo, through the STM (Secretaria dos Transportes 

Metropolitanos), based on the principle of fare modality and, at the same time, the maintenance 

of the Company’s economic-financial balance considering the evolution of the operational costs 

of service rendering. 
 

In 2017, only the fares of the integrated tickets were revised as of 04/15/2017, in accordance 

with Resolution STM-34, of 04/10/2017, maintaining the basic fare, represented by the Single 

Ticket, in BRL3.80. In 2018, according to Resolution STM-01 of 01/03/2018, all tickets used in 

the metro transportation were readjusted to the nominal value of BRL4.00 as of 01/07/2018. 

The São Paulo Metro has been active in the Public-Private Partnerships signed by the 

Government of the State of São Paulo, providing studies on the layout of the lines and the 

technical subsidies for the development of the bidding processes under the responsibility of the 

STM (Secretaria dos Transportes Metropolitanos do Estado de São Paulo). 

In 2017, the Government of São Paulo completed the process of concession of Line 5 – Lilac 

from Capão Redondo to Chácara Klabin and Line 17 – Gold from Congonhas to Morumbi 

CPTM. 

The concessionaire Move São Paulo, responsible for the implementation, operation and 

maintenance of Line 6 – Orange, has not complied with the obligations assumed in the 

concession agreement and the Government of the State of São Paulo has been studying 

alternatives to make feasible the construction and operation of the line. 

As for Line 18 – Bronze, which will connect the Tamanduateí stations in São Paulo and Djalma 

Dutra, in the center of São Bernardo do Campo, the Government of the State of São Paulo is 
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seeking alternatives for the financing of expropriations and monorail works. The project will be 

carried out by the Consortium “VemABC – Vidas em Movimento,” which will build and operate 

the line. 

On 10/30/2015, the Government of the State of São Paulo and the Companhia do Metro 

entered into an Agreement, whereby the State recognized the responsibility for the equalization 

of the effects of the rules of apportionment of the amounts collected in the Compensation 

Chamber of the Electronic Ticketing System of the Single Ticket, resulting from the difference 

between the sale of travel rights on Line 4 – Yellow and the payment of the remuneration to the 

concessionaire ViaQuatro. 

In this process, the concessionaire of Line 4 – Yellow has priority of withdrawal from the 

amounts collected for the purpose of contractual remuneration established in the concession 

agreement entered into between the Government of the State of São Paulo (granting authority) 

and ViaQuatro (concessionaire of Line 4 – Yellow). Under the Agreement, the State will pass on 

the amount of the difference calculated in the current year in the subsequent year, in the form of 

capital contribution. In 2017, the Treasury of the State of São Paulo transferred the amount of 

BRL 158.9 million referring to the calculation of 2016. The calculation for 2017 is BRL 198 

million, and is expected to be received in 2018. 

In this context, the Companhia do Metro has been studying the adoption of a Management 

Agreement, based on remuneration rates related to performance indicators, whose financial 

calculation model considers the cost values for 2016. 

OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE 

The Company is responsible for the operation and maintenance of Line 1-Blue (Jabaquara - 

Tucuruvi), 2-Green (Vila Prudente - Vila Madalena), 3-Red (Corinthians-Itaquera - Palmeiras-

Barra Funda), 5-Lilac (Capão Redondo – Brooklin) and 15-Silver (operation of the monorail on 

the east side of the capital). In the expansion of the metro network, it manages the works of 

Phase II of Line 4 – Yellow, Line 5 – Lilac in the section from Adolfo Pinheiro to Chácara Klabin, 

and lines 15-Silver and 17-Gold in a monorail system. 
 

In 2017, the metro system operated by the São Paulo Metro transported more than 3.7 million 

passengers per working day and ended the year with a team of 9,153 employees. Activities 

associated with the main purpose of the Metro, as well as general janitorial functions and 

specialized services related to expansion and construction projects are carried out by 

contracted companies. 

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION MATRIX AND METRO 

The Company is part of the transport matrix of the Metropolitan Region of São Paulo and has a 

relevant role in structuring an efficient and high-level urban mobility in order to guarantee integrated 

transportation for the entire population. 
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Secretariat of Metropolitan 
Transportation 

Commission for the 
Monitoring of 
Concessions and 
Permissions (CMCP) 

 
It accompanies and regulates the 
execution of concession agreements 
and permits granted to the private 
sector 

 
 

 

 

Municipal 
Secretariat of 
Mobility and 
Transport 

 

 

EMTU 

Empresa 
Metropolitana 
de Transportes 
Urbanos de São 

Paulo 
 

Responsible for 
the planning, 

supervision and 
control of the bus 

system in 
metropolitan 

areas 
 

. 

CPTM 

Companhia 
Paulista de 

Trens 
Metropolitanos 

 
Responsible for the 

implementation, 
operation and 

maintenance of Line 
7-Ruby, 8-Diamond, 

9-Emerald, 10-
Turquoise, 11-Coral 
and Espresso Leste 
and 12-Sapphire of 

the rail system. 

METRÔ 

Companhia do 
Metropolitano de 

São Paulo 

 
Responsible for the 

planning of 
metropolitan 

transportation, for the 
design of subway and 

monorail projects, 
implantation, 
operation and 

maintenance of Line 
1-Blue, 2-Green, 3-

Red, 5-Lilac, 15-Silver 
and 17-Gold. 

ViaQuatro 

Concessionaire 
of Line 4-

Yellow 
 

Responsible 
for the 

operation and 
maintenance 

of Line 4-
Yellow of the 

metro 
network. 

Move São 
Paulo 

Concessionaire 
of Line 6-
Orange 

 

Responsible 
for the 

implementat
ion, 

operation 
and 

maintenanc
e of Line 6-
Orange of 
the metro 
network. 

SPTrans 

São Paulo 
Transportes 

 
Responsible for 

planning, 
supervision and 
control of the 
municipal bus 

system in the city 
of São Paulo. 
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GREAT FIGURES 
 

METRO NETWORK 2015 2016 2017 

TOTAL NETWOR (METRÔ DE SÃO PAULO AND 
VIAQUATRO) 

   

Km of extension 77.4 77.4 80.4 

Number of stations 68 68 71 

Number of lines 6 6 6 

METRO NETWORK IN OPERATION (METRÔ DE SÃO 
PAULO) 

   

Km of extension 68.5 68.5 71.5 

Number of stations 61 61 64 

Number of lines 5 5 5 

PASSENGERS TRANSPORTED (METRÔ DE SÃO 
PAULO) 

   

Entries – average working day (million) 3.1 2.9 3.0 

Passengers transported – average on a 
working day 

(Entries + Transfers) (million) 

 
3.8 

 
3.7 

 
3.7 

Total passengers transported in the year (billion) 1.1 1.1 1.1 

 
 
 

 
 
 

1,140 

 
1,120 

 
1,100 

PASSENGERS TRANSPORTED x SATISFACTION INDEX  
 

70% 

 
 
 

65% 
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55% 

 

1,000  
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Passengers Transported (million) Satisfaction Survey¹ 

50% 

1.117,60 

1.106,70 
1.110,40 1.107,30 

1.095,70 

58% 
57% 

56% 

 
60% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
52% 
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NUMBER OF PASSENGER TRIPS and AVERAGE 
INTERVAL PERFORMED BETWEEN 
TRAINS 

 
 

 
3,650 

 

160 3,550 

 

155 3,450 

 

150 3,350 
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135  
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3,050 

 

 
Average interval between trains (seconds)¹ Passenger trips (average on working days) 

 
 
 

 

KM TRAVELED x CONSUMPTION OF ELECTRIC POWER OF 
TRACTION 

20 
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2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Km traveled by trains (millions) 

Consumption of electric power of traction (Kwh/car.km) 

 
 
 

3.7 

3.6 

3.5 

3.4 

3.3 

3.2 

3.1 

3.0 

2.9 

2.8 

2.7 

2.6 

3,58 
3,54 

18,9 
19,1 

18,7 

18,3 
18,1 

 
 
 
 

 
3,23 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2,99 

 
3,41 
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Emissions of greenhouse gases per passenger-km 
(gCO2e por p.km)* 
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SOCIAL BENEFITS – TOTAL OF BRL12.8 BILLION 
Average prices - 2017 
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INVESTMENTS MADE – NETWORK EXPANSION 
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OPERATING INCOME 
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ADJUSTED EBITDA 
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ACHIEVEMENTS 2017 

TRANSPORT PLANNING AND PROJECTS 

In 2017, the Company expanded its activities in the transportation planning pillar, both internally 

and externally, supporting several public administration bodies and companies related to urban 

mobility in the Metropolitan Region of São Paulo. 

The Origin and Destination Survey, which in its 2017 edition completes 50 years of mobility data 

collection in the Metropolitan Region of São Paulo, is a milestone for the Company, bringing in 

this edition new technological functions in the process of data collection and processing, 

ensuring greater accuracy in data capture and better processing base in order to make 

information available in less time. 

 
 

ORIGIN AND DESTINATION SURVEY 2017 – METROPOLITAN REGION OF SÃO PAULO 

The Origin and Destination Survey (OD) is an essential subsidy for transportation planning, the 

main input for travel modeling and simulations of future demand, guiding economic-financial 

feasibility studies and detailing new configurations of the rail transport network and its 

articulation with other modes. 

This is an element of fundamental importance for the periodic updating of the Integrated Urban 

Transport Plan – PITU of the State Secretariat of Metropolitan Transport – STM, the body 

responsible for defining the government’s policy for the sector. 

 

 
As it allows to detect and measure the main travel desire lines that are processed in a regional 

scope, the DO Survey results determine the projection of the evolution of the demand in the 

transport network in operation, as well as the expectation of demand in new connections with 

origin, destination or passage in the Metropolitan Region of São Paulo – RMSP. The results of 

this survey form the basis for the formulation of new projects for the passenger transport sector, 

whether under state or private operation. 

In 2017, the following steps of OD Survey were met: 

▪ Development of treatment, georeferencing and data storage system; conducting pilot 

tests for the fieldwork of the Home Interview Survey and the Cordon Count of RMSP; 

▪ Survey of data on the Cordon Count, completed in November 2017, on federal and state 

highways to access the region, in road terminals and on chartered buses integrated to 

metro railroad stations and at Guarulhos and Congonhas airports, covering vehicle 

counts and interviews with passengers thereof, with the use of new technology of data 

collection – via tablets; 

▪ Beginning of the consistency and expansion of the data collected for the Cordon Count; 

▪ Beginning of the fieldwork of the Home Interview Survey, to be completed in 2017 

throughout the RMSP, comprising interviews with all residents of 32 thousand 

households drawn; 
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▪ Implementation of actions to publicize OD 2017 – RMSP, which allowed the rejection 

rates to remain the same as those observed in previous editions. 

 
FUNCTIONAL STUDIES AND PROJECT 

In 2017, the Functional Project of Line 19-Azure was completed, connecting the neighborhood 

of Campo Belo in São Paulo to Bosque Maia, in the municipality of Guarulhos, and the 

Functional Project of Line 22-Burgundy, connecting the center of the municipality of Cotia to 

Avenida Rebouças, in the southwestern part of São Paulo. 

The following figure shows the insertion in the Metropolitan Transportation Network of the 

lines that had their functional projects completed in 2017. 

Legenda da Imagem 

Metropolitan Network 

Functional Projects completed in 2017 

Line 01 – Blue 

Line 02 – Green 

Line 03 – Red 

Line 04 – Yellow 

Line 05 – Lilac 

Line 06 – Orange 

Line 15 – Silver 

Line 17 – Gold 

Line 18 – Bronze 

Line 19 – Azure 

Line 22 – Burgundy 

 

Metropolitan Train 

Line 07 – Ruby 
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Line 08 – Diamond 

Line 09 – Emerald 

Line 10 – Turquoise 

Line 11 – Coral 

Line 12 – Sapphire 

Line 13 – Jade 

 

Network passenger interchange station on rails 

Municipal bus corridor 

Metropolitan bus corridor 

 

BASIC STUDIES AND PROJECTS 

The development of basic projects in the Model Building Information Modeling – BIM has been 

advancing in the Company. In 2017, a multidisciplinary group was created with the participation of 

the areas of architecture, civil engineering, systems engineering, operation and maintenance – 

for the implementation of the BIM standard in the processes related to the construction and 

management of real estate assets. 

Line 1 – Blue 

▪ Studies of alternatives to expand São Joaquim Station for its integration with Line 6-

Orange. 

▪ Elaboration of the basic project of Electric Power Systems, Auxiliary Apparatus and 

Telecommunications of Santa Cruz Station, to enable the integration of lines 1 and 5 of 

the Metro. 
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Line 2 – Green 

▪ Extension/duplication study of Tamanduateí Yard to meet the continuity alternative to 

Penha. 

▪ Study of cost reduction of the extension of the Line 2-Green extension. 

▪ Preliminary architectural study for the adequacy of the mezzanine and Vila Prudente 

Station platforms, in order to meet the projected flow of integrated users of Line 15-

Silver. 

Line 4-Yellow 

▪ Verification and approval of the executive projects of the Fixed Way Superstructure of 

phase II of Vila Sônia Yard – Line 4-Yellow. 

▪ Elaboration of the basic project of Electric Power, Auxiliary Apparatus and 

Telecommunications Systems of the Vila Sônia/Largo do Taboão section. 

Line 5-Lilac 

▪ Follow-up of the homologation tests in the laboratory and execution of the gauge of the 

permanent route of Line 5-Lilac. 

▪ Development of the basic design of structures and foundations of the Capão Redondo 

footbridge. 

Line 15-Silver 

▪ Studies of alternative layout, relocation of the Mooca stream gallery and pre-

dimensioning of structures and foundations. 

▪ Studies to prepare an integrated report of changes for the implementation of the track 

switch west of Vila Prudente Station – Line 15-Silver, with the aim of improving the 

headway. The study included Fixed Way, Structures and Road. 

▪ Technical management and analysis of the basic civil project of the Ipiranga Station – 

Line 15-Silver, for future integration with the Line 10-Turquoise of CPTM. 

▪ Technical management of the basic civil engineering project and architecture and 

analysis of the basic civil and system design of Line 15-Silver Emergency Power Plants 

(CAE São Lucas and CAE Iguatemi), in order to meet the new technical management 

demands. 

▪ Analysis of the basic project or urbanization and landscaping, of lighting engineering, of 

road and signaling, and the bicycle lane of the central section of the stretch between São 

Matheus and Iguatemi stations of Line 15-Silver. 

▪ SPTrans bus regulation bay project under São Mateus Station of Line 15-Silver 

(urbanism, landscaping, visual communication and road system). 

Line 17-Gold 

▪ Technical management of the basic civil engineering and architecture project and 

analysis of the civil basic design and systems of the Emergency Power Plants (CAE) of 

Line 17-Gold (CAE Bandeirantes and CAE Panamby). 

CORPORATE BUSINESS OFFICE – CORPORATE PMO 

The Company implemented its Corporate Enterprise Management Office – Corporate PMO, 

with the objective of establishing a core of competencies, further developing project 

management knowledge and supporting the application of best management practices in the 

company’s strategic ventures. 
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In addition to the implementation of a methodology with standardized management processes 

and tools, changes were made in the missions and attributions of the areas directly responsible 

for the projects, increasing the powers and responsibilities of the managers. 

This work earned Metro the Project Management Design magazine’s PMO award of the Year 

2016. 

Among the management processes implemented, we highlight the Integrated Risk 

Management, Integrated Control of Changes and Management of Lessons Learned. 

ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION 

In 2017, the Company maintained its pace of expansion of the metro network, focusing on the 

expansion of Line 5-Lilac, Line 15-Silver, Line 17-Gold and phase II of Line 4-Yellow. The works 

of Line 2-Green remained paralyzed in 2017. 

Lines 5 and 17 were in the process of bidding for a concession in 2017. In January 2018, during 

a bidding process, the ViaMobilidade consortium, led by CCR, won a bid of BRL 553.8 million 

for the granting of lines 5 and 17, goodwill of 185% on the initial price. The transition starts from 

the second half of 2018. 

 
 

LINE 2-GREEN – VILA PRUDENTE-DUTRA STRETCH 
 

Legenda Imagem: 
 
Extension (km) 
Stations 
Passengers/Working day (including the operating section) 
Trains 
Under reprogramming 
Parking lot 
Yard 
 
 

The Vila Prudente-Dutra Stretch project is designed for an extension of 14.4 km, a maintenance 

yard, 13 stations and 36 additional trains; it will connect the Vila Prudente metro station to the 
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city of Guarulhos and will serve the residents of the neighborhoods Jardim Anália Franco, Vila 

Formosa, Vila Manchester, Aricanduva, Penha and Tiquatira in São Paulo and Ponte Grande 

and Vila Augusta in Guarulhos. 

Connections are planned with Line 3-Red (Penha Station) of the Metro, with Lines 12-Sapphire and 13-
Jade of CPTM (Tiquatira Station) and the future Line 19-Azure of the Metro (Dutra Station). 



29 

 

 

 

The implementation agreements for the eight lots of Line 2-Green remain suspended 

momentarily, awaiting review by the Government of the State of São Paulo. The demolition of 

100 properties already expropriated in the Vila Prudente-Complexo Rapadura section was 

completed. 

 
 

Benefits 

▪ Service to the neighborhoods of Jardim Anália Franco, Vila Formosa, Vila Manchester, 

Aricanduva, Penha and Tiquatira in São Paulo and Ponte Grande and Vila Augusta in 

Guarulhos, as well as users of Line 12-Sapphire and Line 11-Coral of CPTM, which are 

intended to the region of Avenida Paulista or the south area of São Paulo. 

▪ Distribution of the concentrated flow of passengers that takes place in Line 3-Red of 

Metro, Line 11-Coral and Line 12-Sapphire and future Line 13-Jade of CPTM, which make 

up the radial connection of the metro rail service. 

▪ Distribution of collective transport travel flows by buses and individual motorized vehicles, 

which currently use various roadways in the region. 

▪ Implementation of intermodal integration equipment along the whole new axis, notably 

with the bus service. 

▪ Its “arched” track has a perimeter connection feature, providing options for the metro grid 

that are now carried through radial movement minimizing the saturation of Line 3-Red and 

Line 1-Blue. 

Reductions 

▪ Atmospheric pollutants: 556 tons/year. 

▪ Greenhouse gases: 40.5 thousand tons/year. 

▪ Fuel consumption: 19.9 million liters/year. 
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Line 4-YELLOW PHASE 2 – LUZ-VILA SÔNIA STRETCH 
 

Legenda da Imagem: 

Targets for delivery to CVQ 

February 

March 

July 

November 

 

The Luz-Vila Sônia Stretch project is designed for a stretch of 14.4 km, with 11 stations, a 

maintenance yard and 29 trains. 

Line 4-Yellow is being implemented in two phases: 

Phase 1: 

▪ Luz-Butantã Stretch (12.8 km, of which 8.9 are operational), six stations, Butantã, 

Pinheiros, Faria Lima, Paulista, República and Luz and one parking and maintenance 

yard, partial delivery (Vila Sônia) and 14 trains, in full revenue service since 2011. 

Phase 2: 

▪ Luz-Vila Sônia Stretch (1.5 km complementary), four stations, 15 trains, and 

complementation of Vila Sônia Yard; 

Fradique Coutinho station operating since 2014; 

Higienópolis-Mackenzie Station operating since January 2018; São 

Paulo-Morumbi and Oscar Freire stations will be open in 2018; 

Vila Sônia Station with a bus terminal (Vila Sônia) and extension of 1.5 km of tunnel 
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for delivery in 2020; and 

Complementation of the train fleet by the Concessionaire in 2017. 

The stations Higienópolis-Mackenzie and Oscar Freire were the object of intense work 

throughout the year aiming the completion of the works. The elimination of pending issues 

allowed the delivery of the Higienópolis-Mackenzie station to the Concessionaire ViaQuatro in 

January 2018. The delivery of the Oscar Freire station was rescheduled to 2018. At the 

southern end of the same line, the construction of civil works at the São Paulo-Morumbi station, 

the completion of the south access and the station’s body and the raw access north were 

continued. At the Vila Sônia station, the gross work of the station’s body continues, in addition to 

the finishing of the bus terminal and the excavation of a 1.5 km tunnel. 
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Benefits 

▪ Connection of the neighborhood of Vila Sônia, in the western zone, with the regions of 

Pinheiros, Paulista, Consolação and downtown of São Paulo. 

▪ Integration of the shopping centers of Butantã, Pinheiros, Faria Lima, Paulista and 

downtown of São Paulo. 

▪ Facilitation of access to medical centers such as Hospital das Clínicas, Instituto do 

Coração and Hospital do Câncer. 

▪ Constitution of the metro system network, integrating lines 1, 2 and 3 of the Metro and 

lines 7, 9 and 11 of the CPTM. 

Reductions 

▪ Atmospheric pollutants: 659 tons/year. 

▪ Greenhouse gases: 47.2 thousand tons/year. 

▪ Fuel consumption: 23.2 million liters/year. 

▪ Expected headway of 107 seconds. 

 

 
LINE 5-LILAC – LARGO TREZE-CHÁCARA KLABIN STRETCH 

 

 

 
 
 
Legenda Imagem: 
 
April 
May 
December
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The previously existing section of Line 5-Lilac, from Capão Redondo to Largo Treze, in 

operation since 2002, has 8.4 km, six stations (Capão Redondo, Campo Limpo, Vila das 

Belezas, Giovanni Gronchi, Santo Amaro and Largo Treze), a parking and maintenance yard 

(Capão Redondo) and eight trains. The Largo Treze-Chácara Klabin stretch project is designed for 

an extension of 11.5 km, with 11 stations, a parking and maintenance yard and 26 additional trains. 

The Largo Treze-Chácara Klabin stretch is being implemented as follows: 

▪ Largo-Treze-Estação Adolfo Pinheiro Stretch (0.6 km), with one station, Adolfo 

Pinheiro, in revenue service since August 2014. 

▪ Adolfo Pinheiro-Brooklin Stretch (3.0 km), with three stations, Alto da Boa Vista, 

Borba Gato and Brooklin, in revenue service since November 2017. 

▪ Brooklin (exclusive)-Chácara Klabin Stretch (7.9 km), with seven stations, Eucaliptos, 

Moema, AACD-Servidor, Hospital São Paulo, Santa Cruz, Chácara Klabin and Campo 

Belo and a parking and maintenance yard (Guido Caloi) in the implementation of the civil 

works in the finishing phase and of the systems, with operational targets for 2018. 

▪ Rolling Stock – The delivery of the 26 CAF trains was completed in November 2017. 

The CBTC was installed and tested in 22 trains. Completion forecast in the second two-

month period of 2018. 

Also part of the project: 

▪ Bandeirantes Primary Station (metro). 

▪ Santo Amaro road viaduct on Av. Jornalista Roberto Marinho, at the intersection with 

Av. Santo Amaro. 

The assisted operation followed the commercial operation of the Alto da Boa Vista-Brooklin 

stretch of Line 5-Lilac in Nov. 2017. All 26 planned trains were delivered. 

Benefits 

▪ Access to hospital complexes such as Santa Casa de Misericórdia de Santo Amaro, 

Hospital Alvorada, Hospital do Servidor Público Estadual, Hospital de Rim e Hipertensão, 

Hospital São Paulo, Hospital Santa Cruz and specialized centers for treatments such as 

AACD, APAE and Lar Escola São Francisco. 

▪ Access to business centers located in Largo Treze, Av. Santo Amaro, Vereador José 

Diniz, Roque Petroni Jr., Morumbi and Marginal Pinheiros and Moema, Ibirapuera, Vila 

Clementino and Vila Mariana shopping centers. 

Reductions 

▪ Atmospheric pollutants: 1.6 thousand tons/year. 

▪ Greenhouse gases: 117.9 thousand tons/year. 

▪ Fuel consumption: 57.7 million liters/year. 

▪ Travel time (neighborhoods of Capão Redondo – Chácara Klabin) from 100 to 34 minutes. 
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LINE 15-SILVER – VILA PRUDENTE-JARDIM COLONIAL STRETCH 
 
 

 
Legenda Imagem: 
In operation 

 
 

The Vila Prudente-Jardim Colonial stretch project is designed for a 15.3 km stretch, 11 stations, 

a parking and maintenance yard, and 27 trains using monorail technology. The monorail system 

is a medium-capacity transport system that operates on tires on a high road (12 to 15 meters 

high, depending on the stretch) and uses driverless technology (autonomous operation with the 

presence of a conductor). The vehicles are equipped with cameras inside the cars, recording 

images, free passage between cars and air conditioning. 

The implementation of the line is being carried out in two stages, as follows: 

▪ Vila Prudente-Oratório Stretch (2.9 km), two stations, Vila Prudente and Oratório, and a 

parking and maintenance yard (Oratório Yard), in full revenue service since October 

2016. 

▪ Vila Prudente Norte bus terminal, delivered to SPTrans in September 2017, and South 

and Central terminals to be delivered in the first quarter of 2018. 

▪ Oratório-São Mateus Stretch (10.1 km), eight stations, São Lucas, Camilo Haddad, 

Vila Tolstoi, Vila União, Jardim Planalto, Sapopemba, Fazenda da Juta and São Mateus, 

with forecast of delivery in the first half of 2018. 

▪ São Mateus-Jardim Colonial Stretch (2.3 km), one station, Jardim Colonial, with 

delivery forecast to 2012.  

▪ Rolling Stock: completed the delivery of the 27 trains of which 19 are released to 

operate and eight are in the stage of testing and commissioning. 
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Also part of the project: 

• São Lucas and Iguatemi Primary Station. 

• Bikeway throughout the operational stretch. 

All milestone dates of the eight stations of Line 15-Silver were met. In relation to civil works, the 

gross work was completed and the finishing phase is in progress. Systems are being deployed, 

including integrated testing. A Public Consultation was held on the Line 15-Silver concession 

process, approved by the Directing Council of the State Privatization Program in 2016. The 

process is in the STM for adjustments to the modeling and bidding documents, based on the 

suggestions sent during the Public Consultation. 

Benefits 

▪ Connection of populous neighborhoods, such as São Mateus, to the central region of the 

city of São Paulo through new integrations. The implementation of the system requires 

only additional areas in the accesses to the stations, freeing the road system for the other 

vehicles. 

▪ The monorail system is more environmentally friendly because it uses electric traction (it 

does not emit gases), and it uses tires (low noise) and thin and light structures. 

Reductions 

▪ Atmospheric pollutants: 1.5 thousand tons/year. 

▪ Greenhouse gases: 106.7 thousand tons/year. 

▪ Fuel consumption: 52 million liters/year. 

▪ Travel time, from São Mateus to central region: reduction from 74 to approximately 40 

minutes. 

LINE 17-GOLD – JD. AEROPORTO CONGONHAS-MORUMBI STRETCH 
 

 

Legenda Imagem: 

Delivery Concessionaire 
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The project of Stretch 1 Jardim Aeroporto Congonhas-Morumbi is designed for a 7.7 km extension, a 

parking and maintenance yard, eight stations and 14 trains, using monorail technology. The monorail 

system is a medium-capacity transport system that operates on tires on a high road (12 to 15 

meters high, depending on the stretch) and uses driverless technology (autonomous operation 

with the presence of a conductor). The vehicles are equipped with cameras inside the cars, 

recording images, free passage between cars and air conditioning. 
 

The implementation of the line is being carried out as follows: 

▪ Jd. Aeroporto Congonhas-Morumbi/CPTM Stretch (7.7 km), eight stations, 

Congonhas, Jd. Aeroporto, Brooklin, Vereador José Diniz, Campo Belo, Vila Cordeiro, 

Chucri Zaidan and Morumbi/CPTM and a parking and maintenance yard (Água 

Espraiada), with delivery forecast for the concessionaire in December 2019. 

▪ Morumbi/CPTM Station: renew of previous contract in December 2017 and Service 

Order issued in January 2018.  

▪ Contract: the Metro continues to negotiate with the Consórcio Monotrilho Integração – 

CMI the conclusion of Stretch 1. 

▪ Rolling Stock: fleet of 14 trains in design. Also 

part of the project: 

▪ Bandeirantes Primary Station (monorail). 

▪ Bikeway throughout the operational stretch. 

In Line 17-Gold, the metallic structures of coverage of the Chucri Zaidan, Campo Belo and José 

Diniz Alder stations are being installed. In Congonhas, Vila Cordeiro and Brooklin Paulista 

stations, besides the continuation of the masonry works, the hydraulic installation and of conduits 

began. The gross work of Jardim Aeroporto station was completed. The activities related to the 

emergency passage of the elevated road were resumed. The civil works of Água Espraiada Yard 

are in progress. The Morumbi/CPTM station had the works contract signed in Dec. 2017. 

Benefits 

▪ Time saving: allows for new displacement joints. 

▪ Fewer expropriations: basically areas for access to the stations, preserving the road 

system for other vehicles. Friendly to the environment by the use of electric traction (it 

does not emit gases), tires (low noise) and thin and light civil structures. Demand 

forecasts indicate a non-pendulum line, with constant boarding in both directions. 

Reductions 

▪ Atmospheric pollutants: 601 tons/year. 

▪ Greenhouse gases: 43.3 thousand tons/year. 

▪ Fuel consumption: 21.1 million liters/year. 

MODERNIZATION OF THE SIGNALING AND CONTROL SYSTEM 

The new Communication Based Train Control – CBTC system is under implementation in Line 1-

Blue, Line 2-Green and Line 3-Red of Metro. 

The implementation of the system will allow the increase of the number of trains operating 

simultaneously and consequently the reduction of the intervals between trains, with an increase 

in the supply of seats, a decrease in the travel time due to the increase of average speed, a 

reduction of the energy consumed by the more control effective transportation of trains, viability 

of audiovisual communications in real time and greater efficiency and security in data 

communications for all other interconnected systems. 
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System Evolution 

The final version of the control software, incorporating all the functionalities, is expected to be 

implemented as follows: 

▪ Line 2-Green – October 2019. 

▪ Line 1-Blue – August 2020. 

▪ Line 3-Red – July 2021. 

The milestone dates established in the arbitration agreement with Alstom have been met. The 

progress of the projects and the continuity of the tests to consolidate the Communication Based 

Train Control – CBTC system allowed the implementation of the definitive version in Line 2-

Green. Regarding the withdrawal of pending and testing of the telecommunications systems, the 

activities of the electronic monitoring, radio communication and telephone systems of Line 2-

Green were completed and delivered, according to milestone dates, as well as resuming the 

activities of multimedia systems and of access control to anticipate deliveries. 

OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE 

The metropolitan transportation system composed of the subway, metropolitan train, São Paulo 

municipal bus, intercity bus and interstate bus was responsible for the transportation of 6.4 

billion passengers in 2017. Of this total, transportation on rails guaranteed the transport of 2.1 

billion passengers, representing a 33% share of total trips by metropolitan transportation. 

The metro network, operated by São Paulo Metro and ViaQuatro, with 80.4 km, of extension, six 

lines and 71 stations, was responsible for 20% of the trips in the RMSP. In the network, the São 

Paulo Metro is responsible for the operation and maintenance of Line 1-Blue, 2-Green, 3-Red, 

5-Lilac and 15-Silver, which total 71.5 km in length. ViaQuatro, a private concessionaire, 

operates and maintains Line 4-Yellow, with 89.9 km. 

In addition to the connection with Line 4-Yellow, the operation of the lines of São Paulo Metro is 

integrated into the metropolitan trains operated by Companhia Paulista de Trens Metropolitanos 

– CPTM, to the city’s buses managed by SPTrans, and to the metropolitan buses, managed by 

EMTU. In addition to the connections with the CPTM railway system in the Luz, Pinheiros, 

Tamanduateí, Brás, Palmeiras-Barra Funda, Tatuapé, Corinthians-Itaquera and Santo Amaro 

stations, the network has integrated stations with road terminals at Tietê, Jabaquara and 

Palmeiras-Barra Funda stations and also with car parks. 

The relationship of Metro with the concessionaire operators of metro lines is carried out through 

the Commission for Monitoring Concessions and Permits of Public Services of Passenger 

Transport Systems – CMCP, which monitors and supervises the concession of the lines. 

Established by Decree No. 51.308/2006, the CMCP is linked to the Metropolitan Secretariat of 

the State of São Paulo. 

In 2017, the Operations Department established three strategic objectives in its planning: 

▪ Performance Improvement 

▪ Service Image Improvement 

▪ Cost Reduction 

In order to improve the operational performance of the services offered, a permanent working 

group was set up to monitor the fulfillment of the programmed offer and the occurrences with 

the main systems involved, prioritizing preventive actions, especially related to the performance 

of the trains. 
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The actions contemplated the training of the operators for a faster and more efficient action in 

operational occurrences, as well as the improvement of the processes of preventive and 

corrective maintenance of the trains, emphasizing the system of doors, promoting a constant 

increase in the MKBF (mean kilometer between failure) of train fleets throughout 2017. 

To achieve the goal of Improving the Service Image, a work was carried out with the leaders of 

the board, who together defined a strategy that culminated in the creation of a brand whose 

significance became uplifting for our purpose of offering excellence in service: 

 

 
 
Legenda Imagem: 

Conte Comigo (Count on me) 

 
Actions were established on two fronts: the first, focused on the employee, disseminated the 

concept of image that one wants to achieve and the meaning of being always at the disposal of 

the other, the brand “Conte Comigo.” Eight new service guidelines were implemented and a 

Distance Learning Program (EAD) was created to disseminate the new guidelines with the 

purpose of homogeneously implementing the service delivery model aimed at kindness, 

cordiality and courtesy, the Metro way of attending the customer. 

The second front aims to offer a quality environment to customers and our own employees and 

for this, has initiated a program of revitalization of stations. In the three stations completed in 

2017, Trianon-Masp, São Joaquim and Artur Alvim, the improvements resulted in the repair of 

more than 3,000 items that included: adoption of LED lamps, more efficient and economical, 

painting of internal and external areas, glass changing, visual communication, reaching until the 

revitalization of concrete in one of the stations. 

It was a great step for the project and the most proof of this was the praise received for good 

service, which had a significant increase of 70% compared to the year 2016. 

For the Cost Reduction, a permanent multidisciplinary working group was also created with a 

focus on optimizing the most significant cost items of the Operation, seeking a sustainable 

reduction in costs without compromising the quality of the services provided. 

The actions in 2017 included the optimization of the operational and contracted services 

processes, resulting in a reduction of costs with personnel, materials and contracts, among 

which the reduction of BRL 35 million (16%) in electricity consumption, the inauguration of new 

stations and the increase of the number of trains in circulation stood out. 

 

PASSENGERS TRANSPORTED IN THE TRANSPORATION SYSTEM IN THE RMSP – 2015, 

2016 AND 2017 

 
 

 

São Paulo Metro¹ 
 

ViaQuatro² 

Metropolitan train – CPTM 

Rail transport 

Passengers 
(million) 

 Passengers 
(million) 

 Passengers 

(million) 

 

2015 
(%) 

2016 
(%) 

2017 
(%) 

2.145,8 32,4 2.127,5 32,5 2.123,1 33,0 

1.117,6 16,9 1.107,3 16,9 1.095,7 17,0 

198,4 3,0 200,5 3,1 199,7 3,1 

829,7 12,5 819,7 12,5 827,7 12,9 
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Tire transport 4,481.9 67,6 4,428.2 67,5 4,319.3 67,0 

City of São Paulo 2,894.9 43.6 2,915.3 44,5 2,864.3 44,4 

Structural subsystem 1,666.0 25.1 1,671.3 25,5 1.630,6 25,3 

(common bus)       

Local subsystem 1,228.9 18.5 1,244.0 19,0 1.233,7 19,1 

(neighborhood to neighborhood and 
vans) 

      

Intercity bus - EMTU 549.9 8.4 524.2 8,0 504,2 7,8 

Airport and corridor  
85.2 

 
1.4 

 
86.0 

 
1,3 

 
80,5 

 
1,2 

(trolleybus and diesel)       

Private companies 464,7 7,0 438,2 6,7 423,7 6,6 

Bus – other cities 1.037,1 15,6 988,7 15,0 950,9 14,8 

Total transported 6.627,7 100 6.555,7 100 6.442,4 100 

Includes transfer and free. Does not include school bus and charter.  
 

Sourc
e: 

GPF/PFE 

¹ Corresponds to the total entries in the network + transfers between lines in stations Sé, Paraíso, Ana Rosa and Vila Prudente. 

² Data reported by CMCP – Commission for Monitoring Concessions and Permissionso f STM. 

 
 

PASSENGER DEMAND ON THE METRO 

In 2017, the Companhia do Metro registered the entry of 878 million passengers in its network. 

Considering the inter-line transfers at stations Sé, Paraíso, Ana Rosa and Vila Prudente, this 

number reaches 1,095 million passengers transported, representing a drop of 1.0% in relation to 

the previous year, mainly due to the greater number of mobile holidays that occurred on working 

days this year, occasionally causing holiday bridges where demand is normally less than that 

recorded on a normal business day. 

On weekdays, the average demand registered was 3.73 million passengers transported, an 

increase of 0.5% compared to the result of 2016. 

Below we present the evolution of the average number of passengers transported per working 

day in the metro network in the last 10 years. 
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On weekends, demand remained stable over the previous year, with an average of 2.1 million 

passengers transported on Saturdays and 1.2 million on Sundays. 

Line 15-Silver was the one with the highest growth in demand. Inaugurated on August 10, 2015, 

its operating hours were extended from 2016 to the period from 4:40 am to midnight. This 

resulted in increased demand for the line, reaching a total of 5.1 million passengers transported 

this year, with an average of 18.7 thousand passengers transported per working day, 35.7% 

higher than the demand for 2016. 

The behavior of demand in other lines of the system remained in 2017 similar to that of 2016 in 

general, especially Line 5-Lilac, which had 253 thousand passengers transported in 2017, compared 

to 260 thousand transported in 2016, corresponding to a decrease of 2.6%. On November 27, 2017, 

the commercial operation of the three new stations of Line 5-Lilac: Alto da Boa Vista, Borba 

Gato and Brooklin began. The average number of tickets per working day in these new stations 

was 3, 4 and 8 thousand passengers, respectively, which should reinforce the increase in 

demand for 2018. 

In 2017, Line 1-Blue reached an average number of passengers carried on business days of 

1,381 million, Line 2-Green had 666 thousand and Line 3-Red 1,407 million. In 2016, these 

averages were 1,371 million, 652 thousand and 1,409 million, respectively. In 2017, the three 

lines totaled 3.454 million passengers transported, representing an increase of 0.6% compared 

to 2016, when 3,432 million passengers were transported. 

Of the total volume of demand transported, the Single Ticket reached, in 2017, the average of 

1,766 million uses on weekdays, 0.5% lower than the result of 2016, corresponding to 58.8% of 

total network entries and distributed as follows: 19.8% of the exclusive subway journeys, 24.1% 

of integrated metro-bus trips and 14.9% of free travel (students, seniors and people with 

disabilities). In relation to the BOM card, in 2017, the average of 164 thousand entries with the 

BOM card was recorded on the business days, representing 5.5% of the total entries in the 

network. The other 35.7% are represented by the use of Edmonson tickets. 

In the metro system, 33% of total shipments occur in the periods of 6:30 a.m. to 8:30 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 

to 7:00 p.m., characterized as peak times.  At these times all the available trains of the fleet are put into 

operation, guaranteeing the maximum efficiency of the system, coverage of the demand and comfort to 

the passengers. 
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DEMAND L1-BLUE L2-GREEN L3-RED L5-LILAC L15-
SILVER 

TOTAL 
NETWORK 

2017 

Daily Average 

Average working 
days 

1,381 666 1,406 253 19 3,726 

Average Saturdays 790 301 846 150 7 2,094 

Average Sundays 445 191 493 69 2 1,201 

Daily Maximum 1,506 731 1,532 290 24 4,083 
 

Total Year 

Total 407.028 190.040 419.294 74.331 5.052 1.095.745 

2016 

Daily Average 

Average working 
days 

1,371 652 1.409 260 14 3,705 

Average Saturdays 800 298 828 157 6 2,088 

Average Sundays 471 183 514 80 2 1,251 

Daily Maximum 1,481 731 1,525 290 18 4,000 

 

Total Year 

Total 411,763 188,577 425,112 78,017 3,855 1,107,322 

 
 
 

 
OFFER FOR TRANSPORTATION ON THE METRO 

The Metro’s transportation supply structure takes into account the compatibility of the hourly 

demand of each line with the operational efficiency assumptions and the systemic availability of 

control and the maximum fleet capable of operating in each of the lines, in order to make all the 

subway system operates at maximum capacity adjusted to the demand at different times of the 

day. With this, the Company seeks to achieve a high degree of efficiency in operation and 

maintenance, in line with a higher level of passenger comfort and satisfaction. Associated with 

this, several operational strategies are adopted in order to enable a faster travel to users. 

PASSAGEIROS TRANSPORTADOS - 2017 vs 2016 
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OFFER L1-BLUE L2-GREEN L3-RED L5-LILAC L15-
SILVER 

2017 

WORKING DAY 

Number of trains in operation Peak 40 24 41 14 1 

 Average 33 15 35 9 1 

Headway between trains/seconds Peak 125 132 111 184 444 

Average 150 211 130 315 444 

Scheduled trips/day  1,003 789 1141 571 312 

Offer in rush hour 

(seats/time/direction)1 

 
43,900 43,200 52,500 29,600 7,700 

WEEKEND2 

Number of trains in operation Peak 28 11,5 26 8 1 

 Average 24 11,5 21,5 8 1 

Headway between trains/seconds Peak 181 274 179 320 444 

Average 220 274 208 320 444 

Scheduled trips/day  645 518 670 408 312 

Offer in rush hour 

(seats/time/direction)3 

 
22,700 15,050 25,400 14,700 5,400 

2016 

WORKING DAY 

Number of trains in operation Peak 40 23 40 7 1 

 Average 33 15 35 5 1 

Headway between trains/seconds Peak 125 138 113 269 454 

Average 150 211 130 369 454 

Scheduled trips/day  1,003 792 1,133 440 306 

Offer in rush hour 

(seats/time/direction)1 

 
43,900 41,300 51,600 20,200 7,500 

WEEKEND2 

Number of trains in operation Peak 28 12 26 5 1 

 Average 24 12 22 5 1 

Headway between trains/seconds Peak 181 274 177 364 454 

Average 220 274 209 364 454 

Scheduled trips/day  645 518 670 372 306 

Offer in rush hour 

(seats/time/direction)3 

 
22,700 15,050 25,600 10,900 5,300 

1 
Considers vehicle occupancy of 6 passengers standing per m² 

2 
Considers the mean of indicators between Saturday and Sunday 

3 
Considers vehicle occupancy of 6 passengers standing per m² 

 

OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE BY LINE 
 

 

2017 
Extension in 
Operation - 

km 

 
Number of 

Stations¹ 

 
Kilometers 

travelled by 
trains 

 
Passengers 

Transported 

Line 1-Blue 20.2 23 6,117,422 407,028,080 

Line 2-Green 14.7 14 3,558,819 190,039,806 

Line 3-Red 22 18 7,379,045 419,293,651 

Line 5-Lilac 12.3 10 1,452,513 74,330,905 

Line 15-Silver 2.3 2 235,011 5,052,302 

Total 71.5 64 18,742,810 1,095,744,744 

¹ Passenger interchange stations Ana Rosa and Paraíso (Line 1-Blue and Line 2-Green) and Sé (Line1-

Blue and Line 3-Red) are computed in both lines they serve. Stations Vila Prudente of Line 2-Green and 

Line 15-Silver are physically independent, therefore they were considered individually in total lines. 

OFERTA PROGRAMADA - 2017 vs 2016 
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2016 

Extension in 

Operation - 

km 

 
Number of 

Stations¹ 

 
Kilometers 

travelled by 

trains 

 
Passengers 

Transported 

Line 1-Blue 20.2 23 6,338,045 411,762,270 

Line 2-Green 14.7 14 3,603,941 188,576,500 

Line 3-Red 22 18 7,502,200 425,111,639 

Line 5-Lilac 9.3 7 1,423,187 78,017,194 

Line 15-Silver 2.3 2 197,107 3,854,544 

Total 68.5 61 19,062,480 1,107,322,147 

¹ Passenger interchange stations Ana Rosa and Paraíso (Line 1-Blue and Line 2-Green) and Sé (Line1-
Blue and Line 3-Red) are computed in both lines they serve. Stations Vila Prudente of Line 2-Green and 
Line 15-Silver are physically independent, therefore they were considered individually in total lines. 

 

OPERATIONAL INDICATORS – PERFORMANCE 

System and equipment performance is measured by indicators set in processes certified by 

NBR 9001:2015 and includes the maintenance of rolling stock, fixed equipment, fixed way, 

structures and civil facilities. 

Rolling Stock 

In order to meet the requirements of the theoretical schedule imposed by transport demand, 

preventive, corrective and improvement processes are developed in the subsystems 

comprising the rolling stock, which undergo modernization and modification, in order to ensure 

operational performance and safety. 

The offer of trains is measured by the availability index, whose purpose is to ensure 

compliance, in the rush hour, with the percentage established for all lines in operation. The 

results obtained in 2017 are shown below: 

Availability of Trains in the Rush Hour 
 

LINES Target 
(>) 

(%) 

2016 

(%) 

2017 

(%) 

Line 1-Blue 98.0 99.4 99.3 

Line 2-Green 98.0 99.6 99.8 

Line 3-Red 98.0 98.9 98.9 

Line 5-Lilac 97.0 97.3 97.5 

 
Fixed Way 

The term “fixed way” defines the set of equipment and facilities that allows the movement and 

circulation of trains. It is basically composed of continuously welded rails, which are fixed to 

bearing plates fixed to longitudinal concrete beams in the tunnel sections and raised or 

supported on prestressed concrete sleepers in the stretches of ballast or wooden sleepers in 

the regions where the switchgear is located. 

In addition to the track changers (AMV) and key machines, which are responsible for the 

change of trajectory of the subway systems and maintenance vehicles, rail lubricators 

responsible for the injection of grease on the side of the rails to reduce the wear caused by 

the wheel-rail contact and the third rail, disconnectors and third rail contactors, responsible for 

the transmission of electric power to power the metro stations. 
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One of the indicators used in the assessment of track availability is measured by the number 

of delays exceeding five minutes on the road release for the commencement of commercial 

operation. By 2017, the results of the indicator were within the established target. 

Fixed Way Availability 
 

LINES Target (<) 2016 2017 

Line 1-Blue 1 
delay/month 

0.3 0.3 

Line 2-Green 1 
delay/month 

0.2 0.4 

Line 3-Red 1 
delay/month 

0.6 0.9 

Line 5-Lilac 1 
delay/month 

0.2 0.1 

 
Signaling 

This system is composed of several electro-electronic equipment and is intended for the 

control and distribution of trains along the track, with the maximum travel and safety offer, 

since it was conceived and implemented with the concept of safe failure, analyzed and 

approved by specialized and independent entities. 

The availability of the signaling system can also be evaluated in conjunction with the 

permanent track equipment by means of an indicator that represents the duration of the 

railroad traffic restrictions, computed in minutes/month. In 2017, the results remained 

satisfactory. 

Signaling System Availability 
 

LINES Target (<) 2016 2017 

Line 1-Blue 250 min 84 59 

Line 2-Green 250 min 75 26 

Line 3-Red 350 min 170 156 

Line 5-Lilac 200 min 130 136 

 
Power Supply 

The Electric Power System consists of the Primary, Rectifier and Auxiliary Electrical 

Substations and the Energy Distribution Systems for the trains known as "3rd rail" and "aerial 

network", as well as the equipment involved in each subsystem such as: power transformers, 

CT power transformers, CT current transformers, busbars, cubicles and panels, power cables, 

3rd rail buses and overhead line cables and accessories. 

The availability of the Power Supply System is measured by the duration of the monthly 

power constraints (in minutes) in the commercial operation. The result of 2017 is shown 

below. 

Power Supply System Availability 
 

LINES Target 
(<) 

2016 2017 

Line 1-Blue 50 min 14.2 8.5 
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Line 2-Green 35 min 7.8 5.7 

Line 3-Red 55 min 26.6 1.8 

Line 5-Lilac 30 min 20.7 0 

 

Auxiliary Station Equipment 

This system is composed of a great variety and diversity of equipment, each one with its 

specific function and importance for the operating system and whose performance has been 

satisfactory in recent years. 

The result of the escalators stands out, due to its importance in the movement of users in the 

stations. For process control purposes, availability is monitored per line. All the lines 

presented indicators that fully meet the established goals. 
 

LINES 
Target 

(%) 

2016 

(%) 

2017 

(%) 

Line 1-Blue 99.0 99.6 99.6 

Line 2-Green 97.0 98.6 98.6 

Line 3-Red 98.7 99.4 99.3 

Line 5-Lilac 98.3 99.5 99.5 

 
Modernization of the 98-train fleet 

The modernization process of the 1-Blue and 3-Red fleet trains, in addition to the technological 

update, offers greater comfort for users and includes: 

▪ Air-conditioning system, fire protection, audiovisual information system, skid and slip 

control brakes (improves performance under low-grip conditions such as rain), AC 

traction, internal and external surveillance cameras, continuous monitoring of the 

equipment by the operator, replacement of the system of doors and inspection, revision 

and repairs in the structure and tricks of the trains. 

▪ Improved ergonomics with internal rearrangement and lighting replacement. 

The process of modernization of the trains began in 2011, planning to pass through this process 

of all 98 trains. By December 2017, 92 trains were completed, of which 86 are in operation and 

six return to operation in 2018, after testing and implementation of the CBTC system. 

The remaining six trains are in the process of modernization with the completion of the entire 

process planned for 2018. 
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BUSINESSES AND ANCILLARY REVENUE 

The Company is engaged in planning and enhancing the commercial exploitation of its assets – 

current and future. The objective is to expand complementary business opportunities to the 

metro operation in order to maximize the acquisition of additional non-fare revenues, as well as 

the valuation of its assets. 

In this dimension, the Metro operates in the following segments: 

▪ Real Estate Development - development and exploration of new developments built in 

the remaining areas of the subway network, such as shopping malls, road terminals, 

parking lots, among others. 

▪ Retail - exploration of the spaces inside the stations and urban terminals destined to 

stores, kiosks, promotional actions, among others. 

▪ Advertising - exploitation of spaces in stations, trains and tunnels for advertising 

campaigns. 

▪ Telecommunications - exploration of station spaces and tunnels for the development of 

telecommunication projects focused on providing users with greater availability of access 

to telephony, internet and fiber optic systems. 

The collection of ancillary revenues plays an important role in the pursuit of the Company's 

financial balance, in line with several other measures to reduce costs and expenses. In this line, 

the 2017 result in obtaining non-tariff revenues hit a record high, reaching BRL 248.3 million, 

31.7% more than in 2016 when the amount was BRL 188.5 million, reaching in 2017 the mark of 

13% in relation to the tariff revenues, surpassing the average of 10% obtained in recent years. 

Main actions that contributed to this result: 

▪ Electronic auction, carried out through the BEC (Electronic Shopping Bag), for the 

commercialization of spaces in stations previously selected by Letter of Authorization of 

Use (CAU). The new modality led to an average valuation of 150% of the square meter. 

106 spaces were traded where 95 stores operate. 

▪ Bidding for the advertising concession in the subway spaces, won by the world leader in 

the segment - JCDecaux, in the amount of BRL 375.6 million over a period of 10 years, 

considering the initial remuneration of BRL 51.1 million under the granting regime and 

additionally monthly remuneration of BRL 2.75 million or 35% of gross revenues of the 

operator, with the highest of the two amounts prevailing. In addition, the agreement 

provides for a minimum investment of BRL 20 million in equipment. 

▪ Consistent performance of malls and road terminals contracts in 2017, representing 

revenues in the Real Estate Development segment of BRL 99.1 million, or 40% of 

ancillary revenues for the year. 

▪ Valorization of the Company's assets with the inauguration of Shopping Itaquera 

expansion: an additional 64,000 m2, with 153 new stores, providing additional annual 

compensation of BRL 5.8 million as of 2018. 

▪ Providing Wi-Fi service in 40 stations with more than 530 thousand registered users and 

more than 6 million accesses. 

▪ Concession of Urban Terminals, whose bid invitation, published in Aug. 2017 was 

suspended by the Court of Auditors and should be republished in 2018. 
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▪ Modernization of the Metronet Data Network - the contract for the execution of the Infovia Project 

- was signed in Dec. 2017 and will be executed during 2018. In parallel, the 

announcement to contract a study on potential commercial exploitation of fiber optics in 

the Metro (INFOVIA) was published and electronic trading session scheduled for 2018. 

The evolution of the participation of the business segments in the construction of non-tariff 

revenue for 2017 and 2016, in addition to the historical series of non-tariff revenue evolution, 

can be seen in the following charts: 
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MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS 

CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT 

Law 13303 of 06/30/2016 establishes that public companies and mixed-capital companies adopt 

structures and practices of Risk Management and Internal Control. In 2017, the Metro Company 

created the Presidential Special Advisory (P/AES), directly linked to the Presidency (P), with the 

objective of starting Corporate Risk Management (GRCorp), among others, performing the 

following functions: 

▪ Establish policies for the strategic, patrimonial, operational, financial, socio-

environmental and reputational risks management of the Company. 

▪ Assist, support and monitor the actions of the various areas in the identification, 

analysis, classification, control and/or mitigation of risks for the Company. 

▪ Propose and/or monitor the development and updating of contingency plans for the 

Company's vital processes. 

▪ Establish themes and frequency for campaigns and training on risk management for 

managers and employees of the Company. 

Based on the experience acquired in the implementation and application of enterprise risk 

management processes, the Corporate PMO started in 2017 the development of the Corporate 

Risk Management Methodology (GRCorp), observing world-recognized methodological 

references such as COSO-ERM (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission) and ISO 31000, in addition to complying with the guidelines issued by the 

Brazilian Institute of Corporate Governance (IBGC) Guidance for Corporate Risk Management. 

In addition to the development of a specific methodology for Corporate Risk Management of 

Metro, the work of the Corporate PMO includes the delivery of a specific tool to support the 

management processes, a training plan for the methodology and training of the areas involved 

in the Business Plan of the company. 

The start of the application of the Corporate Risk Management processes is foreseen for the 

second half of 2018. 

INTEGRATED MANAGEMENT SYSTEM – SAP 

In 2017, the Company performed the go live of its integrated management system - Project 

Transformation -, which aimed at implementing the SAP system throughout the company, 

reaching all administrative, contractual and economic-financial management processes. The go-

live of the SAP was followed by assisted operation, maintained until the operation at normal 

pace. Contracts were signed guaranteeing the technological upgrade, technical support 

services for the licenses of the products that comprise SAP, as well as support for the 

application and introduction of improvements. 

The project, which lasted almost three years and had about 200 professionals involved, was 

structured on three fronts: 

Phase I - SAP ECC: integrated production platform of the management system totally online and 
available to all the Company's professionals. 

Phase II - BI/BW: Business Intelligence environment, integrated to the production platform 

and allowing the construction and development of intelligent reports and data extraction 

and processing cubes, assisting in the management of the business and accelerating  

the information dissemination and decision making process. 
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Phase III - BPC: an integrated management and budgetary control environment, which allows 

for the matrix construction of the corporate budget, besides allowing a greater level of control 

and management of resources allocated by the work front and consumption and realization 

curves. 

In addition to the SAP system, the Company worked during the implementation period on other 

complementary fronts, such as: a) Review and simplification of processes, a methodology that 

continues in 2018; b) Implementation of centralized register of registries; c) Implementation of 

fiscal consolidation solution integrated with SAP; d) Logistics service center. 

The Metro aims with the combination of these actions to seek in a structural way to optimize the 

flow of information and its quality within the organization, besides eliminating unnecessary 

manual interfaces and generating redundancies in the internal processes. In this way, the 

Company seeks to be a more agile company, ready to have faster responses to the market and 

with a more robust management process, anchored in the best available practices. 

CERTIFIED MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS 

The Metro currently has the following certified management systems: 
 

System Scope 

Quality (ISO 9001) Processes of operation, maintenance, supply logistics, 
procurement and contracting, administrative, legal 
services, management of the deployment of Line 4-
Yellow and Line 17-Gold. 

Environment (ISO 14001) Environmental impacts associated with the processes of 
the implanted network1. 

Occupational Health and Safety 
(OHSAS – 18001) 

Hazards and risks associated with the work activity of all 
employees. 

1The impacts associated with the expansion of the network are managed by the control and 

compensation programs resulting from the licensing process. 

 

All systems are subject to a single policy - Integrated Quality, Environment, Safety and 

Occupational Health Policy - and have unified procedures for a number of requirements that are 

common to the standards of reference. A matrix structure, the Standing Commission on 

Management Systems, ensures compatibility and integration between management systems. 

The Environmental Management System and the Quality Management Systems are in line with 

the new versions of ISO 9001 and ISO 14001, published in 2015. In 2017, an audit of the 

Accredited Certification Body confirmed the adequacy of the improvements made, issuing 

certificates in accordance with the new versions of ISO 9001 and ISO 14001. 

The actions of the Corporate Quality Management project related to the current network 

consisted in the adaptation of the Quality Management Systems to the NBR ISO 9001: 2015, 

and in the elaboration of Service Level Agreements among the existing Quality Management 

Systems. For the future network, the actions consisted in the elaboration of the "Specification of 

the service standard for users of the future network and definition of the measurement system" 

and the Normative Instrument "Conditions for commissioning and delivery of installations, 

equipment and systems." 
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RELATIONSHIP WITH PUBLICS OF INTEREST 

The Metro is responsible for making the journey of 3.7 million users by working day fast, safe 

and comfortable every day and engaging an interested public in what happens in the subway 

network and expansion works. Thus, information and relationships are strategic for the public 

service to be provided. 

The establishment of dialogue between the company and the public in daily practice is at the 

heart of the company's actions, as it brings greater proximity to the manifestations and needs of 

users, citizens, employees and other public, and ensures transparency in management. 

Ten publics were identified that are impacted and influence the operation and expansion of the 

subway network. It was also identified the audiences whose demands the company has a 

responsibility to attend: those who have proximity or interest in the business and the public that 

represent associations, groups or categories associated with the business. They are: 

 

 
 
 
 

INFLUENCE 

Government (shareholders), funding bodies, citizens, users, 

employees (active, retired and retired), community (expropriated, 

surrounding community, merchants, schools, hospitals and family 

of employees), suppliers, dealers, other transport and press 

operators. 

 
RESPONSIBILITY 

Government (shareholders), Executive Board, Government 

(regulatory agencies), funding agencies, suppliers and 

concessionaires. 

 
PROXIMITY 

Sectors: construction, transport, railroad, advertising, 

communication and marketing, real estate, commerce and 

services, technology and public agencies. 

REPRESENTATIVENES
S 

Unions, associations, CoMET, Alamys, civil organizations, press, 

certifying bodies. 

 

The participation of the citizen in the monitoring of the service provided by the Subway is 

ensured by the various channels of communication and relationship of the company, as well as 

direct contact with employees. With the growth of access to new communication technologies, 

priority was given to actions that aim to meet expectations regarding the essential attributes of 

the service (speed, reliability, comfort, attendance, communication and security). 

Based on the service evaluation surveys performed with the users, specific actions were 

implemented to improve six attributes: 

Attendance: dissemination of the Program of Improvement of the Image of the Service 

"Count with Me" to all employees with the purpose of improving the service rendered and 

offering a quality environment to the clients. A program was created to disseminate the new 

service guidelines aligned with the new service delivery model focused on kindness and 

cordiality. 
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▪ Reliability: continuity of the train operators' recycling to speed up the operation in 

occurrences and guarantee the rapid normalization of the system. 

▪ Speed: increased the number of trains in operation (from 69 to 79), allowing the reduction of 

the interval in Lines 2-Green, 3-Red and 5-Lilac, with a consequent improvement in the 

service offer (13,900 seats /hour/on weekdays). 

▪ Comfort: revitalization and improvement of the 5-station environment: Trianon-Masp, São 

Joaquim, Artur Alvim (completed), Consolação and Vila Mariana (ongoing). 

▪ Security: intensification of actions to combat irregular trade in trains and stations and 

campaigns for "Combating Sexual Abuse" together with the Court of Justice and other 

transport operators. 

▪ Information: improvement of the attendance to the requests sent by the users at the 

moment of their trip from the availability of the mobile application "Metro Conecta". 

 
 

In 2017, the Corporate Customer Service System - Contact us, registered 14,684 citizen 

manifestations, representing a decrease of 2% in total compared to 2016, involving complaints 

(7,589), requests for information (5,539), suggestions (715), compliments (504), complaints 

(248) and acknowledgments (89). It should be noted that the registered complaints refer to the 

performance of the operational employees, of customer services, in stations and surroundings. 

In addition to Fale Conosco, São Paulo Metro has other channels of relationship with its users, 

as shown in the table below. 

PATRON/CITIZEN RELATIONSHIP CHANNELS 
 

CHANN
EL 

CONTACTS1
 

 2016 2017 

SMS-Denúncia 
Messages received 

51,483 59,943 

Metrô Conecta 
Messages received 2 

- 19,171 

Telefone do usuário 
Calls received 2,296 2,391 

Suggestion box 
Letters received 768 749 

Personal attendance 
Attendance number 

407 292 

Social Network 
Attendance number 16,613 17,809 

Fale Conosco 
Manifestations received 

15,006 14,684 

SIC - Serviço de Informação ao Cidadão 
Attendance number 1,383 1,498 

1. In each contact the user can report several manifestations.   | 2 App available since 06/06/2017. 

 
CITIZENS AND PATRONS ON NETWORKS 

Communication in digital social networks has shown an increasing number of followers year by 

year, by the reach and repercussion of the contents and engagement with the netizens. 
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In the urban transport and Brazilian traffic sector, São Paulo Metro has the largest number of 

followers and tanned in social networks. It continues ahead on Twitter and went from second to 

first place on Facebook in 2017. 
 

Twitter Followers 2017  Facebook Likes 2017  

1º Metrô SP 1,748,694 1° Metrô SP 229.982 

2º CET-SP 1,255,751 2º Metrô Rio 216.749 

3° CPTM 689,484 3° CPTM 170.562 

4º SPTrans 684,987 4° TrensUrb - Porto Alegre 94.430 

5º Metrô Rio 193,671 5° SPTrans 73.133 

6º TrensUrb - Porto Alegre 71,429 6° CET 21.603 

 

In the Twitter profile, the Metro reached the mark of 1.7 million followers in 2017, a growth of 

23.5% compared to the previous year and the second of the sector in world-wide ranking behind 

the profile of the London subway, with 2.3 million. On Facebook, the year ended with 229,982 

tanned, an increase of 22.46% compared to 2016. 

Metro has also created a profile on Instagram, reaching in 2017 more than 4,000 followers - 5.4 

times more than in the previous year and more than 1.6 million views. 

CULTURE AND SOCIAL CAMPAIGNS 

Patrons can associate the culture and actions of social and educational interest with the 

experience of traveling in the system. Artistic-cultural attractions are organized in several 

stations, humanizing and activating the space of passage to become a place of leisure, 

coexistence and knowledge. 

Cultural actions 

Culture Line: monthly program of exhibitions with a great diversity of artistic languages and 

approach to subjects, artistic techniques and points of view. In 2017, 214 exhibitions were held 

during the year, on average 18 monthly exhibitions. 

Fixed Exhibitions: Alto do Ipiranga Station. O Metro e Seus Bairros – Ipiranga. O Bairro do 

Grito!, Largo Treze Station. O Metro e Seus Bairros – Santo Amaro, Adolfo Pinheiro Station. O 

Bonde em Santo Amaro. 

Project Art in Metro: The Metro stations make up a diversified gallery of contemporary art, 

providing the citizen with daily conviviality with expressive artists from the Brazilian and 

international scene. Along the seasons is a permanent collection of works of art, composed of 

murals, installations, paintings and sculptures. Currently, the collection has 91 works of art. 

Partnerships and covenants with museums: 

▪ The Lasar Segall Showcase is a partnership of the Metro with the Lasar Segall Museum 

and is located at Santa Cruz Station. In 2017, the Showcase had four exhibitions. 

▪ MASP Showcase is a partnership of Metro with the São Paulo Museum of Art - Masp 

located at Trianon-Masp Station. In 2017, two programs were organized: Arquivo no 

Trianon-Masp and Masp no Metro. 
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▪ Metro Tiradentes Theater is a partnership with the Museum of Sacred Art - MAS, located 

in Tiradentes Station. In 2017, four exhibitions were held. 

▪ Ikebana Showcase is a partnership between Metro and the Ikebana Association of 

Brazil, located at Liberdade Station. Every week, a new arrangement is presented to 

station users. In 2017, there were 54 arrangements. 

▪ The Sexual Diversity Museum is the first cultural equipment in Latin America related to 

the theme, created through Decree 58,075/2012 and linked to the Secretariat of Culture 

of the State of São Paulo. It is located in República Station. In 2017, four exhibitions 

were held. 

▪ The Opera Costume Showcase is the result of a partnership with Theatro São Pedro 

and Instituto Pensarte. It is located at Marechal Deodoro Station. In the year 2017, four 

costumes were exhibited. 

Poetry in Metro: is a Portuguese language poetry reading program that takes place at the 

stations of Linha 2-Verde (Vila Madalena - Alto do Ipiranga). Works by Brazilian and Portuguese 

poets like Augusto dos Anjos, Camões, Cruz and Sousa, Florbela Espanca and Olavo Bilac are 

exhibited. Twelve poems remain in Ana Rosa, Chácara Klabin, Paraíso and Vila Madalena 

stations. 

Metro Security Guards’ Band: formed from casual encounters in the company, the Security 

Guards’ Band goes beyond the limits of its facilities, trains and stations and reveals the talent of 

the employees for the users. In 2017, he made 14 presentations at different stations of the São 

Paulo Metro. 

Music, drama, dance and workshops: performances of musical, theatrical and dance 

performances at the stations. There were 63 artistic presentations in 2017. 

Environment Line: a program created to promote culture for sustainability, held the 

Sustainability + Rails event, with the presence of communication specialists for sustainability, as 

well as four exhibitions of socio-environmental projects and artistic demonstrations at the 

stations. 

Social Marketing Campaigns and Actions 

The Company develops campaigns or actions in partnership with other institutions, addressing 

concepts of citizenship, preservation of the public patrimony, security and correct use of the 

system. 

In 2017, about 50 campaigns were produced, highlighting topics such as New Tariffs, Photo 

Competition 2017, Irregular Trade - Phase 2, New Metro Connect application, Give the Example 

Rights and Duties of Users, Together We Can Stop Sexual Abuse in Transportation , Selective 

Collection, OD 2017 Research, New Stations of Line 5-Lilac, Safety at the Year End 2017. 

In 2017, about 40 social marketing actions were carried out, especially: Blood Donation at Sé 

Station (partnership with Pró-Sangue), Hepatitis Zero, Prevention of Violence against Women; 

May Yellow - Street Crosser; HIV Testing, Tuberculosis Testing, September Red - Follow Your 

Heart and Take an Attitude, Mouth Cancer Prevention, Thyroid Disease Prevention, Day C (Day 

of Cooperativism), Challenge Day, Rodovírtua (Artesp), Campaign Against Violence Infantile, 

Blood Pressure Measurement Campaigns and Glucose Testing, Microentrepreneur Week 

(Sebrae), Blue November and Pink October. 
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METRO IN THE MEDIA 

Information about the service, progress of works of expansion and inauguration of stations and 

sections are themes that have repercussion in the media, both in offered guides and in requests 

of communication vehicles. 

There is always an interest in day-to-day life, as well as special guides that reveal stories and 

the background of the metro system. They are characters and life stories of patrons and 

employees, maintenance services, mega-operation tracks, awareness campaigns and social 

actions and cultural events in the stations. 

In 2017, the themes of greatest repercussion in the media originated from the work of the Metro 

were: inauguration, in September, of three new stations in Line 5-Lilac (Alto da Boa Vista, Borba 

Gato and Brooklin); large ramp exchange on Line 3-Red; dissemination of the Origin and 

Destination Survey 2017; seizure of 20 kg of cocaine and BRL 2.6 thousand in cash at the 

Patriarca Station of Line 3-Red; and the launch of Wi-Fi in the Metro stations. 

The press was attended almost five thousand times, considering the accompaniments made in 

the field (in stations, trains, stretches, maintenance yards, expansion works, etc.), by telephone 

and by e-mail. 

ACTIONS IN COMMUNITIES SURROUNDING THE EXPANSION WORKS 

The Company establishes a process of relationship and communication with the communities 

impacted directly or indirectly by the projects being implemented by the Subway, civil society 

and the general public from the beginning of the process of expropriation and resettlement, 

throughout the implantation and progress of civil works until the delivery of the lines to the city. 

In 2017, there were 2,651 calls and activities related to the expropriation, resettlement, social 

communication and impact of works, as well as the sending of 36 subsidies to calls made by the 

Metro's Ombudsman. 

This year, the services and activities related to expropriation covered primarily the consultation 

of citizens regarding the expropriation of real estate and general guidelines. Regarding 

resettlement issues, we worked on the settlement of the agreements to be signed with the 

Urban Development and Housing Company - CDHU for those impacted by lines 5-Lilacs, 15-

Silver and 17-Gold, in response to economic- financing of the implementation of a housing 

project destined to the agreements of the first two lines, by low adhesion of the public. At the 

same time, remaining housing units of the 17-Gold Line agreement were made available, 

resulting in changes in the ongoing services. 

During the course of 2017, negotiations were continued to establish the resettlement agreement 

for Line 2-Green, which depends, in part, on the ongoing changes in the agreements of lines 5 

and 15. 

The year 2017 ended with 130 vulnerable families being served by resettlement plans, removed 

in areas of lines 5-Lilac, 15-Silver and 17-Gold, and currently receiving housing assistance until 

the final resettlement. 
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Within this process of relationship and communication, stood out in 2017 the Institutional 

Program of Visit to the Works, open to those interested in knowing the expansion of the metro 

network. 

Twenty-three visits were carried out at the stations of lines 4-Amarela (São Paulo-Morumbi); 5-

Lilac (Eucalyptus, Santa Cruz and Chácara Klabin), 15-Silver (Vila Tolstoi and Jardim Planalto) 

 

 

 
 

 

Chart. Attendance by macroprocess in 2016 and 2017. Chart Demand for attendance and activities, by line, 

 in 2016 and 2017. 

 Legenda Imagens: 
 

Attendance and activities 2016-2017 
Expropriation and Resettlement 
Social Communication 
Impact of Works 
 
Demand for Service and Activities per Line 
Network 

 

 

PEOPLE MANAGEMENT 

In 2017, Metro implemented a set of actions aimed at improving processes and reviewing HR 

policies and instruments. Among them, it is worth highlighting the updating of the performance 

evaluation factors for the operational positions, involving practically 80% of the subway 

population, the review of managerial competencies, and the study of the Salaries Plan, which 

will allow the implementation of a plan for handling salary and career for the metro. 

Preliminary studies were carried out to review the structure of positions and salaries of career 

drawings in conjunction with the business areas, considering the diagnosis of positions and 

remuneration presented by the consulting firm. Leadership competencies were reviewed with 
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the participation of the executive plan and external consulting support. 

Matrix structure was implemented in project management, subordinated to the Engineering 

Department. The governance structure was defined and changes were made to the 

organizational structure required for go-live SAP. The structural changes to comply with Law 

13303/2016 were sent to CODEC. The process for the election of the Employee Representative 

on the Board of Directors, whose election is expected to take place in 2018, has begun. 
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The São Paulo Metro ended the year with a team of 9,153 professionals. 
 
 
 

 
Distribution of Employees¹ 2015 2016 2017 

Operation 4.511 4.446 4.526 

Maintenance 2.806 2.822 2.769 

Administration 1.295 1.228 1.161 

Expansion 774 758 697 

Employee Framework Indicators¹ 

Number of employees 9.386 9.254 9.153 

Admissions in the year¹ 16 86 336 

Layoffs in the year¹ and ² 199 240 439 

Division by sex and color¹ 

Men 7,509 7,417 7,363 

Women 1,877 1,837 1,790 

% of management positions held by women 16% 16% 15% 

Number of blacks 2.399 2.351 2.357 

% of management positions held by blacks 13% 14% 15% 

Age range 

Up to 20 years 0 2 27 

21 – 30 years 1,181 1,045 1,022 

31 – 40 years 1,722 1,695 1,766 

41 – 50 years 2,494 2,293 2,086 

51 – 60 years 3,151 3,213 3,223 

Over 61 years 838 1,006 1,029 

Number of employees over 45 years 5,705 5,775 5,622 

Avg. company time¹ 17.6 18.4 18.3 

Number of employees with up to five years of 
company 

2,278 1,712 1590 

Education 

Elementary School 345 331 309 

Incomplete High School 375 363 347 

Complete High School 3,842 3,783 3,727 

Incomplete Higher Education 1,319 1,318 1,339 

Complete Higher Education 2,917 2,890 2,730 

Postgraduate 489 476 459 
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Other Degrees (Master’s/PhD) 99 93 76 

Not registered   166 

Number of apprentices5
 50 325 249 

Number of trainees³ 198 109 127 

Number of disabled and rehabilitated employees5
 279 270 300 

Number of employee dependents 13.469 13.047 12.613 

¹ Data do not include apprentices 

² In 2016, the beginning of the resignations of the PDV, which are expected to occur over two years 

³ Trainees of university and average level. 
4 Considered the employees who declare themselves black and brown 

5 Quotas: PCD: 407 employees (5% frame, excluding ASM1); Apprentices: 312 (at the end of 2017 47 apprentices were 

terminated by contract, which will be replaced in 2018). 

Geographical area of employee 
housing 

 
2014 

 
2015 

 
2016 

 
2017 

Center 472 455 452 427 

North 1,127 1,111 1094 1,084 

South 1,684 1,633 1617 1,558 

East 3,024 2,947 2894 2,898 

West 679 668 662 647 

Other (municipalities) 2,626 2,622 2535 2,539 

 
eSocial 

Starting in 2016, there are no apprentices who have a fixed-term contract. 

eSocial is a federal government project that, through a single flow of information, will digitize the 

sending of information related to internal work (employees) or external (hiring of services). In 

addition to the Federal Revenue Service, Caixa Econômica Federal, INSS and the Ministry of 

Labor and Employment are also in the organization of the project and will use this information in 

the fulfillment of their missions, generating fiscal and labor meshes. The project consists in the 

mapping and diagnosis of the compatibility of the company's environment with the environment 

proposed by the e-Social with sanitation indicators. 

The actions for e-Social implementation evolved throughout the year based on e-Social versions 

2.2 and 2.3, which envisaged its full implementation in Jan. 2018. In 2017 emphasis was given 

to actions for updating and cadastral qualification; adaptations of the systems involved and their 

interfaces; functional tests of the respective processes x generation and sending files to the 

governing environment. In Nov. 2017 the government announced version 2.4, forcing 

adjustments in different dimensions of the project (systems, processes, data, cultural change). A 

contractual addendum was approved with the contracted consultant to carry out a diagnosis of 

the impacts of the new version and the adequacy of the actions to comply with the legislation, 

which provides for the gradual implementation until Jan. 2019. 
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TRAINING AND CORPORATE UNIVERSITY 

Corporate University - Unimetro 

The objectives of the Corporate University derive from the Strategy and Business Plan of the 

Subway for its human resources and are made feasible through its five schools: Organizational 

Culture, Business Management, Enterprise Management, Operational Excellence and 

Institutional Relationship. 

In addition to training that empowers employees to perform their functions, projects aimed at 

modernization and cultural change have been developed, such as: Organizational Culture, 

Business Management, Entrepreneurship Management, Operational Excellence and 

Institutional Relationships. SAP, eSocial, BIM, PMO, leadership development, knowledge 

management, and the reshaping of training aimed at training for excellence in customer service. 

In total, 214,734 Hxh of training were performed with 43,418 participations, an average of 22.84 

hours per employee. 

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY (OHS) AND QUALITY OF LIFE 

The concern with safety and environment guided the legal programs of occupational health and those 

related to the Occupational Health and Safety Management System (OSHHS), which adheres to 

OHSAS 18001, version 2007, with the Metro certification valid until 06/11/2018. 

Another front was the social programs aimed at employees, dependents and family in the 

areas of financial education, retirement preparation, social assistance, special medicines and 

support for the inclusion of disabled people. 

Occupational Health 

The index¹ of occupational diseases in 2017 closed at 0.062%. Regarding gender, all records of 

occupational disease are related to men. 

Occupational disease 
 

 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Number of 
cases 

4 2 5 6 

Indicator 0.040% 0.021% 0.052% 0.062% 

¹ Index calculation: records/number of employees hired. 
Note: for the calculation of employees, expurgate those with differentiated hiring - the students in internship and researchers. 

Medical Occupational Health Control Program 

In order to know the health/illness profile of subway stations and plan actions for the promotion 

and preservation of health, 9,566 occupational exams were carried out in 2017, in compliance 

with the Regulatory Standard NR 7. 

Prevention and work accidents 

In 2017, 665 work accidents were registered, and the expected goal of reducing the number of 

work accidents in absolute numbers was not reached, according to the table below. 

 

 
Accident type 2014 2015 2016 2017 
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Work-related musculoskeletal disorder 4 2 2 2 

Robberies 0 0 1 - 

Training (TAF/TTI) 0 1 2 - 

Route 106 99 116 105 

Path falls* 55 55 64 48 

Typical falls 50 71 91 - 

Others** 391 416 412 510 

Total accidents 561 591 624 665 

* Considered on the route. 

** Trampling, aggression, beat against, hit by, contact with blood, falling of motorcycle, excessive 

stress, pressing between, body reaction to your movements, contact with chemicals, contact with 

extreme temperatures, contact with electricity, falls and TAF/TTI training 

Diversity and inclusion for work 

Actions were undertaken to develop employees on different topics related to the valorization of 

diversity in the workplace, aiming to strengthen a culture of respect, equality and inclusion, both 

internally and with the public user: 

▪ The training of new station supervisors (OTM3 - SUP) underwent a review of all its 

contents within which a module on Diversity was developed with a focus on the 

performance and its responsibility as leader and example for the team. The module was 

applied in two classes, in October and November, totaling 34 employees. 

▪ A new campaign to Combat Sexual Harassment in Public Transportation was launched, 

with the participation of all transportation companies in the State of São Paulo, the Court 

of Justice, the Public Prosecutor's Office, the Public Defender's Office and the Civil and 

Military Police. The aim of the joint campaign was to bring the issue to the attention of all 

the means of transportation and to join forces between the organs and companies in the 

fight against harassment. There was awareness of the front line teams of all involved. In 

the Metro were lectures focused mainly on supervisors and coordinators of the 

Operation and Security teams. Information material was also prepared for the 

participants in the lectures to make onlendings. 

▪ In order to broaden the discussions and knowledge about the Diversity groups, PICs 

(Corporate Intelligence Programs) were held, with the participation of specialists in the 

subjects and representatives of the groups. The topics covered were: Women and their 

achievements: The presence of Women in the Subway and Labor Market, Public 

Policies and Citizenship LGBT and Immigrants: Metro at the service of all peoples. 

▪ For the 21st edition of the LGBT Pride Parade, informative material was developed 

containing an explanation of the main concepts and also recommendations on how best 

to meet the public on the day of the event. The material was distributed in the stations 

that were part of the Parada route and in the main integration stations. 

▪ Three transsexual workers were attended, who presented some needs, such as a badge 

with Social Name and use of the locker room according to their gender identity. 

Orientation talks were held. 

▪ The inclusion of 12 PCD employees in 2017, who entered by public tender. 
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Opportunity for young people 

The student hirings were carried out in partnership with the Center of Integration Company 

School - CIEE and Secretariat of Employment and Labor Relations - SERT. 

Engagement 

Development of the Employee Recognition Program related to the provision of differentiated 

service in the stations, honoring the time of service. 

To further develop Pride of Belonging and motivation, actions that valued the work of the metro 

and brought their families closer to the Company were carried out, including: 

▪ The Family Visit Program brought 285 participants to meet the Itaquera, Jabaquara and 

Capão Redondo Maintenance Yards. In these visits, the metro stations were able to 

show their families their places of work and important areas of the Company. In addition 

to the participation of the 38 monitors who presented the areas to the visitors, the 

program also had 33 volunteers from various areas of the Subway, who helped guide 

and guide the groups. This broad participation also allowed the integration between the 

employees and the areas of the company. There were 14 visits in the period from 4 to 

12/13/2017. 

VOLUNTARY RESIGNATION PROGRAM 

The Voluntary Resignation Program (PDV), launched at the end of 2016 to promote the renewal 

of employees, began the process of termination of the Company in 2017. 

The program counted on the adhesion of 513 employees in the first phase of registrations that, 

together with the 2nd and 3rd stages that occurred during the year 2017, reached 1,044 

accessions. In 2017, 316 employees were terminated, leaving a balance of 728 employees to 

be terminated in 2018. There is a government authorization for 214 new hirings, which will allow 

the shutdowns of the registered operating the levels of service and service to the population. Of 

the total number of vacancies released, 163 are administrative - they do not have an expected 

replacement - and the remaining vacancies are of operational and legal positions, which have 

the scheduled replacement according to defined criteria and approved in the PDV Regulation. 

The implementation of the PDV will enable the permanent reduction of the administrative areas, 

and will promote the renewal of work teams in the operational and legal positions (mandatory by 

labor legislation). 

SOCIAL BALANCE 

SOCIOECONOMIC IMPACTS 

The rail transport system provides a clear social benefit to users, faster travel and improved 

environmental performance by having its operation guaranteed through the use of cleaner 

source power and certified environmental management processes. 

In the context of high dependence on fossil fuels by the transport sector and its effects 

associated with climate change, public transport on railroads is notable for the low emission of 

greenhouse gases - GHG, especially in countries with predominantly renewable energy matrix 

as is the case of Brazil. 
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The metro's advantage over the use of buses and cars for urban mobility is observed worldwide. 

Taking into account the climatic performance of the Brazilian energy matrix, the difference in 

emissions between the means of locomotion is even more significant. 

However, to change the pattern of urban mobility in populous cities, there is a need for major 

infrastructure developments. The construction of new roads requires, in addition to significant 

financial investments, the execution of activities and the consumption of materials that generate 

GHG emissions. 

SOCIAL BENEFITS 

The social benefits of the Metro, which make up the Company's Social Balance, represent the 

positive impacts of the Metro network on the quality of life of the metropolis, due to its 

operational and environmental characteristics. 

The calculation of social benefits computes the monetized losses of the society, in the 

hypothetical case that the Metro was not in operation, resulting in its replacement by other 

modes of motor transportation. That is, the trips made today using the subway would be made 

by bus, car or motorbike. It contemplates the increase in the frequency of buses and the number 

of cars and motorcycles on the streets, resulting in increased congestion, time spent traveling, 

fuel consumption, operating costs, traffic accidents and air pollution and health impacts on the 

population. 

This procedure, applied to operational indicators for 2017, shows that the Metro network 

generated social benefits estimated at BRL 12.8 billion. The reduction of travel times is the most 

significant component of the set of benefits measured - 66.7% of the total, as shown in the chart 

below. 
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Social Benefits for 2017 and 2016 (current prices) 
 

 Unit 2017 2016 

Discrimination 
 Quantity 

Amount 
(BRL) 

 
Quantity Amount 

(BRL) 

  (thousan
d) 

(million)  (tho
usan

d) 

(million) 

Reduced Road Maintenance and Operation Cost - - 62.49  - 62.08 

Reduced Emissions of Pollutants tons 740 165.79  949 215.65 

 
Reduced Accident Costs 

Numbe

r of 

accidents 

 
18 

 
322.55 

  
19 

 
323.19 

Reduced Fuel Consumption liters 453,432 1,378.35  471,323 1,405.26 

Reduced Operational Cost kilometers 2,162.475 2,354.70  2,187,653 2,270.36 

Reduced Travel Time hours 977,674 8,560.98  983,105 8,591.58 

Total   12,844.85   12,868.12 

 
 
 

The value of the Social Benefits generated by the metro network, composed of Line 1-Blue, 2-

Green, 3-Red, 5-Lilac and 15-Silver in 2017 remained practically the same as in 2016 (less than 

1%), a consequence of a reduction of 1.2% in the trips made by metro. The updating of the 

pollutant emission factors of the fleet of cars, buses and motorcycles, according to the report 

Emissions Vehicles in the State of São Paulo, 2015, made available by the Environmental 

Company of the State of São Paulo - Cetesb, also contributed to the result. 
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Accumulated Social Benefits 

From 2003 to 2017, the Metro Company generated benefits for the RMSP population and for 

the country's economy totaling BRL 138.5 billion. 

Accumulated social benefits – 2003 to 2017 

(in BRL billion 2017) 
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Social Benefits for the years 2003 to 2017 (in 

BRL billion) 
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Note: In the course of 2014, São Paulo Transportes – SPTrans, a municipal company responsible for the 

management of the city’s collective transportation system, changed the methodology for calculating the average 

speed of the bus system. This data was used to evaluate the social benefits arising from the operation of the 

São Paulo Metro. This change resulted in the breakdown of the historical series of the evolution of the social 

benefits of the São Paulo Metro. Therefore, the calculation result, as of 2014, should not be directly compared 

with the results published in previous years. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 

In all phases of metro projects, from conception to operation, environmental, social and 

economic-financial aspects are analyzed, ensuring good practices and compliance with current 

legislation. 

The mitigation of the environmental impacts of the works is guided by the Basic Environmental 

Plan – PBA, specific to each project and resulting from the licensing process. The fundamental 

benefit of the PBA application is the prevention and/or mitigation of the impacts generated 

during the installation of a metro project, as well as the potential for positive impacts. Thus, the 

entire Environmental Management Program (PGA), an integral part of the BPA, includes actions 

applied to contaminated areas, archeology, noise and vibration, waste, effluents, surplus 

excavation material, erosion and silting, air quality, vectors, social communication and tree 

management under the Environmental Commitment Team (TCA), in addition to some specific 

control and/or mitigation of a particular project in construction or operation. 

In 2017, 38 environmental licenses were obtained from seven operating and expanding lines, 

including 20 Installation Licenses and 18 Operating Licenses, which involved the production of 

technical reports, monitoring of works, investigation and mitigation in contaminated areas, noise 

and vibration and tree management. 

Contaminated areas 

In addition to assuming the solution of the liabilities arising from expropriations carried out in 

contaminated areas, the Metro performs contamination management actions in areas outside 

the expropriated areas and in the areas of influence of an enterprise, in cases where the 

constructive method can change the extension and the behavior of contamination in the subsoil. 

Archeology 

The management of the Historical, Cultural and Archeological Heritage, identified in the studies 

of the past occupations in the ethno-historical context of the place of the enterprises, also 

involves a process of education and awareness of the surrounding community. There are 

workshops, lectures, photographic exhibitions, courses and daily dialogues with the participation 

of construction workers and students. 

In this aspect, we also highlight the rescue of the tracks of the Santo Amaro streetcar and the 

implementation of the Archeological Showcase at Adolfo Pinheiro Station, the identification of 

archeological sites at the Alto da Boa Vista and AACD Servidor of Line 5-Lilac, in Vila Tolstoi 

Station of Line 15-Silver and at Vila Cordeiro Station of Line 17-Gold, in 2017. In the Cultural 

Showcase of the São Bento Station, the exhibition "The Metro Discovering the Past” was 

exhibited, showing some pieces found during excavation at Av. Adolfo Pinheiro in the historical 

center of Santo Amaro. For the exhibition, the Metro counted on the Sorocabano Historical 

Museum, the Institute of National Historical and Artistic Heritage – IPHAN and A Lasca 

Consultoria e Assessoria em Arqueologia. 

Landscaping and Urban Upgrading 

The Line 15-Silver and Line 17-Ouro projects are positive examples of urban upgrading with the 

implementation of bicycle paths and landscaping under the elevation of monorails. The Line 15-

Silver project, which is in a more advanced stage of implementation, includes the construction of 

rain gardens, bio-valves to infiltrate storm water and reduce flooding, socializing area, planting 

of fruit species, road signage at crossings and integration with stations and terminals. 
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Environmental Management System of the network in operation 

The management of the environmental impacts resulting from the administration, operation and 

maintenance of the implanted network is carried out by means of an Environmental 

Management System (SGA), in accordance with NBR ISO 14001, version 2015. Thus, all 

environmental aspects are continuously identified and have their evaluated impacts, giving rise 

to reduction and control measures. Goals and metrics are established, as well as plans and 

programs to achieve them. 

The objectives and environmental metrics define for the management of significant aspects 

associated with the processes and services of the network implemented in 2017 aimed at 

reducing consumption of drinking water, reducing electricity consumption in buildings and 

stations, improving the management of environmental aspects in the contracting of services and 

solid waste management. 

Water 

The water crisis that we live in from 2014 has brought water management to the level of 

strategic actions, with the commitment of sustainability in all its aspects. Several investments 

were made in infrastructure and control and management actions were implemented, reaching a 

reduction of more than 30% of consumption in this period of water management. 

Control of consumption and process management was intensified in 2017. In all stations, daily 

readings of the hydrometer were programmed and in other areas (yards, terminals and offices), 

a notification system was adopted when monthly consumption of water is above 20% of the 

average. 

In order to further reduce the consumption of drinking water, which is very significant in the 

Company’s activities, especially in those involving expansion, studies have been carried out to 

use alternative sources in all new projects. 

With many people working in flowerbeds and digging, which require a significant volume of 

water, consumption in Line 5-Lilac works came to represent 47% of the total water consumed by 

the Metro in 2014. In 2017, with the completion of several work fronts, water consumption, due 

to Line 5’s works, reached 30% of the total consumption by the Company. 

All the actions of management and control of the consumption of drinking water made possible 

the decrease of 6% of the consumption in 2017 in relation to the previous year. 
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Summary of the main measures to reduce water consumption 
 

Places of 
consumption - 

Water 

 
Reduction measures 

 
Stations 

Daily monitoring of the water consumption in the stations with the 

reading of water meters. 

Improvement of actions and information between the different units. 

 
Yards 

In Jabaquara and Tamanduateí yards, the train washing 

machines collect and treat the effluent to be reused. To wash a 

train, 70% of the volume consumed is of treated water. 

Administrative 
buildings and 
flowerbeds 

Continuity of maintenance programs. 

 
Construction and civil 
engineering works 

Use of infiltration water and/or groundwater recharge for non-potable 

purposes authorized by the Department of Water and Electrical 

Energy – DAEE. 

All 
Campaigns to encourage conscious consumption to reduce drinking 

water consumption. 

 

Waste 

In 2017, 191.6 tons of Class I waste were classified as dangerous, accounting for 3% of the 

total generated by the activities of the São Paulo Metro. Of the total Class I waste, 40% was 

destined for recycling/reuse, 52% for coprocessing and 8% for Class I Landfill. 

The Metro expanded and systematized the use of Reverse Logistics, as established in the 

National Solid Waste Policy (PNRS), and, as a result, reduced direct costs related to waste 

disposal. 

In 2017, battery and portable battery collectors were installed in the Jabaquara Courtyard and in 

the administrative buildings to facilitate the disposal of waste generated in the work processes 

and the routing to environmentally correct destination. 

In addition to the batteries and batteries, the reverse logistics of nickel cadmium batteries was 

sent to a specialized company for the recycling of batteries, batteries and technological waste. 

In 2017, 10.53 tons were sent for reprocessing and final destination. 

The Metro also carried out incentive programs focused on its internal stakeholders, such as the 

5S Program in the maintenance area and the 3R Program, aimed at reducing, reusing, recycling 

and rational use of resources. 

In the selective collection, there were new campaigns for the continuous improvement of the 

correct disposal. Orientation posters were prepared for the internal public: 
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Class I Waste 
 

Type of waste 
Generatio

n sites 

Process and routing 
Quantitative 2017 

Packaging of chemical 

products, personal protective 

equipment (PPE), rags and 

dirty rags of oil, oil with great 

dirt, liquids that cannot be 

sent to the sewage collection 

network 

 
 

 
Yards and 

maintenance 

bases 

 
 
 
 

Coprocessing 

 
 

 
99.6 tons of Class 

I Waste 

 
 
 
 

Fluorescent lamps 

 

 
Stations, trains, 

yards, 

administrative 

buildings and 

flowerbeds 

 
Decontamination and recycling. 

Exchanges in preventive 

maintenance, observing the life 

cycle of lamps. Each train has an 

average of 200 lamps. 

58,765 whole tubular 
lamps and 464 kg of 
compact lamps and 
steam lamps, each lamp 
having 0.2164 kg, 
totaling 13.2 tons. 

 

 
Batteries 

 

Trains, stations 

and yards 

Battery maintenance. When it 

useful life ceases, they are 

stored and then auctioned. 

 

38.4 tons of 

batteries 

 
 

Alkaline batteries 

 
 

Trains, stations 

and yards 

Battery maintenance. When it 

useful life ceases, they are 

stored and then sent to Reverse 

Logistics. 

 
 

10.5 tons of 

batteries 

 

 
Lubricant oil 

Trains and 

vehicles used in 

maintenance 

activities 

Sent to the Fundo Social de 

Solidariedade de São Paulo, in 

compliance with State Law 

1,721, of July 7, 1978. 

 
17,400 liters of oil, 

totaling 13.9 

tons. 

 
 

Oil used in food preparation 

 
 

Yard 

restaurants 

Daily, 1,500 meals are served. 

The food supply companies are 

responsible for packaging and 

transporting this solid waste for 

recycling. 

 

 
1,440 liters of oil, 

totaling 1,2 

tons. 

 
 

 
Asbestos 

 
 

 
Various 

Since 2008, the São Paulo 

Metro has not used asbestos 

materials in the new facilities. 

Installed materials containing 

asbestos are replaced, and the 

waste is shipped to Class I 

Waste landfill. 

 
 

14,8 tons of waste 

containing asbestos 
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Energy 

Between 2015 and 2017, consumption and energy acquisition costs gained even more 
prominence in sustainability management considering the impacts of the energy crisis and the 
country's economic crisis. 

Even with the adhesion to the regime of Free Contracting Environment that allows a cost of 
acquisition according to the environment that regulates the supply and distribution of energy, 
costs are very high compared to an annual consumption of 530 GWh by the operation of the 
system, which represents more than 95% of the total energy consumed by the company. 

In this period, with the energy efficiency measures in the operation of the trains, the reduction in 

the number of passengers transported, related to the economic crisis of the country, and the 

completion of part of the works of line 5-Lilac, the company reduced 12% the consumption of 

energy. 

 
Consumption of electric energy and passenger.kilometer – pkm – 2008 to 2017* 
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*Data from 2017 are estimated with results 
between January and November. 
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It should be noted that in 2017, energy consumption reached a level very close to that 

registered in 2008, but with a passenger-kilometer indicator (pkm) 8% higher, reinforcing the 

gains obtained with the continuous improvement in energy efficiency in the operation of the 

system (kWh/pkm). 
 

Energy 2015 2016 2017¹ 

 
Total consumption per year (GWH) 598 568 528 

Energy consumption per site (MWh)    

Administrative buildings 5,944 5,677 5,203 

Yards and CCO 14,932 16,666 17,919 

Construction and civil engineering works 30.334 17.075 9.356 

Stations (including auxiliary apparatus) 129,782 128,862 131,744 

Train traction (with losses) 417,023 399,564 363,965 

¹Total consumption: includes transportation offer and activities of construction and civil engineering works. 

 

Operation Costs – Electric Power 

With the adhesion of the Subway to the regime of Free Contracting Environment, the costs of 

acquiring energy vary with the environment that regulates the supply and distribution of energy. 

In 2017, energy purchase costs (contract with Banco BTG Pactual) were 2.2% lower, from BRL 

22.00/MWh to BRL 220.00/MWh (as of September 2015 base date). The cost of energy 

distribution by AES Eletropaulo increased by an average of 4.5 in July 2017, when the 

distributor rebalanced the tariffs. Thus, the average total cost of energy was around BRL 

383.00/MWh, representing a 0.8% increase in the price of electricity compared to 2016. 

Energy expenditures for the operation of the service cost BRL 188 million in 2017, compared to 

BRL 212 million in 2016. 

 

Greenhouse gas emissions 

In 2017, GHG emissions generated by the operation and maintenance of the 1-Blue, 2-Green, 
3-Red and 5-Lilac lines and those related to the company's administrative activities remained 
the same in 2016 Of the total emitted of 53 thousand tCO2e, more than 90%, that is, 48 
thousand tons are associated to the consumption of electric energy for system operation (trains, 
stations and maintenance yards). 
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GHG emissions in the São Paulo Metro and emission factors for generating electric energy in 
Brazil calculated by the National Interconnected System-SIN. 
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Balance of Carbon Emissions in the Operation Phase 

The net balance of avoided GHG emission, which relativizes the benefits obtained from the 
existence of the grid and the impacts generated by the operation, shows that by substituting 
other modes of fossil fuels, the network operated by the São Paulo Metro provides a reduction 
of emissions of greenhouse gases, as well as the reduction of atmospheric pollutants, fuel 
consumption, among other benefits. 

In 2017, this balance was 685 thousand tCO2e of avoided emissions net. This is the result 
obtained when considering that 733 thousand tons in CO2e of GHG emissions were avoided 
with the existence of the network of the São Paulo Metro and 48 thousand tons in CO2e emitted 
due to the consumption of electric energy for the operation. This means that for each ton of CO2 
emitted by the operation of the São Paulo Metro trains, the emission of approximately 15 tCO2e 
- a benefit of 1,500% - is avoided. 

This benefit is also evidenced when comparing the GHG emission per passenger-kilometer of 
the subway with the bus and the car. In the period from 2012 to 2017, to transport each 
passenger for a distance of one kilometer, the subway operation generated the indirect 
emission of 6 grams in CO2 equivalent (gCO2e). 

GHG Emissions – stakeholder requirements 

Parallel to the legal requirements of the environmental licensing process of projects, the benefits 
promoted by the Metro are part of the process requirements with financial agents, regulators 
and society regarding the impacts throughout the life cycle of a subway line. 

In the contract for the expansion of Line 5-Lilás, signed between the Government of the State of São 

Paulo and IBRD-International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, it was contemplated the 

development of studies to evaluate the impacts of the works in the promotion of the reduction of 

emissions of greenhouse gases. 

In 2017, one of these studies was completed, which will allow the accounting of emissions of 
greenhouse gases-GHG and of local atmospheric pollutants-CAL during the life cycle of the 
enterprise. 

 
 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL INDICATORS 2015 2016 2017 

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS – GHG 

Total (thousand tCO2e) 

 
79 

 
51 

 
53 

Direct GHG emissions – Total (t.eq.CO2) 1,462 1,874 582 

Emissions by passenger.km (gCO2e) 8 5 5 

ENERGY – CONSUMPTION 

Total Year (GWH) 

 
598 

 
568 

 
530 

Energy – consumption of train traction, with losses 
(MWh) 

417,023 399,564 364,328 

WATER - 
CONSUMPTION 

Total Year (in 
thousand m³) 

687 587 549 

HAZARDOUS WASTE 

Total Year (in t) 

 

178 

 

170 

 
192 (40% 

Recycled) 
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CORPORATE STRATEGY 

The year 2017 was marked by the Company's commitment to maintain the economic-financial 

balance, to continue the expansion of the metro network, to guarantee the quality of the 

transportation service and the satisfaction of the users. The company kept on its agenda, as has 

been the case in recent years, efforts to reduce its costs and increase its productivity, 

fundamental measures for business sustainability, particularly in an unfavorable macroeconomic 

scenario. The efficiency can be proven by the administrative measures adopted to face the 

budget constraint resulting from the economic crisis in the country: management processes 

were reviewed and expenses were reduced. In this sense, the Voluntary Dismissal Program 

was continued. At the same time, efforts were intensified to promote the increase of ancillary 

revenues, through the sale or concession of real estate and the exploitation of commercial, 

promotional, institutional and advertising spaces. 

In 2017, a deep reflection began on the future of the Companhia de Metropolitano de São Paulo 

in the face of society and market expectations, financial adversities faced during the economic 

crisis, possible public transport business models, projects to guarantee the continuity of the 

network expansion, the permanence of the public transport service with world quality and 

standard, the automation and digitalization of processes, the opportunities for action in the 

national and international markets and also the strategy of communication with society and with 

the various publics of interest. The experience accumulated over the 50 years - whether in the 

planning, expansion, operation or maintenance of the metro network - brought with it the need 

to implement structural changes as a condition. The Company is inserted in an aggressive 

context in which society is demonstrating its dissatisfaction, and it is up to the Metro to position 

itself on the issues under its responsibility. The Company is aware that it needs to reinvent itself 

and the definition of corporate strategy is an essential condition for its survival. 

The reality of the market refers to the revision of the cost structure, adequate to the new 

business of the Company, making it competitive. In this sense, it is necessary to seek an 

increasingly lean cost, inspired by the best market practices, evaluating the possibility of 

outsourcing, maintaining strategic and safety activities. Among the main challenges, we 

highlight the revision of the business model and areas of action and the legal modeling of the 

organization. There is a need to transform organizational dynamics, adopting leaner, agile, 

modern and flexible models. It is necessary to intensify the integration between the areas, 

implementing matrix structures and projected from the management of the necessary 

knowledge to the different activities, valuing the talents. It is also necessary to promote 

organizational innovations and improve the organization's image, with a review of the functional 

structure and competencies, increasing the authority and accountability of managers, among 

other aspects inherent to the Company's staff. Finally, it is necessary to review the process of 

relocation and contracting of strategic positions in the personnel structure, in order to favor the 

oxygenation of the organization and to merge internal and external personnel. 

The economic sustainability of the Subway necessarily involves the diversification of its 

business, encouraging a reflection aimed at maximizing the available organizational resources 

in order to increase ancillary revenues. The growing collection of revenues still lacks greater 

investment in processes, people and systems, including structuring this performance as a de 

facto business. It seeks to create a business that maximizes the existing skills in the Subway, 

guaranteeing the retention of talents with high intellectual capital, making it known nationally 

and internationally in relation to its products (technology) and services (consulting). 
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Based on these premises and in compliance with the provisions of article 23, paragraph 1, of 

Federal Law 13.303/2016 – Provisions applicable to public companies and mixed capital 

companies – regulated by State Decree No. 62.349/2016, the Executive Board of Companhia de 

Metropolitano de São Paulo – Metro formulated the Company’s Long-Term Strategy for the period 

2018-2022 as well as established the Business Plan for the year 2018. 

Both the 2018-2022 Strategy and the 2018 Business Plan provide for the development and 

deployment or improvement of solutions that will bring significant gains to increase the efficiency 

of the company’s management and to improve the services rendered to citizens in the area of 

mobility. Included in this context are projects that seek higher quality, efficiency and productivity 

indexes or that adopt measures to achieve gains in scale, improved flow, controls and 

processes to ensure the leading position of the São Paulo Metro. 

The process of selecting the strategic objectives and initiatives demonstrated that the Metro is 

experiencing an unparalleled institutional moment, where structural change is an essential 

condition to guarantee its sustainability. To address the scenarios and challenges presented, 

four objectives were prioritized that should support the 2018-2022 Long-Term Strategy. In the 

2018 Business Plan, the strategic objectives were deployed in 20 initiatives with their respective 

actions and targets, which are systematically monitored in order to guarantee their execution. 

LONG-TERM STRATEGY 2018-2022 AND BUSINESS PLAN 2018 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE: COST RESTRUCTURING 

This strategic objective focuses on the elaboration of a structure of costs of administration, 

expansion, operation and maintenance that addresses fixed and variable costs (related to direct 

and indirect labor, materials, acquisitions and modernization), revenues (fares, reimbursement 

of gratuities, ancillary revenues, government contributions and financing). The possible impacts 

of the new labor and administrative legislation, as well as the normative instruments in force, will 

be considered. This objective covers the development and implementation of an integrated 

study to analyze internal processes, identifying products and services for acquisition/contracting 

or outsourcing, as well as the possibilities for unification or co-management of contracts. In this 

objective, they are also proposing and implementing a plan of action with prioritization and 

selection of projects to reduce costs, such as: evaluation of labor lawsuits, revision of work 

schedules and schedules, programmed shutdown programs, traction and health care plan. The 

following premises are highlighted: 

• Keeping the Metro financially independent;

 Proposing a new cost structure;

• Adjusting the excellence model to a new efficiency model;

 Reducing costs, optimizing resources and increasing scale gains;

• Integrating these initiatives with the other strategic initiatives.



76 

 

 

 
 

 

Initiatives Goals 2018 

Elaboration of new cost 
structure 

▪ Structuring costs related to different areas: 
Administration | Expansion | Operation and 
Maintenance 

▪ Identifying and analyzing revenues, fixed costs, variable costs of 
each area. 

▪ Defining new criteria for distribution of costing budget. 

Development of an 
integrated study of Metro 
products and services 

▪ Analyzing objects (agreements) for unification. 
▪ Analyzing objects (agreements) for co-management. 
▪ Identifying services that can be outsourced. 

Proposition and 
implementation of actions 
to reduce costs 

▪ Identifying and implementing actions to reduce costs arising from 
labor lawsuits. 

▪ Identifying and implementing actions for reducing costs arising 
from the reduction of scales/working days. 

▪ Identifying and implementing actions to reduce costs arising from 
scheduled layoffs. 

▪ Identify and implement actions to reduce costs related to the 
contracting of electric power of traction. 

▪ Identifying and implementing actions to reduce costs related to 
the health care plan. 

▪ Identifying and implementing actions to increase operation and 
maintenance efficiency 

  .  
 
 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE: ORGANIZATIONAL TRANSFORMATION 

This strategic objective focuses on the redesign of the organizational structure through study of 

corporate models, creation/division of business units and the constitution of a shared services 

center, observing the good practices of the market and the sector, making the company more 

dynamic and efficient. Add to this the change of culture with the implementation of new 

management rites to give authority and responsibility to the different levels of leadership 

associated with a rewards plan by achieving goals. This objective also includes the revision of 

the career plan and positions as well as the implantation of matrix/projected structures that favor 

job-rotation actions; and map the organization's critical processes to promote automation, 

scanning and continuous monitoring of critical systems, implementing a risk management 

culture in all activities. The following premises are highlighted: 

• Redefining the business model and reviewing the structure, processes and organizational 

culture by optimizing resources and delivering sustainable results, according to the scope, 

cost, term and quality required.

• Implementing changes in the organization adapting it to the new economic scenario, 

focusing on cost reduction and market matching.

• Optimizing existing resources (structure | processes | people) in a sustainable way.

• Transforming the Company’s organizational culture into a result-oriented and efficient 

culture.
 

Initiatives Goals 2018 

Implementation of the 
Management Contract 

▪ Establishing a new remuneration model of the Company in face of the 
compliance with performance indicators. 

  ▪ Structuring corporate goals and performance indicators.  
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Elaboration of new 
organizational 
structure 

▪ Preparing a study of possible corporate models to optimize the 
structure, including legal, tax and accounting valuation of the 
alternatives. 

▪ Hiring consulting to elaborate feasibility study of business models, 
implementation of Shared Services Center and organizational 
restructuring. 

▪ Implementing HR management processes to speed up the operation 
of matrix models | designed, facilitating job-rotation actions. 

Review of career plans 
and positions, with 
strategic positioning 
with the Unions 

▪ Preparing a proposal for revision of the career plan of the “leadership” 
axis, including studies of the financial impact of the proposed 
changes. 

▪ Defining objective guidelines and criteria for career advancement. 
▪ Implementing the review of the career plan of the “leadership” axis. 

Implementation of new 
management rites 
(authority | liability) 

▪ Identifying and reviewing policy instruments and procedures that 
define the roles and responsibilities of the various levels of 
leadership. 

Automation, scanning 
and continuous 
monitoring of critical 
processes 

▪ Mapping critical processes, whether or not served by corporate 
systems. 

▪ Implementing corporate risk management of critical processes. 

Deployment of Shared 
Services Center – CSC 

▪ Preparing a methodological and technological feasibility study for the 
implementation of CSC. 

▪ Identifying operations and services that can be centralized. 

Modernization of the 
technological park 

▪ Preparing specifications for the provision, installation and 
maintenance of network, telephony and Wi-Fi services and 
computers/tablets/smartphones.  

 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE: MANAGEMENT AND EXPANSION GOVERNANCE 

This strategic objective focuses on the revision of the implementation model of enterprises, 

elaboration of diagnoses and proposition of improvements for the processes, result of the 

reevaluation of the steps of: network and line planning, elaboration of functional, basic and 

executive projects, elaboration of expropriation processes, resettlement, environmental 

licensing, biddings and implementation of civil works, systems and commissioning of facilities. 

This objective should be consolidated in a new implementation model, establishing methods of 

monitoring and control of enterprises. This objective also contains the mapping of the variables 

that directly impact the quality, time and costs of the expansion works of the subway system. 

The following premises are highlighted: 

• Implementing a new management model for expansion projects according to defined quality, 

cost and time.

• Improving expansion processes by making them more predictable and reliable, reducing 

uncertainties and ensuring expected results.

• Reassessing the stages of the processes: network/line planning, functional design, 

expropriation and resettlement process, basic/executive project, environmental licenses, 

bids, civil works/systems implementation, commissioning.

• Acting as a technical agent.
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Initiatives Goals 2018 

Reassessment of 
network/line planning 
steps and functional 
design 

▪ Mapping the variables that directly impact the quality, timing and 
cost of the network/line planning processes and the design of a 
functional project. 

▪ Prepare a diagnosis and propose a review of each stage of 
implementation of the project. 

Reassessment of 
expropriation, 
resettlement, 
environmental licensing 
and basic and executive 
project development 

▪ Mapping the variables that directly impact the quality, timing and 
cost of the expropriation, resettlement, environmental licensing 
and basic and executive projects. 

▪ Prepare a diagnosis and propose a review of each stage of 
implementation of the project. 

Reassessment of the 
bidding stages, 
implementation of civil 
works and systems and 
commissioning 

▪ Mapping the variables that directly affect the quality, timing and 
cost of bidding processes, implementation of civil works and 
systems, and commissioning. 

▪ Prepare a diagnosis and propose a review of each stage of 
implementation of the project. 

Review of the 
Implementation Model of 
Enterprises - PMO 

▪ Consolidating the results of all decisions arising from the process 

of re-evaluating the stages of implementation of projects. 
▪ Establishing follow-up and control methods. 

▪ Preparing, consolidating and presenting a new enterprise 
implementation model. 

▪ Promoting events for disclosing the model and training everyone 
involved. 

Implementation of Expansion 
Enterprises 

▪ Finishing and delivering Mackenzie-Higienópolis, Oscar Freire 
and São Paulo-Morumbi stations of Line 4-Yellow. 

▪ Finishing and delivering the stations of Brookin-Chácara Klabin 
stretch of Line 5-Lilac. 

▪ Finishing and delivering the stations of Oratório-São Mateus 
stretch of Line 15-Silver. 

Integrated Network 
Planning 

▪ Consolidating the planning of future network – PITU 2040. 
▪ Preparing feasibility studies for the expansion of the metro trail 

network in the RMSP, incorporating commercial guidelines in the 
functional projects.  

 
 

INTEGRATED COMMUNICATION STRATEGY 

This strategic objective focuses on the dissemination of information about the Metro in an 

assertive and integrated way, aiming at improving the institutional relationship with the various 

stakeholders, in order to raise awareness and influence the stakeholders, through alignment of 

messages and integration of interlocutors, seeking the effectiveness and credibility of the 

relationship channels. To achieve this objective, the Company's communication actions should 

be analyzed and integrated, consulting all areas that maintain relationships with stakeholders 

(internal or external). In order to do so, stakeholders should be identified, who demand 

relationship actions and promote the integration of processes, the implementation of routines, 

the development of communication integration programs and the monitoring of the results of 

communication and relationship processes. The following premises are highlighted: 

• Raising awareness and improving the institutional relationship with the different target audiences;

• Seeking effectiveness and credibility of the relationship channels, greater integration and 

awareness of the parties;
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• Establishing communication strategies to disseminate the Company's information in an 

assertive and integrated manner, aligning messages and influencing stakeholders.

• Improving and valuing Metro’s image.
 

 
Initiatives Goals 2018 

Implementation of a 
communication and 
relationship policy 

▪ Identifying the communication needs and every strategic objective of 
the Company. 

▪ Formulating a policy of communication and relationship with internal 
public. 

▪ Formulating a policy of communication and relationship with external 
public. 

Integration of actions to 
broaden the 
relationship and 
communication with 
internal public. 

▪ Developing an integrated communication plan to expand the 
relationship with the internal public. 

▪ Implementing processes and routines of communication and 
relationship. 

Integration of actions to 
broaden the 
relationship and 
communication with 
external public. 

▪ Developing an integrated communication plan to expand the 
relationship with the external public. 

▪ Implementing processes and routines of communication and 
relationship. 

Disclosure of the 
Company’s business in 
Brazil and abroad 

▪ Identifying partnerships, events, forums and means of communication 
to disclose the technical capacity of the Company to render services. 

▪ Expanding the capacity of the Company at the national and 
international level. 

    

 
 

STRATEGIC MAP 

The 2018 Business Plan and the Metro's Long-Term Strategy are aligned with the 

Organization's Mission, Vision and Values, and seek to focus on structural actions that will put 

the Company on a new footing, with four pillars in mind. The Strategic Map shows the 

integration of initiatives from three perspectives: results; internal processes; learning and 

growth. 
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Legenda da Imagem 

Economic-Financial 

Ensuring financial autonomy of Metro SP 

Constantly seeking balance of fare revenue 

Promoting cost optimization 

Fostering the generation of ancillary revenue 

 

Clients, Society and Stakeholders 

Offering world-class services, intensifying deliveries in the expansion plan 

Seeking to become a technical agent, integrating and overseeing concessions and PPP for the benefit of society 

Providing consulting, training and development services in the subway area in the national and international level 

 

Internal Processes 

Matching the operation and maintenance of the Metro to the World Class 

Fostering an Integrated Communication Program to broadly disseminate the brand and strengthen relationships with 
stakeholders 

Structuring consulting and training business in national and international projects 

Promoting corporate performance focusing on empowerment and accountability 

Systematizing knowledge bases to foster corporate strategy 

Transforming the management promoting the development of the an integrated organizational performance model, 
strengthening control and corporate risk tools 

 

Learning and Growth 

Training leaders to foster the culture of changes required by the organization 

Outsourcing the accumulated technical and operational capacity, leveraging results 

Innovating continuously, rapidly internationalizing new technologies 

Strengthening the continuous evolution of corporate culture maintaining healthy organizational climate. 

 

MISSION 

Offer public transportation with quality and cordiality, through a network that is getting closer 

and closer to take people farther away. 
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VISION 

Remain as the preferred transportation option in the metropolitan region of São Paulo, offering 

quality services and increasingly attentive to the needs of the citizen. It is with promptness, 

cordiality, respect that we will make the trip of the people an even more pleasant experience. 

ETHICAL PRINCIPLES 

The Metro is committed, among others, to the ethical principles of business: 

• Efficiency and Effectiveness - Perform their duties with professionalism, agility, 

competence, ensuring the quality of processes and services.

 Equity - Promote equal opportunities and professional development.

• Integrity - Act with honesty, truth, justice, legality, impartiality, impersonality, transparency, 

equity, responsibility, zeal, commitment and consistency in all practices and decisions.

• Morality - Meet the dictates of ethical conduct, honest, demanding the observance of ethical 

standards, good faith, loyalty, rules that ensure good administration.

Respect for Human Rights - Respect the right to life and freedom, freedom of expression 

and opinion, the right to work, education, diversity and to treat people equally, without 

prejudice of origin, religion, race, gender, sexual orientation, color, age, or any other form of 

discrimination. 

• Accountability- Integrate in a balanced way economic, urban, environmental and social 

aspects in the operation and expansion of the metropolitan transportation network.

• Transparency and Publicity - Make public information and documents that are of public 

interest, safeguarding the secrecy when supported by the legislation.

VALUES 

• Speed - Offer customers the fastest option to move between different modes.

 Reliability - Provide the customer with trips with a high degree of predictability.

• Public Interest - To provide passenger transport service always aiming at the common 

good and guarantee the needs of society, represented by users - actual and potential, direct 

and indirect -, disliking the deviation of this purpose.

• Innovation - Continuously improve practices, aiming to increase the satisfaction of our 

relationship public.

• Economy - Offer quality public transport at the lowest possible cost to the population.

• Security - Seek to provide the customer with services and facilities that ensure adequate 

physical, occupational, and operational safety.

• Sustainability - Operate and expand the network with respect to the quality of life, the 

environment and social aspects, maintaining the economic viability of the company.

• Mobility - Provide the public with a metro network, in the Metropolitan Region of São Paulo, 

with accessibility, availability, utility and integration.
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ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

The São Paulo Metro Company presents the economic-financial analysis of its consolidated 

financial statements in millions of reais, except when otherwise indicated. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and are being presented in 

accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and also in accordance with accounting 

practices adopted in Brazil (BR GAAP), including pronouncements issued by the Accounting 

Pronouncements (CPC). The consolidated and individual financial statements are presented 

unified since the Company is constituted by only one legal entity. 
 

BRL million 

 
2017 2016 

2017 X 2016 

(%) 

 
Net operating revenue 2,633 2,518 5% 

Gross profit 400 419 -5% 

Operating Profit (Loss) before financial result (343) (260) 32% 

Net financial result 17 51 -67% 

Adjusted EBITDA 196 140 40% 

Net Income (Loss) for the year (309) (213) 45% 

Net Income (Loss) for the year per share (0.00961) (0.00729) 32% 

Gross Margin (%) 15% 17% -9% 

Operating margin (%) -13% -10% 26% 

Net margin (%) -12% -8% 39% 

Ebitda margin (%) 7% 6% 34% 

Total assets 33,983 31,269 9% 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 33,074 29,864 11% 

Net worth 30,716 28,269 9% 

Capital/minority capital ratio (%) 97/3 96/4 - 

 

 
1 

The Company discloses adjusted Ebitda according to CVM Instruction 527 of 04/10/2012 calculated as net profit (loss) for the year plus taxes 

on profit, net financial result, depreciation and amortization, as well as impairment adjustments when applicable and non-recurring events in the 

period. The disclosure of Adjusted EBITDA is intended to provide supplementary information on the Company's operating cash generation 

capacity. Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure defined by international accounting practices (IFRS), evaluated as supplementary information 

only. 

 
 

COVERAGE RATE 

The coverage ratio is the indicator that represents the quotient between the total recognized 

revenues of the Company and the total operating expenses with cash effect. It aims to indicate if 

the ratio between cash inflow and outflow remains at satisfactory levels. 

In 2017, Metro’s total net revenue covered 104.85% of total spending. These expenses include 

the cost of services rendered, operating expenses, and the expenses with management of the 

works to expand the system. 
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BRL million 

 
Total Revenue 2,834 2,519 

Fare revenue 1,856 1,682 

Non-fare revenue 248 171 

Gratuities – GESP reimbursement 640 598 

Other operating income 90 68 

Total Expenditure 2,703 2,432 

Personnel 2,046 1,842 

Material 57 51 

General expenditure 600 539 

Coverage Rate (Revenue/Expenditure) 104,8% 103.6% 
 

NET REVENUE 

The Company’s net revenue in 2017 was BRL 2,633 million, 4.57% higher than the net revenue 

recorded in 2016, of BRL 2,518 million, as a result of the increase in the volume of passengers 

transported/day in the system, in 2017 was 3,726 million compared to 3,705 million in 2016, in 

addition to the expansion of business generated by Business Management, with emphasis on 

the Advertising segment. 

COST OF SERVICES PROVIDED (CSP) 

The cost of services rendered in 2017 totaled BRL 2,234 million, 6.0% higher than in 2016, BRL 

2,099 million (adjusted). The CSP is composed mainly of personnel costs related to the 

operating structure, which represent approximately 63% of the total, and are affected by the 

annual adjustment of the agreement. The 6.0% increase was lower than inflation (IPC-FIPE 

index) recorded in the period (+ 6.54%). This shows that the other costs had a neutralized effect 

of inflation by the Company due to the reduction of operating costs and the Voluntary 

Resignation Program (PDV). 

GROSS PROFIT 

Due to the above reasons, gross profit was BRL 400 million in 2017, 6.8% lower than the 2016 

gross profit of BRL 419 million. 

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES/EXPENSES WITH COLLECTION 

General and administrative expenses and collections totaled BRL 786 million in 2017 and the 

"administrative expenses over net revenue" indicator was 29.8%, compared to BRL 746 million 

in 2016 and an indicator of 29.6%. Expenses increased by 6.12% and the indicator 3% lower 

than last year. This was due to the increase in personnel costs resulting from collective 

bargaining and other increases in contracts. 

OTHER EXPENSES/OPERATING REVENUE 

Other net operating expenses/revenues totaled revenues of BRL 42 million in 2017, mainly due 

to the sale of securities from the Company's investments, other sales linked to assets and other 

revenues from adjacent businesses. As expenses, there was full recognition of the Metrus 

agreement to recompose the onlendings of 2015 and 2016, which was in the Company's assets 

in the order of BRL 26 million. In 2016 the amount of other net operating expenses/revenues 

recorded a revenue of BRL 52 million. 

 

2016 

2017 
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EBITDA (INCOME BEFORE INTEREST, TAXES, DEPRECIATION AND 

AMORTIZATION) 

Cash generation, measured by EBITDA adjusted for "non-recurring" and "non-cash", was BRL 

196 million in 2017, with a 40% increase compared to 2016. 

The following is a reconciliation of the Company's EBITDA for the São Paulo Metro: 
 

EBITDA RECONCILIATION BRL million 

 2017 2016 
2017 X 2016 

(%) 

 
Profit (loss) for the year 

 
(309) 

 
(213) 

 
45% 

Income tax and social contribution (18) 3 -621% 

Net financial result (17) (51) -67% 

Depreciation and amortization   315 287 10%  

EBITDA (29) 27 -209% 

Impairment of assets (fixed and intangible assets) - - 0% 

Adjustment of non-recurring events recognized in the year (1) 225 113 99% 

Adjusted EBITDA 196 140 40% 

 
1 As a result of the continuous analysis and monitoring of its accounting and financial positions, the Company may identify the need for accounting 

adjustments that may generate inference to the amounts recorded in the income statement. In order to segregate the effect of these items from the 

current result of the year they are added in the composition of the adjusted EBITDA. 

 

NET FINANCIAL RESULT 

The net financial result was positive in BRL 17 million in 2017, compared to the result of BRL 51 

million in 2016. This result mainly reflects monetary and exchange variations and income from 

financial investments, in addition to the reduction in net financial expenses. 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION 

Due to the above reasons, the Company recorded loss before income tax and social 

contribution of BRL 326 million in 2017 against loss of BRL 210 million in the fiscal year of 2016. 

INCOME TAX AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION ON PROFIT 

The amount of current income tax and social contribution recognized in the year 2017 was zero, 

and BRL 3 million in 2016. Deferred income tax and social contribution generated a credit result 

of BRL 17 million, against zero in 2016, in that no expectation of future taxable income has been 

identified. 

NET INCOME 

Due to the above reasons, the Company recorded a net loss of BRL 309 million in 2017 

compared to a net loss of BRL 213 million in the previous year. 

INVESTMENTS AND RESOURCE COLLECTION 

In 2017, effectively liquidated investments amounted to BRL 2,883 million, substantially 

earmarked for the support and operation of the current subway network, the modernization of 

the train fleet and the expansion of the future subway network. In relation to 2016, when the 

amount was BRL 2,349 million, there was an increase of 22.7%, mainly due to the resumption of 

the investment programs for the implementation of Line 5-Lilac - Largo Treze - Chácara 



85 

 

 

 

Klabin stretch, Line 4-Yellow - Vila Sônia - Luz (Phase II) stretch, as well as Line 17-Gold – 

Stretch 1 priority - Jardim Aeroporto - Congonhas - Morumbi (CPTM). 

The following table shows comparative investments for 2017 x 2016. 

(BRL million) 

 
Investment Program 

Year 

2017 2016 
 

1.  Current Network (Modernization and Refurbishment) 263.2 215.0 

Line 1-Blue 130.0 93.7 

Line 2-Green 4.9 9.2 

Line 3-Red 91.0 64.3 

Line 5-Lilac 1.1 0.7 

Expansion Projects – New Lines 3,0 1,7 

Modernization of Lines and Train Fleet 33,2 45,4 

2. Network Expansion 2,072.5 2,036.7 

Line 2-Green (Vl. Prudente/Dutra) 13,6 7,5 

Line 4-Yellow (Phase II Vl. Sônia/Luz) 283,5 147,2 

Line 5-Lilac (Lg. Treze/Chac. Klabin) 1.039,5 1.225,9 

Line 15-Silver (Ipiranga/Tiradentes) 539,1 518,6 

Line 17-Gold (Congonhas/Morumbi) 196,8 137,5 

 

 
 

The fundraising strategy in 2017 was designed to work together with the Government of the 

State of São Paulo in the development and structuring of additional resources and with a 

competitive cost of financing, in order to complement the amounts already passed on by the 

Treasury of the State of São Paulo, in order to continue the investment plans and goals 

established by the Companhia de Metro. In addition, with the restructuring of remaining balance 

of financing, with due effectiveness, to be used in the acquisition of new subcomponents 

destined to the subway system. 

Together with the Government of the State of São Paulo, responsible for fundraising and 

transfer of funds, new funding was structured with national and international financial 

institutions. 

In addition to the investments, the Government of the State of São Paulo transferred BRL 640.0 

million, in the form of reimbursement of gratuities and subsidies to students and BRL 158.9 

million related to PPP Support of Line 4-Yellow. 

3. Investimentos Vinculados a realizar 550,1 99,8 

Total de Investimentos 2.885,8 2.351,5 
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The following table shows the comparative chart of the 2017 x 2016 funding. 

(BRL million) 
 

Government of the State of São Paulo  2.605,9  1.823,3 

Treasury of the State of São Paulo  1,203.5  441.8 

National Development Bank - BNDES  330.0  748.4 

International Bank for Reconstruction and Development - IBRD  344.2  178.4 

Inter-American Development Bank - IDB  465.0  69.2 

Japan Bank for International Cooperation - JBIC  202.4  43.9 

Caixa Econômica Federal – CEF  60.8  341.6 

Other sources  279.9  528.2 

Subtotal - funding for investments  2,885.8  2,351.5 

Reimbursement of gratuities  640.0  598.3 

Support to PPP of Line 4-Yellow  158.9  135.9 

Total  3,684.7  3,085.7 

1
Other sources: Cash and cash equivalents. 

For 2018, State Law No. 16,631 of December 28, 2017 authorized the contracting of credit 

operations for the implementation of Line 17-Gold up to the amount of US $ 306.8 million or 

equivalent to BRL 1,000 million, as well as for the implementation of Line 15-Silver, in the 

amount of BRL 250.0 million. 

DIVIDENDS 

The Company's Bylaws and Dividend Policy, in line with the principles of current legislation, 

establishes a minimum mandatory dividend to its common shares corresponding to 25% of 

adjusted net income for the year, obtained after deductions determined by law. 

In 2018, the Company's Management will propose to the General Shareholders' Meeting that no 

dividends or interest on capital will be paid, since in the fiscal year ended 12/31/2017 the 

Company presented a loss in its financial statements. 

Fontes de Captação 
Ano 

2017 2016 
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

We are grateful to our employees, users, shareholders, suppliers and all those who contributed 

to the performance of the Metro Company in 2017. In addition, we are committed to constant 

commitment and dedication as a basis for our work, always in line with actions developed by the 

Government of the State of São Paulo. 

FINAL PROVISIONS 

The financial statements presented are in accordance with international accounting standards - 

IFRS and in accordance with the Brazilian corporate law criteria, based on audited financial 

information. Non-financial information, as well as other operational information, were not audited 

by independent auditors. 

 
 

The complete version of the Metric's 2017 Integrated Report is available at: 

www.metro.sp.gov.br/metro/institucional/pdf/rel-integrado.pdf 
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GRI INDEX 

 
The sustainability reporting items of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) contained in the 
report are presented according to the theme to which they relate: 

 

GRI Profile 
  

EC Economic 
  

EN Environmenta
l 

  

SO Society 
  

PR Product 
  

LA Labor 

 
GRI 102 General Disclosure  

GRI 102 ORGANIZATIONAL PROFILE Page number/Information 

102-1 Company name Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo 

102-2 Activities, brands, products and/or services Page 11 

102-3 Headquarters address Rua Augusta, 1626, São Paulo - Brazil 

102-4 Region in which it operates Metropolitan Region of São Paulo - Brazil 

102-5 Legal nature Joint capital company 

102-6 Markets served Page 19 

102-7 Company size Page 11, 12, 13, 17, 20, 21, 22, 23,24 

102-8 
Information on employees and other workers 

Page 56 

 
 
 
 

102-9 

 
 
 
 
Supply chain 

The company has a vast supply chain subdivided into three major groups: 
supply, energy and service provision. The company makes a system of 
management and registration of suppliers, in addition to quality management 
systems. The companies contracted must comply with the legal and 
regulatory requirements related to the activity carried out and its 
environmental, occupational safety and health impacts, as well as the labor 
and human rights issues provided for in the legislation. 

102-10 Significant changes in organization and supply chain 
No changes in 2017 

102-11 
Explanation or precautionary principle or approach 

Page 11, 49, 50, 51, 55, 56, 59, 60,61 

 
 
 
 
 
 
102-12 

 
 
 
 
 

Adoption of global and national initiatives, voluntary 
commitments 

The Metro participates in the national and international technical community 
with the objective of carrying out the technical exchange in relation to the best 
practices of subway management and operation and the commitments of the 
sector to increase the participation of the public transport in the sustainable 
development. Its strategic guideline is the commitment to generate 
sustainability as a value for society in all phases of the life cycle of its 
enterprises. In the social dimension, it defined the "Regulation for the 
Resettlement of Vulnerable Families Expropriated by Expansion Works", 
based on the International Covenants on Human Rights - International 
Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights of the UN, guaranteeing 
the analysis of vulnerability and socioeconomic reintegration. 
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102-13 Participation in Associations Aasp - Associação dos Advogados de São Paulo ABA - 
Associação Brasileira de Anunciantes 
Abas - Associação Brasileira de Águas Subterrâneas ABCP - 
Associação Brasileira de Cimento Portland  Abec - Associação Brasileira 
de Educação Corporativa Abed- Associação Brasileira de Educação a 
Distância ABGE - Associação Brasileira de Geologia e Engenharia 
ABMS - Associação Brasileira de Mecânica de Solos e Engenharia 
Geotécnica 
ABNT - Associação Brasileira de Normas Técnicas ABPV - 
Associação Brasileira de Pavimentação ABO - Associação 
Brasileira dos Ouvidores Abraco - Associação Brasileira de 
Corrosão Abraman - Associação Brasileira de Manutenção 
Abrasce - Associação Brasileira de Shopping Centers ABRH - 
Associação Brasileira de Recursos Humanos ABTD - Associação 
Brasileira de Treinamento e Desenvolvimento 
Alamys - Asociación Latinoamericana de Metros y Subterráneos 
Alshop - Associação Brasileira de Lojistas de Shopping ANPTrilhos - 
Associação Nacional dos Transportadores de Passageiros Sobre Trilhos 
Anpet - Associação Nacional de Pesquisa e Ensino em Transportes 
ANTP - Associação Nacional de Transportes Públicos Aparh - Associação 
Paulista de Administração de Recursos Humanos 
APM - Associação Paulista de Municípios CB - 
Comitê Brasileiro Metroferroviário CBT - Comitê 
Brasileiro de Túneis 

CRBio - Conselho Regional de Biologia 

Crea - Conselho Regional de Engenharia e Agronomia Ibape - 
Instituto Brasileiro de Avaliações e Perícias de Engenharia 
Ibracon - Instituto Brasileiro do Concreto Icon - IC 
Consultants Ltd. (Grupo CoMET) 
Inmetro - Instituto de Metrologia, Qualidade e Tecnologia SBGC - 
Sociedade Brasileira de Gestão de Conhecimento UITP - Union 
Internationale des Transports Publics 

102-14 Message from the CEO Page 6. 

102-15 
Themes and their impacts, risks and opportunities Page 5, 9, 11, 15, 42, 43, 46, 49, 51, 52, 53, 55, 62, 63, 

64,65. 

 ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 

102-16 
Values, principles, standards and norms of behavior 

Page 14,15,78,79,80 

 GOVERNANCE 

102-18 Governance Structure Page 13 

 

102-19 

Delegation of competence to economic, environmental and 
social issues of the highest governance body for senior 
executives and other employees. 

The company has its structure aligned to manage the economic, 
environmental and social impacts associated with its business activities. The 
respective managers report to the executive board. 

102-25 Conflicts of interest Page 73 

102-29 
Identification and Management of Economic, 
Environmental and Social Impacts 

Page 49, 52, 53, 55, 56, 62. 

 

102-32 Role of senior management in reporting sustainability. 
The Board of Directors and the Executive Board are responsible for the 
Integrated Report. The definition of content and the elaboration has the 
general coordination of the 
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 Special Advisor to the Presidency. 

102-36 Process for definition of Remuneration Page 11 

 

 

ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS 

102-40 List of stakeholder groups Page 51 

102-41 Collective negotiation agreements 
100% of employees are included in collective negotiation 
agreements 

102-43 Stakeholder engagement method Page 51 

102-44 Main topics and issues raised Page 5 

 REPORTING ASPECTS 

102-45 
Entities included in the consolidated financial statements. The statements presented refer only to the Company. 

102-46 
Definition of the content of the report and the limit of aspects. Page 5 

102-47 List of material topics Page 5 

 

102-48 Reformulation of information provided in previous reports. 
The reporting of the period of 2017 does not present reformulations 
of information and/or methods of measurement. 

 

102-49 
 

Changes in reporting 
The company has decided to adopt the basic principles for 
integrated reporting while maintaining GRI guidelines. 

102-50 Reporting period Jan. – Dec. 2017 

102-51 Latest report 
Sustainability Report 2016 - Subway of São Paulo. 

102-52 Reporting cycle Annual 

102-53 
Address for presentation of questions on the report www.metro.sp.gov.br/fale-conosco/registro- manifestacao 

102-54 Option of agreement chosen by the organization 
The report was prepared in accordance with GRI Standards: 
Essential Option. 

102-56 External verification The report was not submitted to external verification. 

 

103-1 

 

Explanation of material themes and their limits. 

The reports are restricted to the Subway Company. The report 
covers all information on strategies, management and performance 
of business activities in the dimensions of sustainability. 

 

 

 

GRI 103 Standards – Economic Series 

 ITEMS APPROACHED PAGE/INFORMATION 

 

 

 103-2 

 

 

Management and its components 

Strategies, commitments; goals; responsibilities; 
complaint mechanisms and specific actions are 
presented on pages 8, 9, 10, 51, 52, 
73, 74,80. 

GRI 103 Economic Performance 

 

201-1 

 

Direct economic value generated and distributed 
 

Page 90 Financial statements 

 

201-3 
The company grants its employees a set of benefits 
compatible with the best market practices and 
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GRI 103 Standards – Economic Series 

 ITEMS APPROACHED PAGE/INFORMATION 

  

 

Benefit Plan obligations and other retirement plans. 

part of these benefits integrates the Collective 
Agreement with the Unions of Metro and Engineers 
and others are offered by the company. The Metro also 
has a Program for Profit Sharing and/or Results - PLR, 
with the distribution of the values related to the 
program based on operational, corporate and 
corporate indicators and goals that directly or indirectly 
involve all areas of the company. 

 

201-4 
 

Financial assistance received from the government. 
 

Page 8, 16, 84. 

 MARKET PRESENCE 

 

 

 

 

202-1 

 

 

 

Variation of the proportion of the lowest wage by gender, compared to the 
local minimum wage. 

The Employees of the São Paulo Metro are 
remunerated equitably according to their 
responsibilities and in accordance with a Plan of 
Positions and Salaries. The lowest salary practiced by 
the company in 2017 was BRL 2159.00 for a 40-hour 
workweek, 130% above the federal minimum wage of 
BRL937.00 (base December 2017). 

 INDIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACTS 

203-1 
Investments in infrastructure and service supported. Page 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 

34, 35, 36,37. 

203-2 Significant indirect economic impacts Page 62, 63, 64. 

 ACQUISITION AND CONTRACTING PRACTICES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 204-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proportion of expenses with local suppliers. 

São Paulo Metro is subject to legislation that defines 
rules for public practice in the processes involving the 
acquisition of goods and services, including specialized 
services such as engineering and architecture, such as 
Federal Law 8,666/93 and laws of bids and acquisitions 
of materials, by means of electronic trading sessions 
and the Electronic Purchasing Exchange of the 
Government of the State of São Paulo – BEC. In this 
context, compliance with the constitutional principle of 
isonomy is required, which implies offering the same 
conditions of participation and competition to suppliers, 
regardless of where they are installed. With the 
approval of Law 13,303, the necessary adaptations are 
being processed to implement new guidelines in 
accordance with the provisions of the law. 

 

 

FIGHT AGAINST CORRUPTION  

 

205-1 
The Metro encourages administrators, tax advisers, employees, 
trainees, apprentices, young citizens and third parties in the service 
of the 

Operations subject to risk assessment 
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 related to corruption. metro perform their functions and activities in an ethical and 
transparent manner, combating any form of bribery, fraud, corruption, 
bribery and acts harmful to the public administration. 
During the contractual period, the Metro officially requires its 
suppliers and service providers to comply with its activities based on 
ethics, compliance with the Code of Conduct and Integrity, labor, 
criminal, civil, tax, environmental legislation, preservation of cultural 
heritage, respect for human rights, accessibility for persons with 
disabilities or with reduced mobility, as well as internal normative 
instruments and especially for compliance with anti-corruption law. 

The conduct of the board of directors, employees and various 
stakeholders is governed by the Code of Ethics and Integrity. Their 
practices are monitored by the Ethics and Integrity Commission, 
which analyzes cases and acts permanently. The company did not 
carry out specific training. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

205-2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Communication and training in anti-corruption policies 
and procedures 

  

UNFAIR COMPETITION 

 

206-1 
Legal actions brought by unfair competition, trust and monopoly 
practices and their results. 

There are no legal actions brought by unfair competition, trust and 
monopoly practices and their results. 

 

 

 

GRI 300 Standards – Environmental Series 

 ITEMS APPROACHED PAGE/INFORMATION 

 

 

 103-2 

 

 

Management and its components 

 

Policies; Commitments; objectives; 
responsibilities; complaint mechanisms and specific actions are 
presented on pages 50, 51, 65, 66, 67, 

 

301-1 

MATERIALS 

Materials used, sorted by weight or volume. Page 66, 67, 68, 69. 

Energy 

302-1 Energy consumption within the organization. Page 69,70 

302-3 Energy intensity Page 69,70 

302-4 Reduced energy consumption Page 69,70 

 Water 

303-1 Total water withdrawal by source. Page 66 

 

303-2 Water sources significantly affected by water withdrawal. 
The water consumed is supplied by the Basic Sanitation 
Company of the State of São Paulo 

Sabesp. 

 EMISSIONS, EFFLUENT AND WASTE 

305-1 
Direct emissions of greenhouse gases (GHGs) (Scope 1). Page 71,72 

305-2 
Indirect emissions of greenhouse gases (GHG) from the acquisition of 
energy (Scope 2). 

Page 71, 72. 

305-3 
Other indirect greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Scope 3). Page 71,72 

305-4 
Intensity of emissions of GHG  

Page 71,72 



93 

 

 

 

GRI 300 Standards – Environmental Series 

 ITEMS APPROACHED PAGE/INFORMATION 

305-5 Reduced GHG emissions Page 71,72 

306-2 Waste by type and disposal method Page 67,68,69 

 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE 

  
The Environmental Management System and the 

  Quality Management systems are 

  compliant with the new versions of NBR ISO 9001 

  and NBR ISO 14001, published in 2015. In 

  2017, an audit of the Accredited Certification Body 

  has confirmed the compliance of 

307-1 
Noncompliance with environmental laws and regulations improvements made, issuing certificates 

of compliance with the new versions of standards 

  ISO 9001 and ISO 14001. 

  The contracted parties shall submit an Environmental Aspect 

Management Plan 

  PGAA, when applicable, 

  and outsourced employee control, surveillance and awareness 

  is 

  carried out. 

 

 

 

GRI 400 Standard – Social Series 

ITEMS APPROACHED PAGE/INFORMATION 

 

 103-2 Management and its components 

Policies; Commitments; objectives; 
responsibilities; complaint mechanisms and specific actions are 
presented on pages 50, 51, 65, 66, 67, 

 

EMPLOYMENT 

401-1 
New hires and employee turnover 

Page 57,58 

 
 
 
 
 

401-2 

Benefits granted to full-time employees who are not offered to 
temporary or part-time employees 

The company grants its employees a set of benefits compatible with 
the best market practices and part of these benefits integrates the 
Collective Agreement with the Unions of Metro and Engineers and 
others are offered by the company. The Metro also has a Program 
for Profit Sharing and/or Results - PLR, with the distribution of the 
values related to the program based on operational, corporate and 
corporate indicators and goals that directly or indirectly involve all 
areas of the company. 

 LABOR RELATIONS 

402-1 
Minimum notice period for operational changes No deadline. It varies according to the change/impact level. 

 OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 

403-1 
Representation of workers in formal health and safety 
committees. 100% of employees 

 
403-2 

Types and rates of injuries, occupational diseases, days lost, 
absenteeism and number of work-related deaths 

 
Page 59 

403-4 
Health and safety topics covered by formal agreements with 
trade unions. Page 59 

 TRAINING AND EDUCATION 

404-1 Average number of hours of training per year Page 59 
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GRI 400 Standard – Social Series 

 ITEMS APPROACHED PAGE/INFORMATION 

 by employee. 

 

 

404-2 

Programs of competence management and 
continuous learning and preparation programs for 
retirement. 

Page 59 

Among other social programs, the company offers employees one 
that includes themes related to the life cycle and retirement, 
finalizing it with the development of Future Life Project. 

 

404-3 
Percentage of employees who regularly receive 
performance reviews and career development. 

 

100% of employees 

 DIVERSITY AND EUQAL OPPORTUNITIES 

 

405-1 

 

Diversity of groups responsible for governance and 
employees. 

 

Page 60 

 EQUAL REMUNERATION FOR WOMEN AND MEN 

405-2 
Mathematical reason of the salary and remuneration 
between women and men. There is no salary distinction. 

 SAFETY PRACTICES 

410-1 
Security personnel trained in human rights policies or 
procedures. 

100% of the staff of the Operational Safety Corps 
was submitted to training. 

 LOCAL COMMUNITIES 

 

413-1 
Operations with local community engagement, impact 
assessment and local development programs. 

Page 55, 56. 

 

 

413-2 

Operations with real and potential significant negative impacts 
on local communities 

In all phases of metro projects, from conception to operation, 

environmental, social and economic-financial aspects are analyzed, 

ensuring good practices and compliance with current legislation. 

 SOCIOECONOMIC COMPLIANCE 

 

 

419-1 

Non-compliance with laws and regulations in the social and 
economic area. 

In all phases of metro projects, from conception to operation, 

environmental, social and economic-financial aspects are analyzed, 

ensuring good practices and compliance with current legislation. No 

cases in 2017. 

 CUSTOMER HEALTH AND SAFETY 

416-1 
Assessment of the health and safety impacts of the categories of 

products and services. Page 62 

 

416-2 
Non-compliance with the health and safety impacts of products 
and services. 

 

None. 

 LABELING OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 

 

417-2 
Cases of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary codes 
concerning information and 

labeling of products and services 

 

None. 

 MARKETING COMMUNICATIONS 

102-2 Sales of forbidden or contested products. 
The São Paulo Metro respects the guidelines of CONAR – 
Conselho de Autorregulamentação 
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GRI 400 Standard – Social Series 

 ITEMS APPROACHED PAGE/INFORMATION 

 Publicitária. 

417-3 
Incidents of non-compliance relating to marketing 
communications. None. 

CUSTOMER PRIVACY 

418-1 
Substantive complaints regarding privacy breaches and customer 
data losses. None. 
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Balance Sheets - BS 
 
 
 

 
 

             
Explanatory

 
note 

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 

  

Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 5 629,494 373,901 

Accounts receivable from customers 6 280,066 233,103 

Stocks 7 227,242 209,693 

Taxes recoverable  53,484 44,352 

Prepaid expenses  4,807 3,340 

Down payment to suppliers 8 37,045 27,862 

Other receivables  11,305 - 

Total current assets  1,243,442 892,251 

 
 
 

Non-Current Assets 

Judicial deposits  460,330 383,132 

Deferred income and social contribution taxes 17.1 55,614 - 

  515,944 383,132 

Investments 9 25,434 98,911 

Fixed assets 11 32,078,214 29,782,896 

Intangible 12 96,396 81,535 

Deferred 13 23,190 30,378 

  32,223,234 29,993,720 

Total non-current assets  32,739,178 30,376,852 

Total Assets  33,982,620 31,269,103 
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Balance Sheets - BS 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Explanatory

 
note 

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 

  

Current Liabilities 

Suppliers 15 731,588 827,026 

Loans and financing  7,500 - 

Taxes and contributions payable 16 127,249 101,765 

Remuneration and charges payable  547,763 347,351 

Customer advance  317,003 266,190 

Agreements and contracts 20 208,813 249,227 

Total current liabilities  1,939,916 1,791,559 

 

 
Non-Current Liabilities 

Provision for contingencies 19 645,914 571,344 

Provision for actuarial liabilities  257,611 127,087 

Deferred income and social contribution taxes  - 17,537 

Agreements and Contracts 20 422,502 490,443 

Customer Advance  964 1,607 

Total non-current liabilities  1,326,991 1,208,018 

 
Net worth 

   

Share capital 21 36,461,066 33,592,881 

Equity valuation adjustments 21.3 (107,957) 4,960 

Accumulated losses  (5,637,398) (5,328,315) 

Total shareholders' equity  30,715,712 28,269,526 

Total liabilities  33,982,620 31,269,103 
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Income Statement for the Financial Year – I/S 
 

 
 

Explanatory 
12/31/2017 12/31/2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The explanatory notes are an integral part of these financial statements

 note  

 
Net Operating Revenue 

 
23 

 
2,633,839 

  
2,518,328 

Cost of services provided 24 (2,233,628)  (2,099,014) 

Gross profit  400,211  419,314 

Operational expenses 
    

General and Administrative Expenses 24 (786,175)  (731,637) 

Other operating income (expenses), net 24 42,413  52,012 

Operating Profit (Loss) before financial result  (343,550)  (260,311) 

Financial result 25 
   

Financial income  47,848  71,878 

Financial expenses  (30,918)  (21,290) 

Profit (Loss) before income and social 

contribution taxes 

 (326,620)  (209,723) 

Income tax and social contribution 

Current 

17 
 

- 

  

(3,456) 

Deferred  17,538  - 

Net Income (Loss) for the year  (309,083)  (213,179) 

 

Net Income (Loss) for the year per share 

Basic and Diluted Earnings - ON 

  
 

(0.00961) 

  
 

(0.00729) 
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Comprehensive Income Statements - CIS 
 
 
 

 

Explanatory 12/31/2017 12/31/2016 

note         

Net Income (Loss) for the year (309,083) (213,179) 

Other comprehensive income 
 

(112,916) 
 

(22,258) 

Fair value on investments  (38,006)  24,923 

Net actuarial gain or loss 18,3 (130,524)  (38,708) 

Deferred income and social contribution taxes 17,1 55,614  (8,473) 

Total comprehensive income (421,999) (235,437) 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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 Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity 

 
 

Explanatory 

note 

 
 

 
Share 
capital 

subscript 

 

 
Advance for 

future 

capital 

increase 

 

 
 

 
Equity 

evaluations 

adjustments  

 
 

 
Accumulated 

earnings 

(losses) 

 
 
 

 
Total 

 Balances as of December 31, 2015 31,769,613 - 27,218 (5,115,135) 26,681,696 

Comprehensive comprehensive income: 

Profit (loss) for the year - - - (213,179) (213,179) 

Fair value on investments - - 24,923 - 24,923 

(Loss) Actuarial gain - - (38,708) - (38,708) 

Deferred income and social contribution taxes - - (8,473) - (8,473) 

Capital Transactions with Members: 

Capital pay-up 1,823,268 - - - 1,823,268 

Balances as of December 31, 2016 33,592,881 - 4,960 (5,328,315) 28,269,526 
      

Comprehensive comprehensive income: 

Profit (loss) for the year - - - (309,083) (309,083) 

Fair value on investments - - (38,006) - (38,006) 

(Loss) Actuarial gain - - (130,524) - (130,524) 

Deferred income and social contribution taxes - - 55,614 - 55,614 

Capital Transactions with Members: 

Capital pay-up in cash 2,605,931 - - - 2,605,931 

Capital pay-up in assets 262,254 - - - 262,254 
      

Balances as of December 31, 2017 21 36,461,066 - (107,957) (5,637,398) 30,715,712 
      

 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Statement of Cash Flows – “DFC”  

 
Explanatory 

 

 note 12/31/2017  12/31/2016 

Cash flows from operating activities 
    

Net Income (Loss) for the year 
 

(309,083) 
 

(213,179) 

Adjustments to reconcile the result to the cash  319,719  240,888 

Depreciation and amortization 24 314,732  287,307 

Income from sale of fixed assets  (7)   

Write-off of fixed and intangible assets  32  387 

Other provisions  (53,015)  (56,445) 

Deferred income and social contribution taxes 17,1 (17,538)  3,456 

Interest on actuarial liabilities 18 27,814  14,853 

Provision / (reversal) for contingencies, net  72,849  55,632 

Allowance for doubtful accounts, net  37,308  32,342 

Losses on accounts receivable and inventories  3,904  4,559 

Other taxes and contributions 16 272,839  302,494 

Provision for Voluntary Dismissal Program (PDV), net  90,765  52,452 

Payment of other taxes and contributions  (385,661)  (382,775) 

Settlement with lawsuits  (44,303)  (73,374) 

Change in assets and liabilities 
 

31,417 
 

300,104 

Bills to receive 6 (58,269)  (14,936) 

Stocks 7 (17,550)  536 

Taxes recoverable  (64,745)  (25,399) 

Judicial deposits  (77,198)  (62,706) 

Prepaid expenses  (1,467)  (1,496) 

(Increase) / reduction in other current and non-current assets  (9,183)  (3,199) 

Suppliers 15 (95,438)  9,232 

Remuneration and charges payable 10 200,411  56,049 

Taxes and contributions to collect  25,484  46,979 

Customer Advance  50,170  (643) 

Agreements and Contracts 20 (108,355)  199,043 

Increase / (decrease) in other current and non-current liabilities  187,557  96,644 

Net cash provided by operating activities    42,053   327,813 

 
Cash flows from investing activities 

    

Investment Applications  -  - 

Acquisition of fixed assets 11 (2,374,235)  (2,422,568) 

Advance for acquisition of fixed assets  1,386  - 

Acquisition of intangible assets 12 (27,042)  (34,139) 

Net cash used in investing activities      (2,399,891)  (2,456,707) 

 
Cash flows from financing activities 

    

Capital contribution 21,2 2,605,931  1,823,268 

Advance for future capital increase  -  - 

Loans and financing  7,500   

Dividends paid to the controlling shareholder  -  - 

Net cash used in financing activities       2,613,431   1,823,268 
  

 

  

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5   255,593   (305,626) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

  
373,901 

  
679,527 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  629,494  373,901 

Statement of increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    255,593   (305,626) 
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Statement of Added Values – “DVA”  

 
Explanatory 

 

 note 12/31/2017  12/31/2016 

Revenues 

Sales of goods, products and services 

 
23 

 
2,747,056 

  
2,633,117 

Other (expenses) revenues, net  (380)  (363) 

Provision (reversal) for doubtful accounts, net 6 (37,308)  (32,342) 

 
Inputs acquired from third parties 

 2,709,368  2,600,412 

Materials consumed  (57,033)  (50,717) 

Other products and services sold  (36,625)  (40,206) 

Energy, third party services and others  (632,070)  (600,445) 

Loss on realization of assets  (3,904)  (4,632) 

  (729,633)  (696,000) 

Gross added value 
 

1,979,736 
 

1,904,412 

Depreciation and amortization 24 (314,732)  (287,307) 

Net added value produced by the Company                

Added value received on transfer 

Interest, profits and dividends on shares 

 1,665,004 

 
18,974 

 1,617,105 

 
1,715 

Financial income 25 48,125  69,834 

  67,099  71,549 

Total added value to be distributed    1,732,103   1,688,654 

 
Employees 

Remuneration and social charges 

  

 
1,695,480 

  

 
1,612,295 

Board of Directors' Honor and Counsel  2,024  2,044 

Profit Sharing Program  65,859  61,203 

Retirement and pension plan  45,480  43,052 

 
Taxes, fees and contributions 

 1,808,844  1,718,594 

Federal  188,342  160,913 

State  106  219 

Municipal  10,053  17,976 

 
Remuneration of third-party capital 

 198,501  179,108 

Financial expenses 25 30,916  898 

Rents  2,925  3,233 

 
Remuneration of shareholders' equity 

 33,841  4,131 

Dividends                                                                                               
Profit (loss) for the year 

22.2 - 

(309,083) 

 - 

(213,179) 

  (309,083)  (213,179) 

Total added value distributed    1,732,103   1,688,654 
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1 The Company and its Operations 
 

The São Paulo Metropolitan Company - Metrô, hereinafter referred to as "Company" or "Metrô", is a 
joint stock company with its registered office in São Paulo - SP, which has as its controlling shareholder 
the Government of the State of São Paulo - GESP, which holds 96.82% of the common shares of its 
capital stock. 

 
The Company's main purpose is the planning of metro and transportation networks for the Metropolitan 
Region of São Paulo; the construction and implementation of new metro undertakings, including new 
stations, stretches of lines, signaling systems and train fleets; the commercial exploitation of subway 
spaces and assets in order to generate adjacent businesses, and finally the commercial operation of 
providing passenger metro transport service. 

 
The Metro currently has five (5) commercial lines operating in the São Paulo Metropolitan Region, with 
Line 1 - Azul (Tucuruvi - Jabaquara), Line 2 - Verde (Vila Madalena - Vila Prudente), Line 3 - Barra 
Funda), Line 5 - Lilac (Capão Redondo - Brooklin) and Line 15 - Silver (Vila Prudente - Oratory). These 
lines, together, cover 71.5 kilometers in extension and move about 1,095 million passengers per year. 
The extension of Lines 15 - Prata (stretch of Oratory - Tiradentes City Hospital) and Line 17 - Ouro 
(Jabaquara - São Paulo Morumbi), respectively, are still under construction for future operation, 
respectively, regarding the transportation system in monorails, and extensions of the Line 5 - Lilac 
(Brooklin section - Chácara Klabin), and Line 4 - Yellow (Vila Sônia - Luz). 

 

The issuance of these financial statements was approved by the Company's Board of Directors on 
March 26, 2018. 

 
1.1 Main Events in 2018 and 2017 

 
a) Operational context 

 
i) Reimbursement of Gratuities and Support Line 4 - Yellow 

 

During the course of 2017, the Government of the State of São Paulo - GESP contributed financial 
resources, through Law 16,347 of 12/29/2016, as well as by Decree No. 62,413 of 06/01/2017, in 
the amount of R$ 158,900 in support of the Public-Private Partnership (PPP) - Line 4 - Amarela, in 
order to cover the amounts of financial losses due to the impact of this line on the collection system, 
and R$ 640,010 as reimbursement of gratuities offered through programs of public policy. 

 
ii) Release of Budget Resources - 2018 Cycle 

 

On December 21, 2017, Decree no. 63,085, for the release of R$ 2,524,775 for investments, R$ 
177,720 of support for PPP-Line 4 -Amarela and R$ 717,189 for reimbursement of gratuities, as 
published in the Official Gazette of the State of São Paulo. This homologated on January 11, 2018 
through the Annual Budget Law - LOA 2018 (Law 11.646). 

 
iii) New Stations of Line 5 - Lilac 

 
On November 27, 2017, Alto da Boa Vista, Borba Gato and Brooklin stations of Line 5 - Lilás were 
simultaneously inaugurated. With the new stations in operation the expectation is an average 
increase in the demand for new users per business day of 15 thousand passengers. 
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iv) New Trains for Line 5 - Lilac and 15 - Silver 
 

In November 2017, the delivery to the Metro of 53 new trains for the commercial operation was 
completed, of which 19 are in operation and 34 in the final stages of testing and commissioning. Of 
the new fleet, 27 trains will be destined to attend Line 15 - Silver and 26 to Line 5 - Lilac. 

 
v) Reformed and Modernized Trains for Lines 1 - Blue and 3 - Red 

 

During the year 2017, 12 modernized trains for lines 1 - Blue and 3 - Red were liberated for 
commercial operation. The continuity of the modernization process of the 98 trains of the Lines 1 - 
Blue and 3 - Red fleets will allow the technological updating of the equipment and the improvement 
of the comfort for the users. The project reaches the end of 2017 with a total of 92 trains already 
modernized. 

 
vi) Reformed and Modernized Trains for Lines 1 - Blue and 3 - Red 

 
As of December 31, 2016, 8 modernized trains had been delivered to the subway, totaling 80 
trains, of which 74 were already released for commercial operation. 

 
 

b) Corporate context 
 

i) Capital Contribution by the Controlling Shareholder 
 

On December 31, 2017, a cycle of capital contributions in 2017 was completed by GESP, of 
which R$ 2,605,931. 

 

ii) Operation with the Government of the State of São Paulo - Contribution of Trains 
 

On December 11, 2017, R$ 262,253 were subscribed and paid up in the capital, corresponding to 
271,112,327 shares, related to the incorporation of the 17 trains and spare parts acquired by GESP 
through the Metropolitan Transportation Department - STM and in use by the Company. 

 

iii) Contribution of Capital by the Controlling Shareholder 
 

On December 31, 2016, GESP completed a cycle of capital contributions in currency of 2016, of 
which R$ 1,823,262. 

 
 

2 Presentation of the Financial Statements 
 

2.1 The basis of preparation and presentation 
 

The financial statements presented (unified since it is composed of only one legal entity, so there is 
no differentiation between individual and consolidated statements), have been prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by International Accounting 
Standards Board ("IASB") and in accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil, including 
pronouncements issued by the Accounting Pronouncements Committee ("CPC"), and show all the 
relevant information specific to the financial statements, and only those, which correspond to those 
used by the Company's Management in its management. 
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The financial statements have been prepared using historical cost as a value basis, except for 
available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets and liabilities, which are measured at fair value. 

 
2.2 Demonstration of added value 

 
The value added demonstration - DVA presents information regarding the wealth created by the 
Company and the way in which such wealth was distributed. This statement was prepared in 
accordance with CPC 09 - Statement of Value Added, approved by CVM Deliberation 557/2008. IFRSs 
do not require submission of this, therefore, they are considered as additional information. 

 
2.3 Functional currency 

 
The functional and presentation currency of the Company is the Real (R$). 

 

2.4 Reclassifications 

 
Some amounts related to the year ended December 31, 2016 were reclassified for better comparability 
with the current year. Such reclassifications were not material and did not affect the Company's results 
and shareholders' equity. 

 
i) in the Statement of Income for the year, the amount of R$ 41,670 presented as Social Contribution 
on Gross Revenue – “CPRB” in the item of general expenses belonging to the group of operating 
costs and expenses was reclassified to the group of deductions of gross income, in the caption taxes 
on gross revenue. 

 
ii) in the Balance Sheet, the amount of R$ 208,615 presented as inventories for repairs and 
maintenance shown in property, plant and equipment was reclassified to the group of inventories in 
current assets. 

 

iii) in the Balance Sheet, the amount of R$ 186,662 presented as social contributions on the payroll, 
under the heading of taxes and contributions to be collected was reclassified to the caption 
"Remunerations and charges payable", both in current liabilities. 

 

iv) in the Balance Sheet, the amount of R$ 267,608 presented as credits held by the user of the 
Single and Good Tickets in the line of agreements and contracts was reclassified to the account of 
customer advances, both in current liabilities. 

 
v) in the statement of income for the year, the amount of R$ 14,853 presented as actuarial interest 
expense under the item of general expenses belonging to the operating expenses group was 
reclassified to the financial expenses group under actuarial interest. 

 

3 Main Accounting Policies 
 

The main accounting policies applied by the Metro in the preparation of these financial statements are 
set out below, which have been consistently applied to all the years presented. 

 

3.1 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise all balances held in cash, banks and financial investments with 
an original maturity of less than or equal to 90 days from the date of hiring, which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of change in their value. 
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3.2 Financial assets and liabilities 

 
a) General context 

 
Financial instruments are recognized as from the date on which the Company becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of financial instruments. They are initially recorded at fair value plus 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issuance, except for financial 
assets and liabilities classified in the category "at fair value through profit or loss", where such costs 
are directly heading of financial results. Its subsequent measurement occurs at each balance sheet 
date in accordance with the rules established for each type of classification of financial assets and 
liabilities. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities may be offset and the net asset value, if any, reported in the balance 
sheet in the final position of the right or obligation. 

 

b) Financial assets 
 

The Company classifies its financial assets as amortized cost or fair value through profit or loss, 
depending on the purpose for which they were acquired or issued. 

 
i) Non-derivative financial assets and receivables 

 

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, but not quoted in the active 
market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Interest, monetary restatement, exchange variation, less impairment losses, when 
applicable, are recognized in income, when incurred, under the heading of financial income or 
expenses. This group consists of "Cash and cash equivalents"; "Accounts receivable" and 
"Advances". 

 
The Company maintains financial assets that are classified in the category of investments held for 
sale and are therefore measured at fair value, but as they are maintained in the long term and there 
is no interest on the part of management in the trading of these securities, the Company classifies 
the adjustments of fair value and are allocated to other comprehensive income, under the equity 
adjustment heading. Only when from its possible disposal that the effect of the accumulated fair 
value is brought to the result of the period. 

 

c) Financial liabilities 
 

The Company classifies its financial liabilities as amortized cost or fair value through profit or loss, 
depending on the purpose for which they were acquired or issued. 

 

i) Loans and financing 
 

Loans and financing are initially recognized at fair value, net of any attributable transaction costs, 
and subsequently presented at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Interest, 
monetary restatement and exchange variation, when applicable, are recognized in income, when 
incurred. 

 

3.3 Bills to receive 
 

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the nominal value recognized at the time of revenue 
generation based on the use of passenger transport services or at the time of recognition of the sale 
of land, leases of space, reimbursement of amounts with the State Government of São Paulo - GESP 
or arising from other commercial operations adjacent to the transportation operation. 
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The Company represents estimated losses with doubtful debts for amounts receivable in an amount 
considered sufficient by Management to cover possible losses. The analysis is constructed on the 
basis of objective data from "accounts receivable" and the historical series of receipts, from which 
actual collateral is written off, thus no substantial additional losses are expected. 

 

3.4 Stocks 
 

The inventories of materials destined to the consumption and maintenance of the subway systems are 
demonstrated by the lower average value between the average cost of acquisition and its value of 
realization, and are classified in the current assets. 

 
The balances of inventories are presented net of provisions for losses recorded to cover any probable 
losses identified or estimated by Management. 

 
3.5 Investments 

 

Investments correspond to equity instruments acquired by the Company from other Market companies 
and classified in the category of investments held for sale, measured at fair value against other 
comprehensive income. 

 

3.6 Fixed Assets 
 

Fixed assets are measured at acquisition or construction cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, when incurred. The historical cost includes expenses directly 
attributable to the acquisition of items. 

 
Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the asset or recognized as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
and its cost can be reliably measured. The book value of replaced items or parts is lowered. 

 
All other repairs and maintenance are recorded as a contra entry to income for the year, when incurred. 

 

Fixed assets are depreciated using the straight-line method in the income statement for the year based 
on the estimated economic useful life of each (except land). 

 

On December 31, 2017, the Company reviewed the useful life of these assets based on the use and 
estimated use of the assets and did not identify a need to change the useful economic life used. 

 
Gains and losses arising from disposals are determined by the difference between the sale price and 
the accounting balance are recognized in other operating income (expenses), net, in the income 
statement. 

 

3.7 Intangible Assets 
 

Intangible assets are stated at cost of acquisition or construction, including construction margin. The 
intangible asset has its amortization commenced when it is available for use, in its place and in the 
necessary condition and from the moment that asset enters into operation. 
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The amortization of the intangible asset reflects the period in which the future economic benefits of the 
asset are expected to be consumed by the Company, which may be the final term of the concession, 
or the useful life of the asset. 

 

i) Intangible assets with a defined useful life 
 

Intangible assets acquired by the Company and that have finite useful lives are measured at cost, less 
amortization based on these accumulated useful lives and impairment losses, when incurred. 

 

a) Software (Licenses for use and development) - The Company has software, acquired licenses 
and systems development, which are amortized with an average useful life of 5 years, 
according to the evaluation made with its manufacturers. The costs associated with the 
maintenance of software are recognized as expenses, as incurred. 

 
3.8 Valuation of recoverable value of property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets - impairment 
 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, which have a defined useful life, are reviewed 
annually for the purpose of identifying evidence of non-recovery of their book value, or whenever 
material changes in the normal business cycle indicate a probability of loss. 

 

This evaluation is made to the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates operating cash flows 
to the Company independently, that is, without the intervention of other assets for this purpose (Cash 
Generating Unit - CGU). 

 

In the application of the impairment test, the book value of an asset or cash-generating unit is 
compared to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the net sales value of 
an asset and its value in use. 

 
The Company does not have as its main objective the constant maximization of operating profit and, 
additionally, its pricing policy is associated with public transportation tariffs, thus the methodology 
applied for impairment tests is not based on recoverable value by calculation of the discounted cash 
flow but rather by comparing its assets to similar assets on an equivalent basis at the date of 
preparation of the financial statements. 

 
When losses are recognized, they can be reversed in future years, except in relation to the reduction 
in goodwill, if any. 

 
On December 31, 2017, the Company performed the impairment test of its property and equipment 
and intangible assets and found no evidence of impairment to be recorded as losses. 

 

3.9 Suppliers and other accounts payable 
 

Accounts payable to suppliers and other accounts payable are obligations to pay for goods or services 
that were acquired from suppliers in the ordinary course of business and are classified as current 
liabilities if payment is due in up to 12 months. Otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 

 

They are initially recognized at fair value, represented by the value of the invoice or invoice, and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
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3.10 Provisions, assets and contingent liabilities 
 

A provision is established based on a past event, if the Company has a legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an economic resource will be required to settle 
the obligation, are recorded based on the best estimates of the risk involved. 

 
Contingent assets are recorded only when court judgments favorable to the Company have become 
final and unappealable and the amount of which can be reliably measured. 

 
Contingent liabilities related to labor, civil and tax lawsuits are recognized observing the following 
criteria: i) contingent liabilities with evaluation of probability of remote loss, are not provisioned or 
disclosed; ii) contingent liability with possible probability of loss assessment, no provision is recorded, 
however, they are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements; and iii) a contingent liability with 
probable likelihood of loss assessment, a provision is recorded in an amount considered by 
Management and its legal advisors sufficient to cover future cash disbursements. Upon a preliminary 
judicial decision, the Company may make judicial deposits that comprise part of the lawsuit in the tax 
liability that is subject, which are deducted from the total contingencies provided for in the lawsuit in 
progress and are presented in an explanatory note. 

 

3.11 Income Tax (IRPJ) and Social Contribution (CSLL) - current and deferred 
 

The income tax and social contribution for the year are calculated on a current and deferred basis. 
These taxes are calculated based on the tax laws in force at the date of preparation of the financial 
statements in Brazil, where the Company operates, and recognized in the statement of income, except 
when referring to items recorded in shareholders' equity. 

 

i) Current income and social contribution taxes 
 

For the purposes of calculating income tax and social contribution on current income, the Company 
adopted and applied the provisions contained in Law 12,973 / 14 as from the year 2015. This law 
revoked the Transitional Tax Regime (TTR). 

 

Current income and social contribution taxes are calculated based on taxable income by applying 
current rates at the end of the period being reported. 

 
ii) Deferred income and social contribution taxes 

 

Deferred income and social contribution taxes are recognized using the liability method on temporary 
differences arising from differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax and social contribution are determined using 
tax rates (and tax laws) promulgated or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date and that must 
be applied when the respective deferred tax asset is realized or when the deferred tax liability is settled. 

 
On December 31, 2017, the Company did not recognize the deferred income tax and social 
contribution assets on losses or temporary differences on the result, since it does not estimate the 
projection of future taxable income. 
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3.12 Remuneration and social charges 
 

Monthly salaries, holiday provisions, provision of 13th salary and other supplementary payments 
negotiated in collective bargaining agreements, plus social charges due, are appropriated on an 
accrual basis. 

 

3.13 Employee Benefits 
 

The Company structures its current benefits to the employees and recognizes them by the competence 
regiment. In addition differentiated benefit plans applied. 

 

i) Profit Sharing Program - PSP 
 

The Company has a profit sharing program based on targets to be reached corporately, in which the 
amounts are estimated based on the amounts drawn by the program for each professional track and 
provisioned in the current year by the competency regiment based on the estimate of amounts paid in 
the last year. 

 

ii) Dismissal benefits 
 

On December 31, 2017, the Company has an active Voluntary Resignation Plan (PDV) for registrations 
of interested employees up to the end of the year. The structure of the plan provides for an additional 
benefit of medical and hospital care for a fixed period of up to 4 years, depending on the employee's 
working time at the Company, and an additional indemnity notice of 5 days per year worked. 

 
The amounts foreseen to cope with this restructuring program were provisioned on December 31, 
2017. 

 

3.14 Employee benefits (post-employment) 
 

The actuarial commitments with the defined pension and pension benefit plans are accrued based on 
an actuarial calculation at the end of each year, performed by an independent actuary, in accordance 
with the projected unit credit method, net of the plan's assets, when applicable. 

 

Actuarial assumptions include: demographic and economic estimates, estimates of medical costs, as 
well as historical data on employee expenditures and contributions. 

 
i) Plan I - Defined Benefit 

 
The Company contributes, on a contractual basis, to the social security benefit plan sponsored by it, 
in the defined benefit modality, administered by Metrus - Instituto de Seguridade Social, a private 
supplementary pension entity. The regular contributions comprise the net expenditures of the 
administrative cost and are recorded in the result of the period in which they are due. 

 

The projected credit unit method considers each period of service as a trigger for an additional benefit 
unit, which is accumulated for the calculation of the final obligation. Changes in the net defined benefit 
obligation are recognized when incurred as follows: i) cost of service and net interest income, in 
operating expenses and financial expenses, respectively; and ii) measurement of actuarial gains or 
losses, in other comprehensive income, directly in shareholders' equity. 

 
This plan is closed for new accessions in the Company. 



The São Paulo Metropolitan Company - Metrô 

Standardized Financial Statements           
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016 

(In thousands of Reais, unless otherwise indicated) 

 

107 

 

 

 

ii) Plan II - Defined contribution 
 

The Company also contributes to defined contribution plans sponsored by it, managed by Metrus - 
Instituto de Seguridade Social, whose percentages are based on payroll, and these contributions are 
taken to income when incurred. 

 

3.15 Other assets and liabilities (current and noncurrent) 
 

An asset is recognized only when it is probable that its future economic benefit will be generated in 
favor of the Company and its cost or value can be reliably measured. 

 
A liability is recognized when the Company has a legal or constituted obligation as a result of a past 
event, and it is probable that an economic resource will be required to settle it. 

 

3.16 Government Grants and Assistance 
 

Government grants and assistance are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the 
conditions established by the granting governmental body have been met and will be met. They are 
recorded as income or expense reduction in the income statement of the benefit period and are 
subsequently used to reserve tax incentives in shareholders' equity. 

 

3.17 Operating income 
 

The Company's operating income comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable 
in the ordinary course of business, recognized in the income statement for the effective provision of 
passenger transportation services and other adjacent services. 

 
Revenue is presented net of taxes, rebates and rebates and is recognized when its amount can be 
measured reliably, and economic benefits are likely to flow to the entity. 

 

i) Fare revenue 
 

The Company provides metro transportation services, and the respective revenues are recognized at 
the time of the user's use of the service. 

 

ii) Non-fare revenue 
 

The Company provides services adjacent to subway transportation, such as leasing, leasing and 
advertising actions in subway spaces. The revenues are based on signed contracts and are 
recognized on an accrual basis. 

 
iii) Revenue with gratuities 

 
The Company provides free-of-charge metro transportation services based on public passenger 
transport policy implemented in the Metropolitan Region of São Paulo, which are recognized for the 
use and on a monthly basis, GESP reimburses the Company on these amounts recognized. 

 

3.18 Related party transactions 
 

In order to carry out operations and transactions with related parties, it is determined that the usual 
market prices and conditions for these transactions are observed, as well as the corporate governance 
practices adopted by the Company and those recommended and / or required by the legislation. 
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3.19 Relevant accounting estimates and judgments 
 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of estimates and judgments for certain 
operations and their effects on assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The assumptions used are 
based on historical and other factors considered relevant, periodically reviewed by Management and 
the actual results may differ from the estimated values. 

 

The information on judgments and assumptions used in the application of accounting policies and 
practices that have significant effects on the amounts recognized in the financial statements and that 
have significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment are presented below: 

 
i) Fair value measurement 

 
The Company selects methods and uses judgments on the assumptions it applies in determining fair 
value. When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market 
data as much as possible. The fair values are classified at different levels in a hierarchy based on the 
inputs used in the evaluation techniques. 

 

Significant changes in the assumptions used may affect the Company's equity position. 
 

Additional information on the assumptions used in the measurement of material fair values is included 
in the following explanatory notes: 

 
a) Explanatory note 9 - Investments; 
b) Explanatory note 18 - Actuarial liabilities; 

 
ii) Useful life and recoverable value of fixed and intangible assets 

 
The useful life of the relevant fixed assets was defined by independent experts and in the specifications 
of the systems manufacturers and train fleet, in the experience and internal engineering reports when 
referring to subway construction undertakings - stations and tunnels, at the level of operation of the 
lines and fleet trains and the quality of preventive and corrective maintenance. Intangible assets with 
defined useful lives are based on reports from independent appraisers or from the manufacturers. All 
of these materials involve a high degree of judgment and uncertainty. 

 

iii) Contingent liabilities 
 

The Company is a party to judicial and administrative proceedings involving labor, civil and tax matters 
arising from the normal course of its business, whose estimates to determine the amounts of the 
obligations and the probability of withdrawal of funds are made by Management, based on opinions of 
its legal advisors, on which judgments are exercised by these advisors for evaluation. 

 
iv) Actuarial liability 

 
The Company has actuarial commitments of post-employment benefits related to retirement and 
pension plans. These commitments and costs depend on a series of economic and demographic 
assumptions, among which the most relevant are discount rates, long-term inflation, service cost 
variation, and variability in the applied actuarial table, which imply a certain degree of judgment to the 
premises adopted. 
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These and other estimates are reviewed annually by independent experts and may diverge from actual 
results due to changes in market and economic conditions. 

 

3.20 New standards and interpretations that are not yet in force 
 

The following accounting standards were issued and approved by the IASB, which are not yet in force 
and the Company did not adopt them in advance for the preparation of the financial statements as of 
December 31, 2017. 

 
Standard Description / Requirements Impacts 

 
IFRS 15 - "Customer 
Contract Revenues" 
(CPC - 47) 

Establishes new principles for the recognition, 
measurement and disclosure of revenues with 
customers. 
The requirements of IFRS 15 stipulate that 
revenue is recognized when the customer 
obtains control over the goods or services 
rendered, which changes the current model that 
is based on the transfer of risks and benefits. In 
addition, revenue must be recognized through 
the fulfillment of performance obligations. 
The new standard is effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 

The Company assessed 
the effects of adopting 
the new standard in its 
financial statements and 
did not identify any 
changes that would have 
material impacts on its 
application. 

 
IFRS 9 - "Financial 
Instruments" 
(CPC-48) 

Establishes a new model for classification of 
financial assets, based on the characteristics of 
the cash flows and the business model used to 
manage the asset. Changes the principles for 
recognition of impairment of financial assets from 
losses incurred for a model based on expected 
losses. Establishes new requirements related to 
hedge accounting. 
The new standard is effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 

 
The Company assessed 
the effects of adopting 
the new standard in its 
financial statements and 
did not identify any 
changes that would have 
material impacts on its 
application. 

 
IFRS 16 - "Leasing 
Operations" 

It establishes that financial and operating leases 
have the same accounting treatment, with only 
contracts of up to 12 months or small amounts 
falling outside the scope of this new standard. It 
thus determines that the lessees will have to 
recognize in their liabilities future payments and in 
their assets the right to use / fixed assets of the 
leased asset. In order to recognize as a result only 
depreciation or amortization expenses and not 
more lease expenses. 
The new standard is effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 

The Company continues 
to evaluate the effects of 
adopting the new 
standard in its financial 
statements. 
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4 Financial Instruments and Risk Factors 

4.1 Financial risk management 
 

a) General context 
 

The Company's Management is focused on the sustainability of its economic and financial balance 
in the normal course of its business over time. In this sense, the Subway's activities expose it to 
several factors of external market risks, related to fluctuations in tariffs, exchange rate fluctuations 
at the buying end, interest rate and other macroeconomic indices, price risks, credit risks and risks 
which introduce a degree of uncertainty about the Company's sustainable cash generation and 
results. To manage this volatility, in a way that does not distort or impair the Company's consistent 
growth in the medium and long term, Metrô has policies and procedures for the management of 
financial risks. 

 
The market risk management process comprises the following sequential and recursive steps: i) 
identification of the risk factors and the exposure of the assets, cash flow and results of the 
Company to market risks; ii) measurement and reporting of values at risk; iii) evaluation and 
definition of strategies for the management of market risks; and iv) implementation and monitoring 
of the performance of strategies. 

 
The main financial risk factors considered by: 

 

• Liquidity risk; 

• Credit risk; 

• Foreign exchange risk; 

• Interest rate risk; 

• Tariff risk; 

 

b) Classification and measurement 
 

The Company classifies its financial assets under the following categories: measured at fair value 
through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets and receivables. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets in the initial recognition. 

 
The Company recognizes all financial liabilities initially on the trade date, which is the date on which 
the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Company is not 
aware of a financial liability when its contractual obligation is withdrawn, canceled or expired. 

 
The Company classifies non-derivative financial liabilities in the category of other financial liabilities 
that include suppliers, taxes and other obligations payable. These liabilities are initially recognized 
at fair value less any attributable transaction costs. After recognition, they are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

 
The classification of the Company's financial instruments is presented below. 
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 Explanatory   12/31/2017 12/31/2016  

Active        Note  

Fair value   

Cash and cash equivalents 5 629,494 373,901 

Investments (a) 9 20,320 93,798 

Loans and receivables 
  

Accounts receivable from customers 6 280,066 233,103 

Advances to suppliers 8 37,045 27,862 

  966,925 728,664 

Passive 
   

Liabilities at amortized cost    

Suppliers 15 731,588 827,026 

Loans and financing  7,500 - 

Agreements and Contracts 20 631,315 739,670 

  1,370,403 1,566,696 

 

 
(a) From the amount included in the balance sheet under the caption "Investments", the above amounts 

express investments in securities of other companies (shares). 

 

c) Fair value versus book value 
 

The financial instruments included in the balance sheet, such as cash and banks, loans and 
financing and accounts receivable, are presented at their contractual amounts. Investments in 
securities are valued at their fair value. 

 
In order to determine the market values of assets or financial instruments traded in public and liquid 
markets, the market closing prices were used at the balance sheet dates. 

 
The comparison between the fair value and the book value of the outstanding financial instruments 
can thus be demonstrated: 

 
 

 
 
 

Active 

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 
 

Accounting Fair value Accounting Fair value 
 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 629,494 629,494 373,901 373,901 

Investments (a) 20,320 20,320 93,798 93,798 

Accounts receivable from customers 280,066 280,066 233,103 233,103 

Advances to suppliers 37,045 37,045 27,862 27,862 

Total assets 966,925 966,925 728,664 728,664 

Passive 

Suppliers 

 

731,588 

 

731,588 

 

827,026 

 

827,026 

Loans and financing 7,500 7,500 - - 

Agreements and Contracts 631,315 631,315 739,670 739,670 

Total liabilities 1,370,403 1,370,403 1,566,696 1,566,696 
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4.2 Liquidity risk 
 

The Company has its cash flow forecast made by Management. Management monitors ongoing 
forecasts of the Company's liquidity requirements to ensure that it has sufficient cash to meet operating 
needs and its obligations. 

 

The excess cash held by the Company, in addition to the required balance for the management of 
working capital, is invested in financial investments in first-tier financial institutions and financial 
investments managed by the Integrated System of Financial Administration of States and 
Municipalities - SIAFEM. 

 

4.3 Credit risk 
 

The Company has its credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and 
financial institutions, and other receivables. 

 

The Company accrues all outstanding client securities overdue for more than 90 days and not 
renegotiated, as long as there are no collateral. Also provisioned are the outstanding securities of 
clients who enter into judicial reorganization. 

 
The Company's objective is to mitigate credit risk and maintain its financial operations diversified 
among banks, with a main focus on first class financial institutions classified as high grade by the main 
risk rating agencies. 

 

4.4 Foreign exchange risk 
 

The Company may, in the natural course of its business, contract services and purchase of materials 
and equipment from foreign suppliers through its bidding processes substantially linked to investment 
programs in new subway lines, systems and train fleets, thus being exposed to exchange rate 
fluctuations on the date of purchase until the effective date and settlement of obligations. 

 
The Company evaluates that the participation of foreign suppliers in their contractual obligations is not 
relevant and therefore does not contract derivative financial instruments to deal with foreign exchange 
exposure. 

 

4.5 Interest rate risk 
 

The fluctuations of interest rates may imply effects of increase or reduction of cost over new financing 
and operations already contracted, as well as increase of financial expenses applied on obligations 
settled after the contractual term. 

 

The Company evaluates that the amount in loans and financing contracted, as well as the events in 
which it liquidates its obligations outside the contractual term, is not relevant and therefore does not 
contract derivative financial instruments to deal with structural interest rate and macroeconomic 
indexes. 

 

4.6 Tariff price risk 
 

The Company is exposed to operating tariff prices established by public policy of passenger ticket 
fares applied in the Metropolitan Region of São Paulo by the Secretary of Metropolitan Transportation 
- SMT. 

 
The Company, in order to mitigate these effects, works in an integrated manner with STM to formulate 
economic feasibility studies and apply tariff adjustments, when applicable, to tariff prices 
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in order to seek balance, both on the part of the Company and society, but it is not possible to 
guarantee that the price of tariffs will always remain at levels beneficial to the result of the Metro, due 
to several external factors that exert influence. 

 

4.7 Derivative financial instruments 
 

The Company does not carry out operations with derivative financial instruments with the purpose of 
mitigating or eliminating risks inherent to its operation. 

 

4.8 Non-Derivative Financial Instruments 
 

The Company considers for all its operations that the fair value equals the book value, since for these 
operations the book value reflects the settlement value on that date, due to the short maturity of these 
operations. Accordingly, the book values recorded in the balance sheet do not differ from the 
respective fair values on December 31, 2017. 

 

4.9 Capital management 
 

The main purpose of the Company's capital management is to ensure its liquidity, adequate coverage 
rates and mitigate risks that may impact the availability of capital applied in the normal course of 
business. 

 
The Company constantly monitors relevant indicators such as: i) the maximum limit of indebtedness, 
expressed by the limit of representativeness of up to 1% of total liabilities onerous over total assets of 
the Company; ii) Hedge ratio, which represents that all cash inflows have met the Company's 
obligations on a timely basis. 

 
As of December 31, 2017, both indices had a performance within acceptable parameters and did not 
generate exposure for the Company. 

 
 
 

 12/31/2017 12/31/2016 

Loans and financing 7,500 - 

Total Assets 33,982,620 31,269,103 

(%) E&F / AT 0,02 0,00 

Maximum Debt Limit 1% 1% 

Coverage ratio 104.8% 103.6% 

 
4.10 Guarantees 

 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company has real guarantees related to accounts receivable operations 
related to lease operations, space leases, other adjacent revenues and contracts with suppliers in the 
amount of R$ 6,268 (At December 31, 2016 in the amount of R$ 4,854). 
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5 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 
 

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 

Cash and banks 69,003 75,202 

Financial investments 

SIAFEM 545,043 64,927 

Banco do Brasil Fund - CP 11,705 233,772 

Caixa Econômica Federal Fund - CP  3,743  - 

Total financial investments - CP 560,491 298,699 

 

 
According to State Decree No. 60244/14, the Company's financial investments are managed by the 
SIAFEM securities brokerage linked to the Finance Department - SEFAZ, where the application profile 
is aimed at low risk securities and correspond to indexed applications by the Interbank Deposit 
Certificate ("CDI"). Smallest part is allocated to short-term investment funds managed by Banco do 
Brasil and Caixa Econômica Federal. 

 
At December 31, 2017 and 2016, remuneration rates ranged from 99.05% to 99.26% of CDI and 
98.94% to 99.03%, respectively. 

 

6 Accounts receivable 
 

6.1 Accounts receivable, net 

 
 

Customers 

 
 

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 
  

Third Parties 309,071 278,503 

Related Parties 

Sao Paulo's State Government  (a) 200,203 154,217 

509,274 432,720 

Other Accounts Receivable 

Petrobrás reimbursement (Paulista Station) (b) 40,564 40,564 

Commissioned (c) 30,192 24,141 

  Others  

70,756 64,705 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (299,964) (264,322) 

Total accounts receivable, net 280,066 233,103 

(a)  GESP and Metrô signed on October 30, 2015, an Agreement Agreement aiming at the recomposition of tariff 
revenue, arising from the difference between the contractual remuneration paid to the private Concessionaire, 
Line 4 - Amarela, and the sale of the system's right to travel metroferroviário (public tariff). On December 31, 
2017, the amount to be transferred to the Subway is R$ 198,100, while Other Accounts Receivable with 
GESP amounts to R$ 2,103. 

(b) The land was expropriated for the construction of the Paulista Station of Line 4 Amarela, on Rua da Consolação, 
where there was a gas station owned by Petrobrás. When demolishing the existing structure it was identified 
that the soil was contaminated due to fuel leaks. The Company paid the expenses for the proper 
decontamination of the land and claims legal redress of these expenses with the company.  

Total cash and cash equivalents 629,494 373,901 
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(c) Represents the amount receivable by the Company for the assignment of professionals, belonging to its 
board to other companies linked to the management of GESP or to public entities. 

 

6.2 Accounts receivable due and past due  

  12/31/2017  12/31/2016 

 

Due 10,558 
 

219,299 
 Up to 3 months 58,801  5,484 
 Above 3 months 510,671  272,642 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (299,964) (264,322) 

Total accounts receivable - due and past due 280,066 233,103 

 

6.3 Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts 
 
 

 12/31/2017  12/31/2016 

Opening balances (264,322) 
 

(231,979) 

Credits provisioned in the period (54,330)  (168,244) 

Credits recovered in the period 

Credits definitively dropped from position 

18,688 

- 

 135,901 

- 

Saldos finais (299,964)  (264,322) 

 
7 Stocks  

  12/31/2017  12/31/2016 

 Common and administrative materials 6,003  210 

 Replacement materials 174,487  155,309 

 General Consumption and Maintenance Materials 38,353  34,938 

 Materials held by third parties 4,317  13,983 

 Other stocks (a) 4,082  5,253 

 Total 227,242  209,693 

(a) The other stocks group consists of: Ticket Stocks, Return and Importation Materials in Progress. 

 

No inventory items were made available for pledge or guarantee against liabilities for the periods 
presented. 

 

8 Advance to suppliers 

Advances to suppliers represent prepaid amounts to the Company's employees, as voluntary charges 
(supermarket check, hospital and dental medical assistance, transportation voucher, additional cash 
wrap, pharmacy agreement, meal aid), as well as representation funds to pay travel expenses. Also 
included in this group are advances to domestic suppliers and emergency loans granted to employees. 
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As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the amount of advances of financial resources is R$ 37,045 and 
R$ 27,862, respectively. Advances to suppliers for investments in the expansion of the subway network 
are included in Fixed assets (see Note 11). 

 

9 Investments 
 

     12/31/2017     12/31/2016  

Securities - priced at B3 (a) 8,934 26,868 

Securities - no quotation on B3 (b) 15,349 15,349 

Fair Value - mark to market (3,963) 51,581 

 20,320 93,797 

Works of art 5,114 5,114 

 Total investments 25,434 98,911 

(a) Amounts calculated based on the fair value of the quotation of the shares of the companies listed in B3 - 
Brazil, Stock Exchange, Stock Exchange and Stock Market, at the end of the fiscal year. 

(b) Amounts determined by the equity value of the shares based on the analysis of the last financial 
statements of the disclosed companies. 

 
9.1 Investments in companies with shares traded on exchanges 

 

 
 
 

 
Companies 

 
 
 

 
Code B3 

 
 
 

Purchase 

Listing on a stock exchange 

or determined by book value  

Number of Shares (R$ per share) 
 

 
 
 

Fair market value 

        Cost - R$ 12/31/2017    12/31/2016   Tipo   12/31/2017         12/31/2016  12/31/2017    12/31/2016 

 
CESP CESP3 8,934 1,182,500 1,182,500 PN 11.38 12,64 13,457 14,947 

DUKE GEPA4 2,613 - 1,070,300 PN - 40,99 - 43,872 

ELETROPAULO ELPL3 15,321 - 1,400,814 PN - 24,97 - 34,979 

EMAE (a) EMAE3 15,349 350,832 350,832 ON 19.56 - 6,863 - 

Total  42,217 1,533,332 4,004,446    20,320 93,798 

 

(a) The ON shares that the Company owns from EMAE - Empresa Metropolitana de Aguas and Energia S / A - 
are not quoted on stock exchanges. The indicated reference, therefore, is the equity value of the share. 

 

10 Remuneration of Directors and Employees 

On December 31, 2017 and 2016, the amounts with the highest and lowest remuneration practiced 
and the average salary for the year are presented. These amounts include fixed remuneration (salaries 
and fees, vacations and 13th salary), social charges (contributions to social security - INSS part 
company and guarantee fund by length of service - FGTS) and variable remuneration as a program of 
participation in results and benefits, according to the salary policy practiced by the Subway. 

 

The highest honorary attributed to a director in the year ended December 31, 2017, in accordance with 
Decree n. 2.355 / 87 and Law n. 8.852 / 94, correspond to R$ 20,590.00 for Statutory Officer (opinion 
of the State Capitals - CODEC n ° 003/2013) and of R$ 28,955.00 for non-statutory Director. 
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Remunerations paid to employees 

        in reais (R$) 

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 

 

Higher value 28,955.00 27,919.00 

Lower value 2,159.00 2,081.00 

Average salary in the year 6,676.42 6,494.20 

 

11 Fixed Assets 

11.1 By nature of assets 
 

 
 

 
Buildings Estations 

 

 
Tunnels, Viaducts, 
Terminals and 
other structures

 

 
Rolling 

Stock 

(Trains) 

 

 
Track and 

Auxiliary 

Systems 

 
 
 

Facilities and 

Equipment 

 

 
Unappro

priated 

Land 

 
 
 

Constructi

on in 

progress 

Consolidated 

 
Total Fixed 

Assets 

 
 

Annual average depreciation rate 2.00% 1.67% 1.35% 2.50% 2.50% 8.33% - - - 

Purchase cost 

Balances as of December 31, 2016 702,824 3,419,395 5,062,736 2,433,723 3,474,846 203,619 2,548,795 15,823,905 33,669,843 

Additions - - - 267,282 - 6,632 39,187 2,323,389 2,636,489 

Retirements - - - - - (434) - (38,651) (39,085) 

Net Transfers - (10) - (10,792) (16) (0) - 10,819 - 

Provision for losses ("Impairment") - - - - - - - - - 

Balances as of December 31, 2017 702,824 3,419,385 5,062,736 2,690,212 3,474,830 209,817 2,587,982 18,119,462 36,267,248 

 

Depreciation 

         

Balances as of December 31, 2016 (181,341) (967,715) (647,799) (692,291) (1,225,059) (172,742) - - (3,886,947) 

Depreciation (14,414) (57,825) (40,114) (74,904) (142,527) (19,218) - - (349,001) 

Retirements - 16 - 13,590 30,498 2,810 - - 46,914 

Net Transfers - - 1 - - (1) - - - 

Balances as of December 31, 2017 (195,755) (1,025,524) (687,912) (753,605) (1,337,087) (189,151) - - (4,189,034) 

Residual value 
         

Balances as of December 31, 2017 507,069 2,393,861 4,374,824 1,936,607 2,137,743 20,666 2,587,982 18,119,462 32,078,214 

Balances as of December 31, 2016 521,483 2,451,680 4,414,937 1,741,432 2,249,788 30,876 2,548,795 15,823,905 29,782,896 

 

11.2 By estimated lifetime 
 

On December 31, 2017, the Company carried out the economic recovery of fixed assets. 
 

For each group of Operational Fixed Assets: Expropriated Lands, Civil Works, Rolling Stock and 
Systems, the last contracts formalized between the Metro with independent market participants or the 
last estimated valuation (in the case of expropriations) were identified. These contracted amounts were 
updated, when necessary, to the base date of these financial statements by the Consumer Price Index 
of the Municipality of São Paulo - IPC / FIPE. 



The São Paulo Metropolitan Company - Metrô 

Standardized Financial Statements           
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016 

(In thousands of Reais, unless otherwise indicated) 

 

118 

 

 

 

Buildings, civil works, systems, machinery, 

equipment and other goods 

Acquisition  Accumulated  
(a) 

Balance on 

Estimated Useful Life 
           Cost depreciation 12/31/2017 

Up To 5 Years 65,958 (50,386) 15,572 

6 - 10 Years 137,553 (94,658) 42,895 

11 - 20 Years 702,373 (363,989) 338,384 

21 - 25 Years 1,524 (1,481) 43 

26 - 30 Years 869,034 (413,747) 455,288 

31 - 40 Years 2,690,212 (753,605) 1,936,608 

Over 40 Years 11,093,149 (2,511,168) 8,581,981 

 15,559,804 (4,189,033) 11,370,771 

(a) The amounts include the operating assets, excluding expropriated land and works in progress. 
 

11.3 Asset recovery assessment - impairment test 
 

On December 31, 2017, the Company carried out the economic recovery of fixed assets. 
 

For each group of Operational Fixed Assets: Expropriated Lands, Civil Works, Rolling Stock and 
Systems, the last contracts formalized between the Metro with independent market participants or the 
last estimated valuation (in the case of expropriations) were identified. These contracted amounts were 
updated, when necessary, to the base date of these financial statements by the Consumer Price Index 
of the Municipality of São Paulo - IPC / FIPE. 

 
Subsequently the amounts were divided by the extension in kilometers of the civil works or systems of 
the corresponding contract to obtain the unit reference value per kilometer. Similar procedure was 
adopted for rolling stock: value of the last contract divided by the number of corresponding trains for 
the calculation of the unit reference value per train. 

 
The product of the unit reference values for the extension in kilometers and the number of trains of 
each of the lines in operation resulted in the recoverability values of the assets which were compared 
with their carrying amounts in order to detect the result of the impairment test. 

 

Assumptions and Judgments: 
 

i) The Company believes that its recent contracting reflects the current costs of the Market as it is 
preceded by detailed budget evaluations prepared by its specialists in the area of Cost Engineering 
and that the final results achieved and negotiated for the formalization of the contracts are always 
equal to or lower than the of the Company's valuation; 

 

ii) Line 5 - Lilás was built by Companhia Paulista de Trens Metropolitanos - CPTM in Capão 
Redondo - Largo Treze de Maio, and under Agreement 326474109100 (AII) also validated on 
December 27, 2012, is operated by the Subway. The stretch Largo Treze de Maio to Chácara Klabin 
is under construction by the Company; 

 
iii) In the Basic Network are recorded the initial fixtures required for the study by the HMD 
Consortium (Hochtief Montreal Deconsult) to plan the entire network; 

 
iv) The operational assets are in perfect condition and the interventions carried out up to now are 
due to normal maintenance or only for the modernization of their systems. 
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The Company, therefore, considers that it is not necessary to change the useful lives of property, 
plant and equipment. 

 

The following is a summary of the tests carried out on fixed assets: 
 
 

 

Base 
Line 1 - Blue 

(a) 

Line 2 - Green 

(b) 

Line 3 – Red      

(c) 

Line 4 -Amarela 

(d) 

Line 5 - Lilac 

(e) 

Line 15 - Silver 

(f) 

Line 17 - Gold 

(f) 

Basic Network 

(g) 

   Qty.    Qty.   Qty.   Qty.    Qty.   Qty.   Qty.    Qty. Totals 
 

 

 
 
 

Item 

Current line extension (km) 20.2 14.7 22 12.8 3 2.3 7.7 12.5 

Number of trains 58 27 57 14 1 

Unappropriated Land   reference value * unit 1,314,447 956,553 1,431,576 832,917 999,370 149,665 501,052 813,396 6,998,976 

Civil Works: tunnels, elevated, stations, patio,          

Terminals and stations reference value * unit 12,115,034 8,816,386 13,194,591 7,676,853 1,799,262 1,379,435 - 7,496,927 52,478,489 

Rolling Stock         reference value * unit 

Systems: power supply, communication, 

1,151,873 536,217 1,132,013 - - 19,860 - - 2,839,962 

               telecommunication, control and auxiliaryies    reference value * unit 1,071,607 779,833 1,167,097 679,038 - 122,015 - - 3,819,589 

Grand total 15,652,960 11,088,988 16,925,277 9,188,808 2,798,633 1,670,974 501,052 8,310,322 66,137,015 

Original Accounting Cost as of 12/31/17 2,380,120 6,487,695 4,887,078 2,778,279 687,559 655,867 265,372 5,815 18,147,786 

(a) Operating Extent: Jabaquara - Tucuruvi; 
(b) Operating Extent: Vila Prudente - Vila Madalena; 
(c) Extensão Operacional: Corinthians Itaquera - Palmeiras Barra Funda; 
(d) Line granted by the Government of the State of São Paulo to the private initiative. Operated and 

carried out by Consórcio ViaQuatro. 
(e) Operational Extent: Capão Redondo - Brooklin (12.3 Km), 3 km built by the Subway and the others by 

CPTM; 
(f) Lines under construction - pre-operational phase; and 
(g) Lines under construction - pre-operational phase. 

 

On December 31, 2017, the Company performed the impairment test of its property, plant and 
equipment and did not find any evidence of impairment to be recorded as losses, as described above. 

 

11.4 Complaints involving the Metro and the acquisition of assets 
 

Cartel of Subway Sector: 

 
In 2013, the State Attorney General's Office, the State Public Prosecutor's Office (MPE), the Metro 
and CPTM filed a lawsuit against six companies seeking compensation for cartels in the acquisition of 
trains and systems, based on the Leniency Agreement company with the Administrative Council for 
Economic Defense - CADE. 

 
The agreement mentioned an activity of the companies of the sector in the world, to co-ordinate the 
competitiveness of the market, between 1998 and 2009, and among those affected were mentioned 
the contracts of acquisition of trains of the CPTM for Line 5 and a contract of the Metrô for supply 
system for Line 2. 

 

This action is in the initial phase, awaiting the citations of all the companies demanded to present 
answers. 
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Cartel of Contractors – “Lava Jato” Operation: 

 
In 2017, CADE filed an administrative proceeding to determine the formation of a cartel by contractors 
that participated in public bids, including subway works in seven states (São Paulo, Rio de Janeiro, 
Ceará, Minas Gerais, Paraná and Rio Grande do Sul) and in the Federal District. The determination 
is processed before the General Superintendence of the municipality and uses information obtained 
through a leniency agreement signed by the construction company Camargo Corrêa and the Federal 
Public Prosecutor's Office (MPF), which was the outcome of the 23rd phase of Operation Lava Jato. 

 

The alleged scheme involved several contractors, of which five were more relevant and authorized to 
operate the "Shield" equipment, commonly known as "Tatuzão", used for subway tunnel construction 
projects between 1998 and 2014. Such companies would have organized to winning winners of bidding 
competitions, avoiding discounts in biddings and circumventing competitiveness, with the alleged 
involvement of public agents. The investigations comprise the works of Lines 2 - Green and 5- Lilacs 
of the Subway. 

 
There is a public civil action filed by the State Public Prosecutor in 2011, which intends to recover 
amounts in the order of R$ 327 million to the Company of the Metro. 

 
Both of the above cases have not yet been closed or have been res judicata verified. The Company 
did not perform accounting recognition of possible losses on its equity as of December 31, 2017, as a 
result of these facts. 

 

The Metro Company reaffirms, finally, that for both cases it is being officially recognized in the cases 
as a victim. 

 

12 Intangible 

12.1 Intangible assets with defined useful lives 

 

Origin- 

Destination 

Implemented 

Search 

 
Implanted 

Software 

Search Origin-

Destination in 

Implementation    

 
       Software          
           in 
employment

 

Total 

 
 

Useful Life in Years 10 5        n/a      n/a 

Purchase cost 3,717 10,675 - 72,986 87,379 

Accumulated Amortization (2,758) (3,086) - - (5,843) 

Balances as of December 31, 2016 960 7,589 - 72,986 81,535 

Acquisitions - 6,132 4,599 10,020 20,752 

Amortization - (4,962) - - (4,962) 

Retirements - - - - - 

Transfers and others (a) (442) 83,007 (487) (83,007) (929) 

Accounting balance 518 91,766 4,112 - 96,396 

Purchase cost 3,717 99,814 4,112 - 107,643 

Accumulated Amortization (3,200) (8,047) - - (11,247) 

Balances as of December 31, 2017 518 91,766   4,112 - 96,396 

(a) Transfer of Softwares in Deployment for Deployed Softwares due to the beginning of the operation of the 
integrated management system - SAP and the MASTERSAF control and calculation system in November 
2017. 
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13 Deferred 

The amounts recorded as deferred are expenses arising from the preparation of projects, analyzes 
and research for future ventures. Following the change in the accounting standards introduced by Law 
11,638 / 07, there were no additions to the group, only amortization of the remaining net balance of 
the reclassifications to groups of accounts that the amounts could have been adjusted when the 
standard was adopted. 

 
 

 
Pre-operating expenses 

                   Annual                        

.                 depreciation rate 

 
12/31/2017 12/31/2016 

 
  

 

Lines implemented  65,141 65,141 

Amortization 10% (42,920) (36,102) 

Associated ventures implemented  2,434 2,434 

Amortization 10% (1,465) (1,095) 

Total deferred  23,190 30,378 

 

14 Related Party Transactions 

The Company has a corporate policy approved by the Board of Directors to regulate and guide its staff 
in the celebration of transactions involving related parties and in situations that may generate a 
potential conflict of interest in these transactions. In this way, it aims to ensure the Company's interests, 
in line with process transparency and best Corporate Governance practices. 

 
 
 

Related Parties            Nature of Main                  

                                      Operation 

 
 

Current 

12/31/2017 

Non 

Current Total Current 

12/31/2016 

Non 

Current Total 

Active 

GESP C/R - transport services (a) 200,203 - 200,203 154,217 - 154,217 

Liabilities  

CBTU C/P - Agreements (b) (3,886) (238,285) (242,171) (3,886) (242,159) (246,045) 

Metrus - Insitute C/P – Health Services/Social Benefits (c) (28,178) - (28,178) (24,539) - (24,539) 

Total  168,139 (238,285) (70,146) 125,792 (242,159) (116,367) 

Result      2017 2016 

CPTM Asset Revenues L5 (d)     33,220 34,744 

Administration Payroll Expenses  (e)     (2,024) (2,044) 

Total      31,196 32,700 

(a) Amounts receivable from the Government of the State of São Paulo referring to reimbursements for the 
passenger transportation operation and reimbursement of land sales - Explanatory note 6. 

(b) Amounts payable to the Brazilian Company of Urban Trains - CBTU related to agreements with indirect 
related parties - Explanatory Note 20. 

(c) Amounts payable to Metrus - Social Security Institute, where the Company is the majority sponsor, referring 
to private pension plan (Plan I and Plan II) and medical care of its employees. 

(d) Revenues earned in Line 5 - Lilás, although all the stations and trains in operation are owned by Companhia 
Paulista de Trens Metropolitanos - CPTM, the operation of this line is carried out by the Company, according 
to the Agreement signed and subsequently validated on December 27 2012. 

(e) This is the amount paid as expenses of the Board or Board. 

 

The Company is a participant in the integrated metropolitan transportation system of the State of São 
Paulo, composed of rail, subway and bus networks. Therefore in certain stations there is the 
connection of passengers, who transit from one system to another, in order to complete their journey, 
and by this transfer pay the system to the single value of the integrated ticket.  
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This free transit of passengers between modes of transport is governed by an agreement concluded 
and does not generate amounts receivable or payable by any of the participants of the integrated 
transport system. 

 

The Company considers transaction with related parties, not based on financial amounts, its 
transportation operation in stations where there is possible connection with CPTM operations and Line 
4 - Yellow, operated by the private company ViaQuatro. 

 

15 Suppliers 
 

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 
  

National third parties 
 

Building Contractors 279,434 252,614 

Systems 332,365 423,993 

Provision of Services 95,175 112,316 

Electricity 792 6,630 

Other (Assets, Materials and Tickets) 21,056 30,159 

 728,822 825,712 

International Third Parties 2,766 1,314 

Total Suppliers 731,588 827,026 

 
16 

 
Taxes and Social Contributions to be Collected 

   

  12/31/2017  12/31/2016 

 
INSS - Social security contribution on gross revenue 49,058 

 
47,896 

 PIS - on non-tariff revenue and imports 2,361  1,109 

 COFINS - on non-tariff income and imports 11,107  6,812 

 IRRF and CSLL - retained in payments to suppliers 50,952  35,356 
 IRPJ and CSLL - current collection -  3,456 

 Other taxes and contributions (a) 13,771  7,136 

 Total 127,249  101,765 

(a) As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, amounts to be collected related to ISS, ICMS, Corporate Taxes, CIDE, 
contributions to SESI / SENAI and PIS / COFINS / CSLL for service contracts. 

 
During the year, the Company adhered to Tax Regularization Programs, whose initial installments 
have been recorded as an advance (article 12, paragraph 2, of Federal Law 10,522 / 02) in Non-current 
Assets. In due time, after the respective homologations and consolidations of their values, these will 
be accounted for as taxes to be collected, being: 

 
Special Tax Regularization Program - Social Security Due - PERT - of the Attorney General of the 
National Treasury - PERT / PGFN, dealt with MP No. 783/2017 and Law No. 13,496 / 2017, with 
membership on October 31, in the amount of R$ 61,299, to be settled in 120 installments. 

 
Special Tax Regularization Program - OTHER DEBTS - PERT - of the Brazilian Federal Revenue 
Secretariat - RFB, which deals with MP No. 783/2017 and Law No. 13.496 / 2017, with adhesion on 
September 28, amount of R$ 6,496, to be settled in 5 installments totaling R$ 487, and the residual 
amount of R$ 6,008 to be settled with tax loss / negative calculation basis of CSLL. 

 

Special Tax Regularization Program - Social Security Deficit - PERT - of the Federal Revenue Service 
of Brazil - RFB, which deals with MP No. 783/2017 and Law No. 13.496 / 2017, 
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with adhesion on 09/27/2017, in the amount of R$ 30,866, to be settled in 5 installments totaling R$ 
6,173, and the residual of R$ 24,692 to be settled with tax loss / negative basis of calculation of CSLL. 

 

Federal Tax Revenue Program - PRT - of the Federal Revenue Service of Brazil - RFB, which is dealt 
with MP No. 766/2017, with membership on 05/26/2017, amount of R$ 26,635, to be settled in 24 
installments totaling R$ 6,392, and the residual of R$ 20,243 to be settled with a tax loss / negative 
basis of calculation of CSLL. 

 

17 Income tax and social contribution 

17.1 Deferred income and social contribution taxes 
 

Deferred income tax and social contribution are calculated on the temporary differences between the 
bases of calculation of income taxes and the accounting amounts recorded (changes in miscellaneous 
provisions and calculation of the fair value of financial instruments). 

 

The nominal rates currently defined by current tax legislation to determine deferred taxes are 25% for 
income tax and 9% for social contribution. 

 
At December 31, 2017, the Company did not recognize deferred tax assets on temporary differences, 
tax loss carryforwards and negative social contribution bases, since there is no expectation of taxable 
income for the coming years, except for deferred tax assets over losses with Adjustment to Fair Value 
of Securities and Actuarial Loss on Retirement / Pension Plan. 

 
The deferred income and social contribution balances have the following origin: 

 

 12/31/2017  13/31/2016 

PECLD Provisions 12,909 
 

12,202 

Contingency Provisions 40,162  20,226 

POS provisions 92,270  14,741 

Fair Value Adjustment - Securities (Losses) 1,348  - 

Actuarial Loss (Retirement / Pension Plan) 54,266  - 

Non-current assets 200,954  47,168 

Reversal PECLD Provisions - 
 

1,206 

Reversal Provisions of Contingencies 15,374  3,829 

Reversal of POS provisions 61,410  - 

Fair Value Adjustment - Securities (Gains) -  17,537 

Actuarial Gain (Retirement / Pension Plan) -  9,888 

Non-current liabilities 76,784  32,460 

 
Total non-current assets before adjustments 

 
124,170 

  
14,709 

Total non-current liabilities before adjustments -  - 

Opening balance of the deferred tax liabilities account (17,537)  (9,064) 

Downgrade due to no expectation of future profit (a) (51,019)  (23,182) 
 

Total non-current assets 55,614 - 

Total non-current liabilities - (17,537) 

(a) Adjustment due to the substantial recognition of deferred taxes on items directly recorded in shareholders' 
equity. 
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The composition of the tax losses and the negative basis of the social contribution, both accumulated 
only in tax bases, are presented below: 

 
 

12/31/2017   12/31/2016 

Tax losses 3,840,163 
  

3,718,011 

Negative basis of social contribution 3,608,737   3,512,806 

17.2 Reconciliation of income tax and social contribution 
   

12/31/2017   12/31/2016 

 
 

Loss before income and social contribution taxes (326,620) 

   
 

(209,723) 

Income tax and social contribution at nominal rates (34%) 111,051   71,306 

 

Adjustments to calculate effective tax rate: 
   

Provision for contingencies, net 72,906   48,227 

Provisions related to the voluntary redundancy plan 90,765   76,059 

Provisions other, net 45,219   27,039 

Law 8,200 / 91 - CSLL (a) 26,825   27,474 

Taxes with suspended liability (b) 2,378   27,035 

Other net additions and exclusions (33,624)   13,737 

Current income and social contribution taxes -   (3,456) 

Deferred income and social contribution taxes 17,537   - 

Total 17,537   (3,456) 

Effective rate of income tax and social contribution 5.4%   0.,0% 

(a) This addition adjustment applies only to CSLL and derives from the difference between the depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment monetarily restated by Law 8,200 / 91 in relation to the depreciation provided 
for in Law 6,404 / 76. 

(b) These are taxes under discussion, the amount being deposited in court. In this way they temporarily lose 
their deductibility. 

 
 

18 Actuarial Liabilities 

18.1 Benefit Plans 
 

The Company assures the payment of defined-benefit pension plans and definite contributions 
directed toward its employees and managed by Metrus - Instituto de Seguridade Social, a closed 
pension fund entity, in which the Sub-company is a sponsor. 

 
i) Defined Benefit (Plan I) 

 

Benefit dConceded to employees up to 1999 with fixed contributions and provides for the 
payment of lifetime supplementary income benefits for participants with at least 60 years of age 
with 10 years of participation in the defined plan (Plan I). 

 
ii) Defined Contribution (Plan II) 

 

Granted to employees after 1999 and for participants who accepted the migration of Plan I, it 
provides contributions that can be fixed supplemented with variable contributions and at the end 
can reach the same structure of payment of benefits in the same conditions of participation time 
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in the plan and age that the Plan I. 
 

Both plans are limited to the remuneration curve of the quota balance in effect when the participant is 
eligible for the benefit and are limited to up to 70% of the current remuneration of the professional. The 
difference is that in Plan I, the participant has assured by the sponsor the right to the benefit of 70% 
of the remuneration, if the contribution plan is fulfilled and regardless of the performance of the plan's 
financial assets and liabilities, while in Plan II, the 70 % of the remuneration are conditioned to the 
additional contributions that the participant can make and the performance of the assets and liabilities 
of the plan. 

 
The Company offers the death benefit to the assisted participant and disability retirement pension. 

 

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the future obligations of these benefits under Plan I were R$ 257,611 
and R$ 127,087, respectively. 

 
The contribution amounts of the sponsor and participants for Plan II were R$ 66,357 and R$ 61,882, 
respectively, for 2017 and 2016. 

 

18.2 Main economic and biometric actuarial assumptions used in calculating 
actuarial liabilities 

 

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 
 

Average length of payments - Plan I 15 years 15 years 

Average duration of payments - Plan II 19 years 19 years 

Discount Rate - Plan I 9.46% per year 11.94% per year 

Discount Rate - Plan II 9.54% per year 11.87% per year 

Long-term inflation rate 4.00% per year 5.50%  per year 

Biometric Survival Table - Plan I  AT-83  AT-83 

Biometric Survival Table - Plan II AT-2000 AT-2000 

Biometric Table of Invalidity of Mortality IBGE 2010 IBGE 2010 
 

At December 31, 2017, the sensitivity of the balance of the actuarial liability to changes in the main 
assumptions used, considering the remaining: 

 
 

Variation
   

Premise  Premise 
 increase  reduction 

Plan I      

Discount rate 0.25% 
 

Reduction of 2.26% 
 

Increase of 2.36% 

Wage growth rate 1.00%  Increase of 2.08%  Reduction of 1.34% 

Plan II 
     

Discount rate 0.25% 
 

Increase of 0.01% 
 

Reduction of 0.01% 

Wage growth rate 1.00%  Increase of 0.03%  Reduction of 0.03% 
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18.3 Changes in net actuarial liabilities and fair value of plan assets and actuarial 
liabilities 

Plan I 

Opening balance as of December 31, 2015 115,587 

Cost of current service 24,523 

Interest on actuarial liability 14,853 

Sponsor contributions (22,651) 

Participants' contributions (22,651) 

(Actuarial gains / losses) - ORA 17,426 

Closing balance on December 31, 2016 127,087 

Cost of current service 22,789 

Interest on actuarial liability 27,814 

Sponsor contributions (24,269) 

Participants' contributions (25,501) 

(Actuarial gains / losses) - ORA Adjustment (2016) 129,087 

(Actuarial gains / losses) -  ORA (2017) 604 

Present value of actuarial liabilities 1,493,311 

Fair value of plan assets (1,235,700) 

 

The Company recognizes actuarial gains or losses arising from actuarial assumptions directly in 
shareholders' equity, as an adjustment to equity valuation, net of deferred income tax. 

 

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the amount of benefits paid jointly by the two plans was R$ 96,467 
and R$ 73,949, respectively. 

 

19 Provision for Legal Contingencies 

The Company is a liability company in a series of lawsuits related to the normal course of business, 
including labor, civil, tax and social security actions. Management recognizes provisions consistently 
in the financial statements when the likelihood of loss is considered probable by its legal advisors. 

 
The term and amounts of payments may vary depending on the final outcome of legal proceedings. 
Provisions are thus shown: 

 
 

Balance 

on 

12/31/2016 

Additions       

                     
Monetary 

     updates 

    Settlement 

/Retirement 

 Balance   

on  

12/31/2017 

  Net Exposure on  

12/31/2017 

Labor 175,850 46,706 37,851 (33,418) 226,989 226,989 

Civil 395,431 2,498 22,236 (1,292) 418,873 418,873 

Taxes and social security 63 - 1 (12) 52 52 

Total 571,344 49,204 60,088 (34,722) 645,914 645,914 

Net amount as of December 31, 2017 257,611 

                         Closing balance on December 31, 2017 257,611 
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19.1 Labor proceedings 
 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company is included in the liability category in 6,240 labor claims. The 
accumulated amount of deposits related to labor contingencies totals R$ 386,145. 

 

In general, the labor lawsuits are related, mainly, to the claim of dangerousness, salary equalization 
and overtime. 

 

19.2 Civil proceedings 
 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company is listed on the liability side of 2,183 civil claims. The 
accumulated value of deposits related to civil contingencies totals R$ 46,221. 

 
In general, the civil lawsuits are related mainly to the discussion of credits receivable, damages for 
material damages, moral damages. 

 

Among the proceedings, the lawsuit filed by the company EMTEL, described below, details the: 
 

“Turma da Rua” Contract 
 

According to an agreement entered into with Metrus in October 1988, this responsibility was assigned 
to the administration of the “Turma da Rua Program”, and the subway remained responsible for all the 
costs resulting therefrom, in accordance with the determinations of the GESP. In this sense, the Metrô 
passed on the necessary resources to Metrus. The workforce for the execution of this Program was 
outsourced, with the hiring of EMTEL - Recursos Humanos e Serviços Terceirizados Ltda. 

 
The contract with EMTEL ended on March 6, 1995, when the administration of the Program returned 
to the responsibility of the Subway, as an emergency, since the services could not be interrupted and 
there was no legal possibility of extension of the contract. 

 
There is currently a legal claim between EMTEL and Metrus, where labor claims are discussed, plus 
procedural costs, monetary correction, late fees and attorney fees, which the Institute does not 
recognize as its obligation. 

 

In addition, several labor claims were filed against EMTEL, in which Metrus may also have to be jointly 
and severally liable for the obligations arising from. 

 

Therefore, as a result of the agreement entered into between Metrô and Metrus, any expenses arising 
from these processes, if due by the Institute, will be ultimately borne by the Metro and GESP. On 
December 31, 2017, the amount provisioned for this contingency, due to its probable probability, is R$ 
344,630 (On December 31, 2016, in the amount of R$ 325,736). 

 

19.3 Tax and social security processes 
 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company is listed on the liability side in 696 administrative and judicial 
proceedings of a tax and social security nature. The accumulated amount of deposits related to tax 
and social security contingencies totals R$ 27,964. 

 

In general, the tax and social security lawsuits are mainly related to ISS collection exemptions related 
to demolitions, fines applied, discussions on the application of taxes. 
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19.4 Not provisioned Lawsuits 
 

The Company has labor, civil and tax lawsuits that are not provisioned, as they involve risk with 
probability of loss classified by Management and by its legal counsel as possible. 

 

 12/31/2017  12/31/2016 

Labor 257,512 
 

227,215 

Civil 4,041,977  3,903,314 

Tax and social security 13,210  10,891 

Total 4,312,699  4,141,420 

 
 

20 Agreements, Contracts and Others  

  12/31/2017  12/31/2016 

 Current Liabilities    

 Third Party    

 Profit Sharing Program - PPR 66,051  61,757 

 PDV - Indentification and Assistance Services (b) 24,612  20,140 

 Events with Suppliers (c) 55,381  47,304 

 Insurance 3,227  637 
 Others 27,478  90,964 

  176,749  220,802 

 Related parties    

CBTU Agreement (a) 3,886  3,886 

Metrus Previdência e Saúde (Health Services and  
                                                       Social Benefits) 

28,178  24,539 

 32,064  28,425 

 208,813  249,227 

Non-Current Liabilities    

Third Party    

Consortium - Tatuapé and Boulevard Shopping 86,835  89,857 

Companhia Santa Cruz 28,925  29,801 

PDV - Indemnification and Assistance Services (b) 47,808  107,977 

INSS - SAT installment agreement 17,516  17,16 

Others 3,133  3,133 

 184,217  248,284 

 Related Parties    

CBTU Agreement (a) 238,285 242,159 

 422,502 490,443 

Total 631,315 739,670 

(a)    Agreement signed on December 28, 2007, between the Brazilian Company of Urban Trains - CBTU and the 
Metro. This agreement has the intervention of the State Department of Metropolitan Transports - STM, to 
proceed with Line 2 - Green - Vila Madalena-Oratório - with the implementation of the Alto do Ipiranga-Vila 
Prudente section of the São Paulo Subway. The total amount of this agreement is R$ 351,000. (Explanatory 
note 14). 

(b) At the Board Meeting held on 10/16/2015, through Board Resolution No. 364, a Voluntary Resignation Plan 
was approved for the employees of the Metro Company. In December 2017, the amount shows part of the 
benefits offered in the program with medical and dental care for four years, recorded in current and non- 



The São Paulo Metropolitan Company - Metrô 

Standardized Financial Statements           
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016 

(In thousands of Reais, unless otherwise indicated) 

 

129 

 

 

 
current liabilities, respectively. 
(c) Advance amounts for companies supplying Systems. 

 
 

21 Net worth 

21.1 Authorized capital 
 

The Company operates under an authorized share capital regime, which was set at an Ordinary and 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on April 28, 2008 in the amount of R$ 39,845,226 as described in 
Article 3 of the Bylaws (December 31, 2008). 2017 and 2016 in the amount of R$ 39,845,226, 
respectively). 

 
The Board of Directors may decide to increase the capital within the authorized limit and after hearing 
the Fiscal Council, according to Article 14, item XIII of the Company's Bylaws. 

 

21.2 Subscribed and paid-up capital 
 

On December 31, 2017, the subscribed and paid-in capital stock in the amount of R$ 36,461,066 and 
is composed of 32,174,711,914 common shares of a single class, registered, with no par value and 
entitled to one vote each (On December 2016 in the amount of R$ 33,592,881 and 29,224,418,322 
shares). 

 

 The composition of the capital stock is shown below: 

 
 

SHAREHOLDER 
12/31/2017 12/31/2016 

      QUANTITY - ON %      QUANTITY - ON % 

STATE OF SÃO PAULO FARM - FESP 31,150,723,532 96.82% 28,200,429,940 96.50% 

SÃO PAULO MUNICIPALITY COUNCIL - PMSP 1,010,161,084 3.14% 1,010,161,084 3.46% 

BNDES PARTICIPAÇÕES S.A. - BNDESPAR 5,856,809 0.02% 5,856,809 0.02% 

PAULISTA COMPANY OF WORKS AND SERVICES - CPOS 5,216,182 0.02% 5,216,182 0.02% 

COMPANY PAULISTA DE PLANEJ. METROPOL. S / A - EMPLASA 2,737,195 0.01% 2,737,195 0.01% 

OTHERS (Minority) 17,112 0.00% 17,112 0.00% 

TOTAL 32.174.711.914 100,00% 29.224.418.322 100,00% 

 
21.3 Adjustment of equity valuation 

 

Gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions and adjustments to fair value of 
investments in securities held for sale, but with which the Company does not have the objective to 
trade on a recurring basis in the short term, are accounted for as equity adjustment, net of the effects 
of income tax and social contribution. 

 

As of December 31, 2017, the above events amount to R$ 163,570 net of deferred income and social 
contribution taxes in the amount of R$ 55,614 (At December 31, 2016, in the amount of R$ 13,433 
and R$ 8,473, respectively). 
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22 Earnings per share 

22.1 Basic and diluted 
 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the Company's 
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. The 
Company has no outstanding common shares, such as debt convertible into common shares. Thus, 
basic and diluted earnings per share are equal. 

 
 

 
12/31/2017 

 
12/31/2016 

Profit attributable to shareholders (309,083) 
 

(213,179) 

Weighted average number of common shares in the period 32,174,712 
 

29,224,418 

Basic and diluted earnings / (loss) per share (reais per share) (0.00961)  (0.00729) 

 

 
22.2 Allocation of net income and dividends 

 
The Company's Bylaws and Dividend Policy, in line with the principles of current legislation, set a 
mandatory minimum dividend to its common shares corresponding to 25% of adjusted net income for 
the year, obtained after deductions determined by law. 

 
In 2018, the Company's Management will propose to the General Meeting of Shareholders that no 
dividends or interest on capital will be paid, since in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 the 
Company presented a loss in its financial statements. 

 

 

23 Net operating income  

  12/31/2017  12/31/2016 

  
Gross Operating Revenue 

 
2.745.078 

  
2.621.856 

 Tariff Revenue 1.856.740  1.835.042 

 Non-Tariff Revenue 248.328  188.514 

 Property development 99.008  95.900 

 Retail 53.814  38.800 

 Media and Advertising 82.748  43.000 

 Telecommunications 12.758  10.814 

 Gratuities (Reimbursement) 640.010  598.300 

 Deductions and Taxes (111.239)  (103.528) 

 Deductions and deductions (39.157)  (44.420) 

 Taxes on gross revenue (a) (72.082)  (59.108) 

 Net operating revenue 2.633.839  2.518.328 

(a) On December 31, 2017 and 2016, Includes the amount of R$ 49,058 and R$ 41,670, respectively, related 
to the Social Security Contribution on Gross Revenue - CPRB, with indefinite validity, 
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pursuant to Law 12.546 / 11, article 8, Annex I and their respective amendments. The amount of 2016 has 
been reclassified for better comparability - Note 2.4 

 

24 Costs and Expenses by Nature    

  12/31/2017  12/31/2016 

 
Cost of Services Provided 

   

 Personal (1,435,212)  (1,304,447) 

 Material (55,526)  (48,901) 

 Electric Power Traction (186,405)  (211,494) 

 General Expenses (257,402)  (260,331) 
 Depreciation and amortization (299,083)  (273,841) 

  (2,233,628)  (2,099,014) 

 General and Administrative Expenses    

Personal (456,966)  (440,659) 

Material (1,488)  (1,796) 

General Expenses (a) (251,297)  (216,808) 

Depreciation and amortization (15,649)  (13,467) 

Expenses with Collection (60,775)  (58,907) 

 (786,175)  (731,637) 

 Other Operating Income (Expenses)    

Contract Fines 24,649  38,913 

Result on Disposal of Investments 16,110  6 

Credit - ISSQN-NF 3,778  77 

Credits - CBTU Agreement 3,874  3,874 

Income from the provision of other services 6,568  14,527 

Amortization of intangible assets (4,962)  (3,710) 

Other operating expenses, net (7,604)  (1,675) 

 42,413  52,012 

 (2,977,390)  (2,778,639) 

(a) Includes expenses with allowance for doubtful accounts, insurance, materials for use and consumption, 
travel, stay, fairs and events. 
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25 Financial Result, Net    

  12/31/2017  12/31/2016 

 
Financial income 

   

 Income from financial investments 35,023  54,996 

 Interest income 3,337  5,038 

 Discounts obtained 8,616  7,355 

  46,976  67,389 

 Financial expenses    

Interest expenses (2,248)  (199) 

Actuarial interest expenses (27,814)  (14,853) 

Other financial expenses (853)  (699) 

 (30,916)  (15,751) 

 Monetary and Exchange Variations    

Monetary Variations 872  4,489 

Foreign Exchange Variations (2)  (5,539) 

 870  (1,051) 

Total financial income 47,848  71,878 

Total financial expenses (30,918)  (21,290) 

Net financial result 16,930  50,588 

 

26 Insurance Coverage 

The Metrô maintains insurance policies contracted with the main insurers in the country defined by 
bidding that take into account the nature and degree of risk involved. As of December 31, 2017, the 
Company had insurance coverage to cover possible risks of material loss due to fire, civil liability and 
miscellaneous risks for property, plant and equipment, users and buildings, at amounts considered 
sufficient by the Administration. 

 
The maximum indemnity limit for material assets is R$ 179,724, for civil liability of Directors and 
Officers (D & O), the insured amount is R$ 30,000 and for civil liability and general insurance and 
miscellaneous risks, the insured amount is R$ 127,700. 

 

27 Subsequent Events 

Concession of Lines 5 - Lilac and Line 17 - Gold of the Subway 
 

On January 19, 2018, the Government of the State of São Paulo, through STM, held an auction related 
to the bidding that granted the commercial operations of lines 5 - Lilacs and 17 - Gold for a period of 
20 years to the private sector. 

 
The consortium Via Mobility (formed by the CCR Group and Ruasinvest) won with a bid in the amount 
of R$ 553 million. The transition is expected for the second half of 2018. 

 

Metro fare increase 
 

On January 3, 2018, STM through Resolution No. 01/18 readjusted, from January 7, 2018, the basic 
tariff of the Metroferroviário System from R$ 3,80 to R$ 4,00, an increase of 5.26%. This adjustment 
also impacts on the entire tariff structure applied by the Company: Exclusive, Integrated and 
Temporary Tickets. 
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Fiscal Council Opinion 

 

Dear Shareholders, at a meeting held on March 14, 2018, the members of the Fiscal Council of the 
Companhia de Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô, in the use of their legal and statutory duties, 
examined the Management Report, the Financial Statements and the Notes thereto Explanatory 
Notes, referring to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, accompanied by the report of the 
independent auditors, Maciel Auditores S / S, without qualification, having found such documents in 
accordance with the applicable legal prescriptions, are in favor of their approval by the shareholders 
in the General Assembly. 

 
 

São Paulo, March 14, 2018. 

 
 
 
 

Amauri Gavião Almeida Marques da Silva 

 
 
 
 

Arlinton Nakazawa 

 
 
 
 

Maria Cristina Frei 

 
 
 
 

Roberto Kazushi Tamura 

 
 
 
 

Rubens Peruzin 
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Directors' Opinion and Statements on Financial Statements 

 

I hereby declare, as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company of Metropolitano de São Paulo-Metrô, 
a mixed-capital corporation headquartered in the City of São Paulo, State of São Paulo, at Rua 
Augusta, nº 1626, CEP 01304-902, enrolled with CNPJ / MF No. 62.070.362 / 0001-06, which together 
with the other members of the Company's Board of Executive Officers reviewed, discussed and agreed 
with the Company's financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. 

 
 

São Paulo, March 8, 2018. 

 
 
 
 

 
Paulo Menezes Figueiredo 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
 
 
 

José Carlos Baptista do Nascimento 
Finance Director 

 
 
 
 

Alberto Epifani 
Director of Planning and Expansion of Metropolitan Transportation 

 
 
 
 

Alfredo Falchi Neto 
Director of Corporate Affairs 

 
 
 
 

Milton Gioia Júnior 
Director of Operations 

 
 
 
 

Paulo Sérgio Amalfi Meca 
Director of Engineering and Construction 
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Opinion and Declarations of the Officers on the Independent Auditors' Report 

 

I hereby declare, as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company of Metropolitano de São Paulo-Metrô, 
a mixed-capital corporation headquartered in the City of São Paulo, State of São Paulo, at Rua 
Augusta, nº 1626, CEP 01304-902, enrolled with CNPJ / MF No. 62.070.362 / 0001-06, which together 
with the other members of the Company's Board of Executive Officers reviewed, discussed and agreed 
with the opinion expressed in the opinion of the independent auditors for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2017. 

 
 

São Paulo, March 8, 2018. 

 
 
 
 

Paulo Menezes Figueiredo 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
 
 
 

José Carlos Baptista do Nascimento 
Finance Director 

 
 
 
 

Alberto Epifani 
Director of Planning and Expansion of Metropolitan Transportation 

 
 
 
 

Alfredo Falchi Neto 
Director of Corporate Affairs 

 
 
 
 

Milton Gioia Júnior 
Director of Operations 

 
 
 
 

Paulo Sérgio Amalfi Meca 
Director of Engineering and Construction 
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Administrative Council 

President 

 

Clodoaldo Pelissioni 

 
 
 

Members: 

 
 
 

 
Alberto Goldman 

 
 
 
 

Almino Monteiro Álvares Affonso 

 
 
 
 

Ana Regina Rivas Vega 

 
 
 
 

Marcos Antônio de Albuquerque 

 
 
 
 

Paulo Menezes Figueiredo 

 
 
 
 

Ruy Martins Altenfelder Silva 
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